
  
 

 

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE/INTRODUCTIONS 

3. ROLL CALL 
4. PRESENTATION 

A. Haslett Middle School - 2022 Robotics World Competition 
B. Police Candidate Sponsorships - Danny Mora & Jacob Gonzalez 
C. Fire Candidate Sponsorship – Brandon Curling 
D. Special Tribute-Tom Haas, Flags over Meridian 
E. Okemos Public Schools New Mascot-John Hood, Superintendent 
F. Severe Weather Awareness & Safety-Protecting our Community -Fire Chief Mike Hamel 
G. 2021 Township Audit-Ali Barnes, Yeo & Yeo 

5. CITIZENS ADDRESS AGENDA ITEMS AND NON-AGENDA ITEMS 

6. TOWNSHIP MANAGER REPORT 

7. BOARD MEMBER REPORTS OF ACTIVITIES AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 
8. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

9. CONSENT AGENDA (SALMON) 

A. Communications 

B. Minutes-May 17, 2022 Regular Meeting 

C. Bills 
10. QUESTIONS FOR THE ATTORNEY 

11. HEARINGS (CANARY) 
A. Establishment of a Commercial Rehabilitation District 1655 & 1621 Haslett Road 

12. ACTION ITEMS (PINK) 
A. Establishment of a Commercial Rehabilitation District 1655 & 1621 Haslett Road 
B. Special Use Permit – 22-051 – Bickford House Okemos, 3830 and 3836 Okemos Road – Building 

> 25,000 square feet 
C. Acceptance of 2021 Audit Findings 
D. American Rescue Plan Funding-1st Round Appropriation 
E. Stimulus Inflationary Payment Program 
F. Meeting Attendance Accommodations 
G. Authorization for Police Candidate Sponsorships 
H. Resolution in Recognition of Juneteenth 
I. Resolution in Recognition of LGBTQ Pride Month 
J. Resolution to Call for Legislative Action on Gun Violence 
K. Mixed Use Planned Unit Development 22-0014 – 1621 & 1655 Haslett Road (Haslett Village 

Square) – Set public hearing for July 12th    
L. Authorization for Fire Candidate Sponsorship 

13. BOARD DISCUSSION ITEMS (ORCHID) 
A. Ordinance 2022-10 – Decks in Planned Unit Developments 
B. Fire Contract Modifications 

14. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 
15. OTHER MATTERS AND BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS  

16. CLOSED SESSION- Motion to go into a closed session for collective bargaining strategy and a 
personnel matter under MCL 15.268(1)(c).  Successful entry into closed session will require a simple 
majority approval, though we still recommend a roll call vote.  MCL 15.267(1). 

17. ADJOURNMENT 

All comments limited to 3 minutes, unless prior approval for additional time for good cause is obtained from the Supervisor. 
Appointment of Supervisor Pro Tem and/ or Temporary Clerk if necessary. Individuals with disabilities requiring auxiliary aids or 
services should contact the Meridian Township Board by contacting: Township Manager Frank L. Walsh, 5151 Marsh Road, 
Okemos, MI 48864 or 517.853.4258 - Ten Day Notice is Required. 
Meeting Location: 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, Ml 48864 Township Hall  

Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

AGENDA 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN                                  
TOWNSHIP BOARD – REGULAR MEETING 

June 7, 2022 6:00 PM 



A Path to the 
Wolves: The 

Okemos Schools 
MAscot 

John J. Hood , Superintendent



Our Historical JOurney- A Timeline
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Committee Membership

District and Student Committees
- Two committees
- Across schools and grade levels
- Alumni and community members
- Native American representation
- Extracurricular and academic focus
- Met numerous times together and separately 
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Review: Criteria: Non-Negotiables
The National Congress of American Indians (NCAI), a national governing 

body of tribal nations, formally opposes the continued use of Native themed 

mascots due to the many documented harms that such mascots cause Native 

people, in particular Native youth. The proposed mascot will not include any 

themed references to Native Americans such as:



SLIDESMANIA.COM

Review: Criteria: Non-Negotiables
The proposed mascot should not be the same as the mascot of another school 
in the Capital Area Activities Conference (CAAC). These mascots are already in 
use by other teams in the CAAC and will not be considered:

● DeWitt Panthers
● East Lansing Trojans
● Everett Vikings
● Grand Ledge Comets
● Holt Rams
● Waverly Warriors
● Eastern Quakers

● Haslett Vikings
● Mason Bulldogs
● Fowlerville Gladiators
● St Johns Redwings
● Williamston Hornets
● Charlotte Orioles
● Eaton Rapids Greyhounds

● Ionia Bulldogs
● Lansing Catholic 

Cougars
● Portland Raiders
● Sexton Big Reds

http://www.caasports.com/
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Criteria to Analyze/Consider Survey Submissions
The new mascot should:

● readily support the mission, vision and values of the Okemos Public Schools;

● represent positive qualities, ideals or associations around which all students 

connect, see themselves in, and can be proud of and rally around;

● promote an inclusive atmosphere that is broadly relevant over time across the 

Okemos community, the student body and generations of alumni;

● be representative of Okemos experience, either generally or specifically;

● work equally well for women’s and men’s activities (athletic and non-athletic); 

and

● have the potential to translate to a visual logo 

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1DhH9aguaDox8UzxW92RgR2Hr1Lw1iyYg/view?usp=sharing
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“Together…. 
Educating with 

excellence, 
inspiring each 

learner for life.”



Criteria 

Values/respects/builds relations 

with Indigenous people

-Does this option value and respect Indigenous people?
-Does this option build positive relations with Indigenous 
people?

Social-emotional impact on 

students/learning environment

-Will this option have a positive social/emotional impact 
on Indigenous students?  All students?
-Will this option have a positive impact on the learning 
environment of Indigenous students? All students?

District’s equity focus 

-Will this option promote pride for all?
-Will this option eliminate or reduce controversy?
-Can/will this option address curricular aspects of 
history and marginalized groups?

Financial impact/commitment 
(ties to academic impact)

-Will this option have a financial impact (beyond the 
current budget)?



Past Present Future

When we know better, we must do better.
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Mascot Recommendation

Mascot Choice & Rationale

Wolves Most popular choice at all levels except for 
the high school (where it placed second by 
5 votes), good “branding” opportunities like 
the “Wolf Pack” for diverse student groups, 
student excitement, promotes “together,” 
family oriented, ranked low amongst least 
favorites, non controversial



Criteria for Wolves Mascot: 

The OHS Student and District Mascot Committees will meet and review submissions looking 
for concepts submitted that reflect the following themes/ideals:
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The Road to Creating Our New Identity
- Takes time to feel connection to new identity

- Support our students, esp those crafting recommendation 

- Strategies to connect with alumni, families, community, students, staff
- Committees will brainstorm strategies together! 

- Logo process will help students and community connect, gain excitement
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CREDITS: This presentation template was created by Slidesgo, 
including icons by Flaticon, infographics & images by Freepik 

Thanks
OHS Student Committee
OPS District Committee

Nokomis Learning Center
Allison Cironi, Interim Assistant Principal OHS

Dr Lara Slee, Director DEI OPS
Okemos Community

NAHF
Fabricated Customs, Gabe Viscomi

Dr. Aaron Payment, Chairperson, Sault Ste. Marie Tribe of Chippewa Indians
Matthew Wesaw, Chairperson,  Pokagon Band of Potawatomi

Frank Ettawageshik, Executive Director, United Tribes of Michigan
Jamie Stuck, Chairperson, Huron Band of Potawatomi

Melissa Kiesewetter, Native American Specialist, Michigan Department of Civil Rights

https://slidesgo.com/
https://www.flaticon.com/
https://www.freepik.com/
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SEVERE THUNDERSTORMS
• DO YOU KNOW THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN A NATIONAL WEATHER SERVICE SEVERE THUNDERSTORM WATCH 

AND A SEVERE THUNDERSTORM WARNING? 

• SEVERE THUNDERSTORM WATCH: 

• BE PREPARED!

• SEVERE THUNDERSTORMS ARE POSSIBLE IN A DESIGNATED WATCH AREA

• STAY INFORMED

• SEVERE THUNDERSTORM WARNING: 

• TAKE ACTION! 

• REPORTED BY RADAR AND/OR SPOTTERS

• INDICATES IMMINENT DANGER OF LIFE AND PROPERTY 

• TAKE SHELTER

• ENCOMPASSES A MUCH SMALLER GEOGRAPHIC AREA

• LARGE HAIL AND DAMAGING WINDS



WEATHER-READY

• STAY INFORMED ABOUT SEVERE THUNDERSTORM WATCHES AND WARNINGS

• CHECK FORECAST REGULARLY

• LISTEN TO LOCAL NEWS

• NOAA WEATHER RADIO

• SIGN UP FOR NOTIFICATIONS

• HTTPS://WWW.MERIDIAN.MI.US/ABOUT-US/DEPARTMENTS/POLICE/SERVICES-DIVISION

• CAPITAL AREA INGHAM COUNTY ALERTS

• HTTPS://911.INGHAM.ORG/HEALTH_AND_SAFETY/911/EVERBRIDGE_ALERTS_AND_SMART911.PHP

https://www.meridian.mi.us/about-us/departments/police/services-division
https://911.ingham.org/health_and_safety/911/everbridge_alerts_and_smart911.php


EMERGENCY SIRENS

• MERIDIAN TWP. SIREN PROJECT

• MULTI-YEAR PROJECT 

• DESIGNED TO PROTECT MERIDIAN TWP. DURING EMERGENCIES

• DESIGNATED LOCATIONS FOR OVERLAPPING PROTECTION

• TEN SIRENS INSTALLED; FIVE SIRENS REMAIN

• PROJECT TO BE COMPLETED BY 2026



HOW THEY ARE ACTIVATED

• TESTING BY 911 CENTER

• FIRST SATURDAY OF EACH MONTH – LOUD TEST

• ALL OTHER SATURDAYS – SILENT TEST

• SIREN ACTIVATION IN INGHAM COUNTY

• SET OFF BY 911 CENTER

• SECONDARY SITES (LANSING AND INGHAM COUNTY EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT)

• REQUESTED ACTIVATION BY ANY FIRST RESPONDER



QUESTIONS?
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CONSENT AGENDA  
BOARD 

COMMUNICATION 
June 7, 2022 



 
 

The community of Meridian Township is in close proximity to the Michigan State Capitol and Michigan State University. The Township 
serves the community through exceptional services, beneficial amenities and an outstanding quality of life. It is a welcoming community 
that celebrates quality education, recreation and lifestyles. 
 

  

 
FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 

May 16, 2022 
 

                                      CONTACT: Deborah Guthrie, Township Clerk 
517.853.4324 | guthrie@meridian.mi.us  

 

Meridian Township Voters Will Soon Receive New Voter ID Cards 
Precinct Boundary and Polling Location Changes to Take Effect in 2022 

 
Meridian Township, MI – Due to state redistricting, county reapportionment, precinct boundary and 

polling location changes, all registered voters in Meridian Township will receive a new voter 

identification card indicating any changes. 

Meridian Township’s 11% growth has resulted in the state reapportioning an additional state 

representative and two more county commissioners reapportioned by the County Reapportionment 

Commission. It also has resulted in precinct splits within the Township. On April 2, the Meridian 

Township Election Commission approved new precinct boundary lines to lessen voter confusion and 

eliminate split precincts. 

Once the State of Michigan Bureau of Elections (BOE) has completed all changes in the Qualified Voter 

File (QVF) and the Township Clerk’s Office has verified all changes, these cards will be mailed to all 

qualified, registered voters. 

Residents may receive a voter ID card for someone that was at one time registered to vote at an 

address, but no longer resides at that address. The most common reason this happens is because 

voters have moved and did not change their address on their driver’s license or they have relocated 

out of state and did not inform the Michigan Secretary of State’s Office or the Meridian Township 

Clerk’s Office.  

Voters can check their voter registration status, absentee voter information and more on the State of 
Michigan’s Voter Information website at www.michigan.gov/Vote.  
 
Additional election information can be found on the Township website at 
www.meridian.mi.us/Elections. For specific local election questions, contact the Meridian Township 
Clerk Deborah Guthrie at clerksoffice@meridian.mi.us or 517.853.4300. 
 

### 

mailto:guthrie@meridian.mi.us
http://www.michigan.gov/Vote
http://www.meridian.mi.us/Elections
mailto:clerksoffice@meridian.mi.us


 
 

The community of Meridian Township is in close proximity to the Michigan State Capitol and Michigan State University. The Township 
serves the community through exceptional services, beneficial amenities and an outstanding quality of life. It is a welcoming community 
that celebrates quality education, recreation and lifestyles. 
 

  

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 
May 16, 2022 

 
CONTACT: Kati Adams, Harris Nature Center Coordinator 

517.349.3866 | kadams@meridian.mi.us  
 

Music in Nature Returns to Harris Nature Center 
  Music Groups to Perform at the New Pavilion 

 
Meridian Township, MI – The 2022 Music in Nature concert series kicks off at the Harris Nature Center 

(3998 Van Atta Road, Okemos) in June. Four music groups will perform LIVE at the Center’s new 

pavilion, while visitors have the choice to listen concert-style, while walking the trails, during a picnic or 

freely moving around the park. 

2022 Concert Schedule: 
 Sunday, June 12 - 3:00 pm to 5:00 pm - Featuring: New Horizons Orchestra 
 Sunday, July 24 - 3:00 pm to 5:00 pm - Featuring: Punch Drunk Band 
 Sunday, August 7 - 3:00 pm to 5:00 pm - Featuring: Renaissance Singers of Greater Lansing 
 Sunday, August 21 - 3:00 pm to 5:00 pm - Featuring: Pretty Shaky String Band 

 
“The Harris Nature Center Foundation is continuing their tradition of sponsoring Music in Nature 
and this year we are hosting four different dates,” stated Harris Nature Center Coordinator Kati 
Adams. “The interest grows each year, so we are moving the musicians inside the new pavilion while 
visitors will be able to spread out and enjoy the music from the brick patio or the open area 
surrounding the pavilion, as well as along the trails.”   
 
Community members are encouraged to bring their own chairs to the concerts. 
 
These events are sponsored by the Harris Nature Center Foundation and are free to the public. For more 
information about the programs offered at the Harris Nature Center, visit www.meridian.mi.us/HNC or 
contact the Center by email, hnc@meridian.mi.us or phone, 517.349.3866. 
 

### 
 

http://www.meridian.mi.us/HNC
mailto:hnc@meridian.mi.us


 
 

The community of Meridian Township is in close proximity to the Michigan State Capitol and Michigan State University. The Township 
serves the community through exceptional services, beneficial amenities and an outstanding quality of life. It is a welcoming community 
that celebrates quality education, recreation and lifestyles. 

  

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 
May 17, 2022 

 
CONTACT: LuAnn Maisner, Parks and Recreation Director 

517.853.4604 | maisner@meridian.mi.us  

 

Meridian Parks & Recreation Announces Summer Concert Series 
Local Bands to Perform at Marketplace on the Green 

 
Meridian Township, MI – The Meridian Township Parks and Recreation Department is pleased to 
announce their musical lineup for the FREE Summer Concert Series at the Marketplace on the Green 
pavilion (1995 Central Park Drive, Okemos).  
 
The Summer Concert Series will kick off on Wednesday, June 1 at 6:00 pm with a performance by the 
Sea Cruisers. LIVE bands will perform from 6:00 pm – 8:30 pm throughout the summer months in 
conjunction with the Wednesday Farmers’ Market. 
 
Performance Lineup: 

 June 1 – Sea Cruisers – 50’s, 60’s & 70’s 

 June 8 – School of Rock Adult Band – Southern Rock, Arena Rock & 90’s 

 June 15 – Meridian Community Band – American Town Band Tradition  

 June 22 – Oxymorons – Nostalgic Folk Rock 

 June 29 – Showdown – 70’s, 80’s & 90’s Classic Rock 

 July 6 – Atomic Annie –  70’s Rock, 80’s MTV Classics, 90’s Alternative & Modern Rock/Pop Hits 

 July 13 – Steve Spees – Jazz Blues, Easy Listening, Country, Classic Rock & Reggae 

 July 20 – Garage Sale Band – Danceable Covers 

 July 27 – The Black Barn Band – 70’s to Today’s Hits 

 August 3 – School of Rock House Band – 70’s to Today’s Hits 

 August 10 – Shiatown – Today’s Hard Hitting-Modern Country Hits 

 August 17 – Slick Jimmy – 80’s Pop, Rock, Top 40, Dance, BIG HAIR, 70’s & Country 

 August 24 – Jay Harris Comedy – Comedy Night! 

 August 31 – Darin Larner, Jr. Band – Classic & Modern Rock, Blues, Jazz Motown, Dance, 

Country, Alternative & 90’s  

 
The Summer Concert Series is sponsored by Embassy Transportation LLC, Fahey Schultz Burzych 
Rhodes PLC, Midwest Power Equipment and Orthopaedic Rehab Specialists. The event stage at the 
Marketplace on the Green pavilion is sponsored by Delta Dental of Michigan.  
 
For more information, visit the Meridian Township website at www.meridian.mi.us/Calendar or 
www.meridian.mi.us/FarmersMarket. For questions, contact the Meridian Township Parks and 
Recreation Department at 517.853.4600 or parks@meridian.mi.us.  

 
### 

 

mailto:maisner@meridian.mi.us
http://www.meridian.mi.us/Calendar
http://www.meridian.mi.us/FarmersMarket
mailto:parks@meridian.mi.us


 
 

The community of Meridian Township is in close proximity to the Michigan State Capitol and Michigan State University. The Township serves 
the community through exceptional services, beneficial amenities and an outstanding quality of life. It is a welcoming community that 
celebrates quality education, recreation and lifestyles. 

  

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 
May 17, 2022 

 
CONTACT: Amber Clark, Neighborhoods & 

Economic Development Director 
517.853.4568 | clark@meridian.mi.us  

 

Meridian Township Announces 2nd Annual Freedom Fest Honoring Juneteenth  
Multi-event Celebration Geared to Engage and Educate the Community  

 
Meridian Township, MI – A multi-event celebration has been planned to honor Juneteenth in Meridian 
Township. During the week of June 13-June 19, community members are encouraged to participate in one or 
all of the events to help bring awareness to the historical day.  
 
June 19, 1865 marked the moment when the last of America's enslaved population learned of their freedom 
two and a half years after they were legally emancipated. Juneteenth honors the end to slavery in the United 
States and is considered the longest-running African American holiday. 
 
In 2021, Township officials held a Meridian Business Freedom Fest for an inaugural Juneteenth Community 
Celebration. This year, activities have been expanded to focus on education and engagement. Events were 
planned by the Juneteenth for Meridian Committee, a volunteer group of community members that desire to 
host Juneteenth and other cultural events throughout Meridian Township. The 2022 Juneteenth events will 
include the following:  
 

Storybook Reading  
On, Monday, June 13 the Meridian Freedom Fest will kick off with a video release of Township 
Supervisor Patricia Herring Jackson reading the children’s book "Juneteenth - Celebrating Freedom". 
The book was written by Ingham County resident, Julian Van Dyke, who is a celebrated author and 
novelist. The video recording of the reading will be shared on the Meridian Township website at 
www.meridian.mi.us/Juneteenth and the Township’s social media platforms.  
 
Free Movie Screening  

 Saturday, June 18 at 10:00 am 
 Studio C! (1999 Central Park Drive) 

 
Attend a free community movie screening of the film “Akeelah and the Bee” that tells a story of Black 
excellence and perseverance. Discounted popcorn and beverages will be available.   
 
Community Forum Discussion 

 Saturday, June 18 at 2:00 pm  
 Town Hall Room of the Meridian Municipal Building (5151 Marsh Road) 

 
The community is invited to gather for food and conversation hosted by Diversity, Equity & Inclusion 
(DEI) and Black Student Union (BSU) groups from both Haslett and Okemos Public Schools. Topics of 
discussion will be led by forum attendees; however, the Township’s Juneteenth Committee hopes for 
active engagement of the participating audience. Join the community to discuss cultural issues and 
hear of Black experiences in Meridian Township. The forum will be recorded and streamed live on 
HOMTV - Comcast Channel 21, www.homtv.net, YouTube and shared on HOMTV’s social media 
platforms.  

<MORE> 
 

mailto:clark@meridian.mi.us
http://www.meridian.mi.us/Juneteenth
http://www.homtv.net/


 
 

The community of Meridian Township is in close proximity to the Michigan State Capitol and Michigan State University. The Township serves 
the community through exceptional services, beneficial amenities and an outstanding quality of life. It is a welcoming community that 
celebrates quality education, recreation and lifestyles. 

  

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 
May 17, 2022 

 
CONTACT: Amber Clark, Neighborhoods & 

Economic Development Director 
517.853.4568 | clark@meridian.mi.us  

 

A Spiritual Historical Review 
 Sunday, June 19 at 1:00 pm 
 Meridian Historical Village Chapel (5151 Marsh Road) 

 
Hear from Pastor Marvin Williams of Trinity Church of Lansing, a Haslett resident teaching the 
community at large how spirituality led to the construction of modern Black excellence. Pastor 
Williams may also give an overview of how spirituality has been used as a mechanism to divide the 
community. In support of the traditional "Sunday Service" and recognizing the diverse faiths of the 
community, the intent of this historical review is to demonstrate how tradition can work to advantage 
of a community to support its advancement. In traditional Black faith, members show up to participate 
in their faith practice well dressed. Hats, gloves and the best clothing attire is synonymous with the 
Black community.  Attendees are invited to wear their "Sunday Best" clothes, with gloves, shoes and 
hats that give a nod to Black culture with respect to religion and how you should present yourself in 
a reverent space.  

 
The 2022 Juneteenth events have been generously supported by sponsors; Studio C! and the Meridian 
Township Economic Development Corporation (EDC). For sponsorship opportunities, contact the Township’s 
Neighborhoods & Economic Development Director Amber Clark at clark@meridian.mi.us or 517.853.4568. 
 
Township offices will also be closed a half day beginning at noon on Monday, June 20 in recognition of the 
Juneteenth Federal and State holiday. For additional information, visit the Township website at 
www.meridian.mi.us/Juneteenth.  
 

### 
 

mailto:clark@meridian.mi.us
mailto:clark@meridian.mi.us
http://www.meridian.mi.us/Juneteenth


1

Zack Lemaster

From: Carolyn Sebestyen
Sent: Sunday, May 22, 2022 10:13 PM
To: Board
Cc: board@okemosk12.net
Subject: Okemos School Bond Proposal

The current bond proposal as written includes moving Cornell Elementary from its present location to a new 
location on Powell Road. Goal 600 plus students, plus staff. 
Many in the school community were shocked at the lack of information and input before this was announced. 

1. Should this be passed there will be a significant burden on the Township to provide sidewalks, lighting,
traffic lights and controls, water, sewer, street paving (expansion).
2.Building on this site will destroy a wet land. 90% children will need to be bused as no longer walkable and no
safe way for children to cross Grand River. Noise and pollution.
3. Undeveloped properties on Grand River in proximity to Powell are all zoned commercial. Will township
guarantee any businesses won’t pose safety issues for students?
4. School’s general fund can not afford the additional costs of staff, buses, drivers, property maintenance will
have to seek property tax increase at a time when values in Cornell Woods The Shoals, Forest Hills will go
down because lack of walkable elementary school snd indecisions about how current Cornell will be used.

This is a nightmare in the making and Township needs to be proactive in getting in front of these potential 
issues. School should understand Township’s willingness and abilities to remedy the problems school district is 
creating. 
Thank you  
Carolyn Sebestyen 

--  
CMS 
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Zack Lemaster

From: Emily Katz 
Sent: Sunday, May 22, 2022 8:31 PM
To: Board
Subject: Okemos Public Schools Bond
Attachments: Letter to OPS--Katz.pdf

Dear Meridian Township Board Members, 

Please read the attached letter I sent to Okemos Public Schools Superintendent John Hood and the board of education. The 
board is voting tomorrow night (Monday May 23rd) about whether to include in their November bond moving our 
neighborhood school (Cornell Elementary) to a new development. You have likely already heard from some others in our 
community who are appalled at the way this has been handled. We think it is important that our other elected officials be 
informed about what is happening. Thank you very much for your work and your attention. 

Best, 

Dr. Emily Katz 
Resident of Okemos, MI 
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Zack Lemaster

From: Marisa DeGroff 
Sent: Sunday, May 22, 2022 10:35 PM
To: board@okemosk12.net; juliebrixie@house.mi.gov; Board
Subject: 2022 OPS bond

Dear Board Members, 

I would like to thank you for your efforts representing our community on the 2022 bond proposal.  You have a 
difficult task ahead and I don’t envy your position. 

I have written previously with concerns regarding the lack of transparency throughout this process, the 
environmental concerns of clearing an undeveloped piece of land when alternatives exist within neighborhoods, 
and the inequity of moving a school from within a walkable neighborhood.  Today I am writing to inform you 
that I will vote “no” on any bond that includes moving Cornell from its current location.  I urge you to take a 
step back and consider beginning again, creating a master plan first and working towards that vision.  The “no 
raise” bond can be accomplished up until November 2023, adequate time to get community input.   

Passing a bond that moves Cornell to Powell will alienate a large section of the OPS community.  You will be 
putting the bond at risk and possibly damaging the future good will of Okemos voters. 

Sincerely, 

Marisa DeGroff 
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Zack Lemaster

From: Marisa DeGroff 
Sent: Sunday, May 22, 2022 10:40 PM
To: mpolsdofer@ingham.org; Board; juliebrixie@house.mi.gov
Subject: Fw: School Bond Proposal

Dear Board Members, 

Thank you for your tireless work.  I appreciate the efforts you are making to help improve the Okemos Public School 
System for our children. 

I am writing today with concerns I have regarding the current bond proposal.  While I appreciate that efforts have been 
made recently to address public concerns, I am still concerned at the lack of community input.  A survey went out to 
parents of students currently enrolled in Cornell.  I was told that it was instructed to "share" with other members of the 
community.  Why not send the survey out to all parents with students in the OPS system?  I have 4 kids enrolled in OPS, 
including a soon to be Kindergarten student at Cornell, live in a nearby neighborhood, and did not receive the 
survey.  Again I had to find out about this survey on social media.  I also have concerns over the way in which this 
survey was written, which lends itself to inherent bias towards choosing the Powell Road site. 

I was very disappointed following the most recent Q & A when it was implied that discussing the equity of moving Cornell 
from its current neighborhood to an undeveloped site across Grand River isn't necessary because a house just sold in 
Cornell woods for $500K and the developers on Powell are building houses that start in the $500K's.  That comment 
completely disregards all of the renters in Meridian Meadows and nearby apartments, who currently have a safe and 
paved walkway to Cornell.  It also disregards all of the houses in the older section of the Shoals, Forest Hills, and up 
Hatch Road. 

I was equally disappointed when it was suggested that if we asked the families of Wardcliff and Edgewood, OPS gave up 
on neighborhood schools a long time ago.  While it is true that there have been moves towards larger scale schools, it 
wasn't due to a community consensus and those neighborhoods still feel the sting of their schools closing.  We have a 
chance to do something different this time.  We have a viable choice to keep Cornell in its neighborhood. 

I recently spoke with a friend who lives in East Lansing about the rebuilding of their elementary schools.  I found out that 
the reason East Lansing has small neighborhood elementary schools is because the community rallied around them.  In 
2012 Red Cedar Elementary was closed and an ELPS bond was voted down that would have rebuilt the remaining 5 
schools.  It took until 2017 for ELPS to pass a bond after it was reworked to include the reopening of Red Cedar and the 
rebuilding of all 6 neighborhood elementary schools.  Is it a sound bet to risk the good will of Okemos voters, who 
generally approve school bonds without blinking?  My retired neighbors found out about the proposal and said that they 
would never vote "yes" on another school bond again if the closure of Cornell at its current location passes.  In East 
Lansing, voters did not choose a cheaper bond, they chose community.  I would like the chance to do the same.  Please 
take the time to hear the voices of ALL Okemos voters.   

Thank you for your time and consideration, 

Marisa DeGroff 
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Zack Lemaster

From: Candace Boldrey 
Sent: Monday, May 23, 2022 7:25 AM
To: board@okemosk12.net
Cc: Board; JulieBrixie@house.mi.gov
Subject: Fwd: Potential move of Cornell Elementary School

As a Meridian Township resident, living on Cornell Road in the Shoals, I urge the Okemos School board to rebuild 
Cornell Elementary school in the same location.  

While building on Powell Road may seem like a quick fix and allow the Cornell district students to move into a new 
building sooner, the residents and students will have to live with the results of such a decision for years. According to 
your own survey, slightly over 70% of Cornell families live south of Grand River and can walk to the current location.  
That means they would have to be bused to the Powell Road location for years.  
 
In addition, the property values of all homes located in walking distance of the current location would no doubt fall. 
Housing studies consistently show that high performing neighborhood schools add significant value to the surrounding 
neighborhoods. Closing those same schools negatively impact housing prices. This means that those of us living in the 
current neighborhoods surrounding Cornell Elementary school can anticipate that we will be paying for the closure of 
Cornell Elementary not only through this bond proposal tax renewal but also in lower resale value for our homes. 

> For these two reasons and several more, I urge the Okemos Board of Education to keep the new Cornell school in its 
current location.

Sincerely, Candace Boldrey
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Zack Lemaster

From: Daniel Peabody 
Sent: Monday, May 23, 2022 7:35 PM
To: John Hood; board@okemosk12.net; Board
Subject: OPS Enrollment Figures vs. Projections of Population Increase in OPS Schools

A main driver in reubuilding and renovating schools is the projected increase in enrollment. Based on my 
review of the enrollment data available, the projections completed need to be reviewed. First, the simple linear 
regression that was done to project growth is not robust or representative. It is not a growth model. A geospatial 
statistical analysis should be completed to evaluate and project growth, like what you see here:  
https://www.flo-analytics.com/student-enrollment-forecasting/ . Next, the growth that was projected to occur in 
2017/2018 has not happened and enrollment at OPS is similar to historic enrollment levels. It was this projected 
growth that was supposed to lead to additional capacity needs. 

The long range planning documents, https://www.okemosk12.net/domain/3005 , should be reviewed. 
Specifically, justitication should be given for the change in FCI at OPS properties (e.g. Cornell and Central) 



2



3



4



5



6

 Thanks, 

Daniel Peabody 
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Zack Lemaster

From: Greg Gavrilides 
Sent: Monday, May 23, 2022 11:06 AM
To: Township Board
Cc: hometv@meridian.mi.us
Subject: Message to Meridian Township Board Members and Park Commissioners

Dear Meridian Township Elected Officials, 

On behalf of the Executive Board of the Meridian Township Democratic Club (MDC), I 
am reaching out to you all with this message.  We want to invite you to become 
engaged with the MDC.  We warmly encourage you to participate in our meetings and 
fundraisers; your participation will be recognized and very welcomed. 

We meet at Henry’s Place in the Target/Kroger Plaza on the 4th Wednesday of most 
months, 6:00pm social time, 6:30 meeting.  We regularly have speakers relevant to the 
interests of local Democrats, as well as opportunities for Democratic candidates to 
speak during election years (our upcoming May and June “meet the candidates” 
meetings are examples).  We do understand you are busy with your service and your 
own lives and families, and we also know the meeting time may conflict with other 
meetings.  We hope you can fit at least some of our meetings into your scheduling. 

Our Club has a fundamental purpose: supporting and facilitating the election and 
retention of Democratic elected officials in Meridian Township.  Given that, it is of great 
meaning and value to our members to be able to see and hear from you.   

We look forward to your participation and are eager to have you with us.  We are 
thankful and grateful for your excellent service to Meridian Township and it is our honor 
to support you. 

In unity, and with sincere regards, 

Dr. Greg, Chair 

Meridian Dems 
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Executive Board   

Susan Anderson 

Chris Andrews 

Linda Burghardt 

Phil Deschaine  

Greg Gavrilides (Chair) 

Kathy McCurdy 

Larry McCurdy 

Winifred Motherwell (Vice-Chair) 

Quenda Story (Secretary) 

Gordy Tuthill 

Judy Tuthill (Treasurer) 



 
 

The community of Meridian Township is in close proximity to the Michigan State Capitol and Michigan State University. The Township 
serves the community through exceptional services, beneficial amenities and an outstanding quality of life. It is a welcoming community 
that celebrates quality education, recreation and lifestyles. 

  

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 
May 23, 2022 

 
CONTACT: Deborah Guthrie, Township Clerk 

517.853.4324 | guthrie@meridian.mi.us 

 

Meridian Township Celebrates Memorial Day 

Special Service to Honor Those Who Served 

 

Meridian Township, MI – Meridian Township carries on the tradition of honoring and paying 
respect to those who have served in the military. A Memorial Day Service will be held on Monday, 
May 30 at 11:00 am at the Glendale Cemetery. 
 
During the ceremony, the Meridian Community Band will be providing musical tribute selections, 
Scouts BSA Troop 164G, 125 and 141 will lead the Color Guard and a special presentation will be 
provided by Vietnam Veteran Ron Springer.  
 
WHAT:  Meridian Township Memorial Day Service  

   

WHEN:  Memorial Day – Monday, May 30, 2022 at 11:00 am 

 

WHERE:  Glendale Cemetery, 2500 Mt. Hope Road, Okemos 

 

WHO:   Open to the public  

   
“We seem to go about our busy lives trying to fit as many things as possible into the day. We have 

loved ones to care for, homes to manage, work to attend to, but we must never forget those who 

have served,” stated Meridian Township Clerk Deborah Guthrie. “We must take the time to 

appreciate the freedom we have in our daily lives. That freedom comes with a price, and we must 

remember to honor those who have died in the military, fighting for our freedom.” 

For additional information about the event, visit the Meridian Township website at 
www.meridian.mi.us or contact the Meridian Township Clerk’s Office at 517.853.4300. For a full 
listing of other Township events, visit www.meridian.mi.us/Calendar.  
 

### 

 

mailto:guthrie@meridian.mi.us
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Zack Lemaster

From: Mollaoglu, Sinem 
Sent: Monday, May 23, 2022 4:54 PM
To: Board
Subject: Sending you my concerns > Fw: [External Email] feedback on the bond proposal and 

survey

Dear Board Members: 

I had sent the email below last week to the Okemos schools board relating to the Cornell Elementary bond 
proposal. 

I also wanted to alert you about my concerns of: 

 Daniels Drain Project and all other road improvement costs being not taken into account as costs
incurred for Cornell Woods neighborhood infrastructure improvements in the upcoming bond
proposal.

 
 Carbon footprint not being considered when planning for construction ‐ the amount of new

development and added transportation needs a new construction project will bring in‐ in comparison
to reusing existing resources.

 
o Please just think about the green space lost only during the reconstruction of the Daniels Drain

Project.  We cannot keep developing at the cost of our natural resources when we have not
exhausted all options to renovate and reuse. The changing climate and more frequent floodings
all point to the need to stop redeveloping new land for no legitimate reason.

o 

o We still have spaces and buildings in Okemos that need infrastructure improvements and
renovations. That need to be revitalized so they do not continue to be blighted.

o 

o All variables considered, we cannot keep building and expanding‐ especially when we have
alternatives at hand.

 
 The lack of transparency during this whole process.  
 

Finally, I have lived in the Cornell Woods neighborhood for almost 15 years. Cornell Elementary was the 
reason I moved here. This past summer, when I filed for divorce and fought to keep my home; endured a flood 
with major damage and no local, state, or federal aides; and on‐top, got billed my share of the Daniels Drain 
improvement project; I still chose to stay in this neighborhood; yet again, for and because of Cornell 
Elementary. ..To hear that the school is set to move?! less than two weeks of final school board meeting? 
When I have a child in Cornell Elementary?! 

For those, like myself, that chose to make Michigan and Okemos a home after immigrating from another 
country ‐ despite many other competitive options, ‐ my neighborhood is more than what it might be to some 
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others. It is my CHOSEN home. It is where I invested in, where I chose to raise my family, where I decided to 
grow roots in. Cornell Elementary is at the heart of what makes my neighborhood the community it is. 

I am whole‐heartedly against Cornell Elementary's removal from my neighborhood, especially when done 
through a non‐transparent and not well‐thought‐out plan considering all variables (social and environmental 
impacts in addition to the first and life cycle cost/ capacity variables ‐ which unfortunately also seem 
underdeveloped). 

Sincerely, 

Sinem 

_______ 

Sinem Mollaoglu, PhD, LEED AP, CGP 
Professor and Program Director of Construction Management 
School of Planning, Design, and Construction 
Michigan State University 

From: Board Education <board@okemosk12.net> 
Sent: Wednesday, May 18, 2022 2:51 PM 
To: Mollaoglu, Sinem 

Subject: Re: [External Email] feedback on the bond proposal and survey  

Thank you for your correspondence. All board members have 
received a copy and it will be publicly acknowledged during the 
May 23rd board meeting.  

On Wed, May 18, 2022 at 10:12 AM Mollaoglu, Sinem wrote: 
Dear Board Members: 

I have received and filled out your most recent survey on Cornell Elementary Bond Proposal. Thank you for 
putting it together.  

Here are a couple concerns I would like to voice / questions I'd like to pose at this time: 
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 The following are not addressed in the proposal package and need to be included in the possible
scenarios/ evaluation:

o The cost of expanding/renovating Cornell using the available site adjacent to the playground
(open field there has limited use as is).

o The cost of reopening/ renovating existing buildings in Okemos (Edgewood and Waldorf) to
reduce the capacity need in Cornell.

o The combined cost of the above two options.
o The cost of demolition or repurposing Cornell site in case of move to the Powell site.
o 

 I appreciate the survey sent out by the board and the information package provided.
o I found the board's survey to be somewhat biased and limited in terms of the possible choices

the community could provide and/ or comments could be provided.
o The survey administered by the Cornell residents was less concerning from these aspects.
o 

 In‐person modality of meetings (as opposed to zoom sessions) unfortunately reduced access and
inclusion to the board meetings at this very important time.

o Childcare at after‐hours continues to be an issue for many of the families in the district and it is
not realistic to seek community reflections and inclusion when the needs of the community
are not prioritized to maximize that.

o 

 Transparency continues to be an issue in this process due to the concerns relating to the survey and
meeting modality as mentioned above.

 
 Disregard for all the infrastructure improvements put in place and continue to be a financial concern to

Cornell neighborhood residents.
o The recent road and stormwater management related infrastructure costs are not considered

at all in the schools proposal. These are investments and public/ resident money spent on the
Cornell neighborhood.

 Thank you in advance for your consideration.  

SM 
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Zack Lemaster

From: PressDesk
Sent: Wednesday, June 1, 2022 3:50 PM
To: PressDesk
Subject: Get Your Hook Into Fishing in Meridian Township Press Release
Attachments: Get Your Hook Into Fishing in Meridian Township Press Release.pdf

FOR	IMMEDIATE	RELEASE
June	1,	2022

CONTACT:	Emma	Campbell,	Land	Stewardship	Coordinator
517.853.4614|	ecampbell@meridian.mi.us

	
	

Get	Your	Hook	Into	Fishing	in	Meridian	Township	
Young	Residents	Participate	in	Annual	Fishing	Derby	

	
Meridian	Township,	MI	–	The	Meridian	Township	Parks	and	Recreation	Department	will	host	the	annual	Meridian
Fishing	Derby	on	Sunday,	June	12	from	9:00	am	to	12:00	pm	at	the	Meridian	Historical	Village	Pond,	5151	Marsh	
Road,	Okemos.	
	
This	event	is	free	and	open	to	all	ages.	Activities	include	“learn	to	cast”	demonstrations,	family	friendly	games	and,
of	course,	fishing.	The	Meridian	Historical	Village	buildings	will	also	be	open	for	tours	during	the	event.		
	
Participants	are	asked	to	bring	their	own	fishing	equipment,	but	a	limited	supply	of	fishing	poles,	tackle	and	bait	will
be	available	to	borrow	at	the	event.	Volunteers	will	be	on	site	to	help	bait	hooks	and	measure	fish	caught.		
	
Although	a	license	is	not	required,	a	$2	volunteer	license	is	encouraged,	which	brings	back	money	to	Michigan	from
the	Wallop	 Breaux	Act.	 Information	 on	 how	 to	 purchase	 a	 license	 can	 be	 found	 on	 the	Department	 of	Natural	
Resources	(DNR)	website.	
	
For	more	information,	contact	the	Meridian	Township	Parks	and	Recreation	Department	at	517.853.4600	or	email
parks@meridian.mi.us.		
	

###	
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Zack Lemaster

From: PressDesk
Sent: Wednesday, June 1, 2022 3:45 PM
To: PressDesk
Subject: Meridian Township Welcomes New Finance Director Press Release
Attachments: Meridian Township Welcomes New Finance Director Press Release.pdf

FOR	IMMEDIATE	RELEASE
June	1,	2022

CONTACT:	Frank	L.	Walsh,	Township	Manager
517.853.4254|	walsh@meridian.mi.us

	
	

Meridian	Township	Welcomes	New	Finance	Director	
CPA	Selected	to	Lead	the	Finance	Office	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
Meridian	Township,	MI	 –	On	April	 25,	 Township	Manager	 Frank	 L.	Walsh	 announced	 the	 selection	 of	Meridian
Township’s	new	Finance	Director	Amanda	Garber.		
	
“We	are	thrilled	to	welcome	Amanda	to	our	Meridian	team.	She	brings	with	her	10	years’	experience	as	a	CPA	and	
finance	director.	It’s	been	quite	some	time	since	Meridian	Township	has	employed	a	CPA	in	our	finance	office,”	stated
Township	Manager	Frank	L.	Walsh.	“Amanda	will	serve	a	vital	role	overseeing	our	$54M	annual	budget.”	
	
Amanda	 graduated	 from	Michigan	 State	University	with	 a	 bachelor’s	 and	 a	master’s	 degree	 in	 accounting.	 She
obtained	 her	 Certified	 Public	 Accountant	 (CPA)	 license	 shortly	 after	 graduation.	 Amanda	 worked	 for	 a	 local
accounting	firm	in	East	Lansing	as	a	governmental/non‐profit	auditor	and	then	transitioned	into	government	finance
as	the	Administrative	Director	for	the	City	of	Chelsea.	As	Administrative	Director,	she	served	as	the	Finance	Director
and	Treasurer	for	the	City.		She	was	responsible	for	all	city	finance	and	administrative	tasks,	budget	preparation,
annual	financial	audit,	month‐end	and	year‐end	financial	close	and	treasury	functions.	
	
“I	am	excited	to	join	the	Meridian	Township	team	and	continue	my	career	in	an	area	that	feels	like	home,”	stated	
Finance	 Director	 Amanda	 Garber.	 “Everyone	 has	 been	 so	 welcoming	 and	 I	 look	 forward	 to	 working	 in	 this
outstanding	community.”	
	
Amanda	began	her	role	as	Meridian	Township’s	new	Finance	Director	on	May	16.		
	

###	
	



9.B

CONSENT AGENDA 
PROPOSED BOARD MINUTES

June 7th, 2022 

PROPOSED MOTION: 

(1) Move to approve and ratify the minutes of the Regular Meeting
of May 17, 2022, as submitted.

ALTERNATE MOTION: 

(1) Move to approve and ratify the minutes of the Regular Meeting
of May 17, 2022 with the following 

amendment(s):[insert amendments]
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CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 
REGULAR MEETING TOWNSHIP BOARD 2022   -DRAFT- 
5151 Marsh Road, Okemos MI 48864-1198 
853-4000, Township Hall Room  
TUESDAY, May 17th, 2022 6:00 pm 
 
PRESENT: Supervisor Jackson, Clerk Guthrie, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustees Hendrickson, 

Sundland, Wilson, Wisinski 
 
ABSENT:  
 
STAFF: Township Manager Walsh, Assistant Township Manager and Director of Public 

Works Opsommer, Chief of Police Plaga, Fire Chief Hamal, Community Planning and 
Development Director Schmitt, Director of Economic Development Clark, IT Director 
Gebes, Finance Director Garber, Parks and Recreation Director Maisner, Clerk’s 
Assistant Zachary Lemaster, Multimedia Staff Samantha Diehl 

 
1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 

 
Supervisor Jackson called the meeting to order at 6:00 pm. 

 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE/INTRODUCTIONS 

 
Supervisor Jackson led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 

3. ROLLCALL 
 
Clerk’s Assistant Lemaster called the roll of the Board. All Present. 

 
4. PRESENTATION 

A. Introduction of New Police Officers 
 
Chief Plaga introduced two new police officers Isabella Acker and Jack Akers to the board. 
 
Officers Acker and Akers introduced themselves and thanked the board.  
 

B. Brightline Technologies 
 
Director Gebes introduced Joel Kolodsick and James Cabalam from Brightline technologies. 
 
Mr. Kolodsick gave a presentation on their assessment of the townships Information and 
Technology system. 
 
Treasurer Deschaine asked if the township has been doing enough to train staff to safely use 
available technology. 
 
Mr. Cabalam replied that additional development could be useful and suggested 
implementing formal training. 
 



Page 2 

Director Gebes stated part of the cost shown today includes the formalized training program. 

Trustee Hendrickson asked what the current annual recurring cost is, and if this is new cost. 

Director Gebes replied there is a low cost of ownership currently as the township hasn’t 
bought into current licensing scheme.  

Trustee Hendrickson asked if there will be a phased approach for the purchase. 

Director Gebes replied it’s been considered and covered the pros and cons of both 
approaches.  

Trustee Hendrickson asked if another $730,000 bill should be expected in 2028. 

Director Gebes replied that it depends on licensing purchases, but that the township will have 
to purchase new switches at some point. 

Mr. Kolodsick stated that it’s hard to gauge that far as technology is always changing and 
improving. 

Mr. Cabalam stated that replacing all at once makes things easier as platforms will be 
consistent, but that it’s hard to guess what things will look like in six years. 

5. CITIZENS ADDRESS AGENDA ITEMS AND NON-AGENDA ITEMS

Supervisor Jackson opened Public Remarks at 6:21 pm

NONE

Supervisor Jackson Closed Public remarks at 6:22 pm.

6. TOWNSHIP MANAGER REPORT

Manager Walsh reported that last week Chief Plaga, Director Maisner, Treasurer 
Deschaine and himself spoke about several issues with the Indian Hills Neighborhood where 
Trustee Wilson is a board member. He reported the local road program is continuing under 
Assistant Manager Opsommer and the solar project is moving forward at the Public Safety 
Building. The Juneteenth event has been scheduled for Monday June 20th and the office will be 
closed at noon. The township audit is moving forward. He also went to Mount Pleasant for a 
site visit at the Broadway Lofts project with Supervisor Jackson, Trustee Sundland, Treasurer 
Deschaine, Director Schmitt and Director Clark. He noted contract negotiations are 
continuing with four bargaining groups. 

Director Maisner gave an overview of Celebrate Meridian explaining that children’s 
activities will be available on site, the farmers market will be active from 8 am to 2 pm, live 
music will playing from 4 pm to 10 pm, then a fireworks display at 10:20 pm. Residents who 
wish to volunteer for Celebrate Meridian may do so though the township website. 

7. BOARD MEMBER REPORTS OF ACTIVITIES AND ANNOUNCEMENTS
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Treasurer Deschaine 

• Attended Economic Development Corporation meeting on May 4th 
• Attending swearing in of new police officers on May 9th 
• May 12th was the 50th anniversary of CATA 
• Attended Meridian Area Business Association meeting May 13th 

 
8. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 
Trustee Sundland moved to approve the agenda as presented. Seconded by Trustee Wilson. 

 
VOICE VOTE: YEAS: Supervisor Jackson, Clerk Guthrie, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustees 

_________Hendrickson, Sundland, Wilson, Wisinski 
 

NAYS: None 
 
Motion carried: 7-0 

 
9. CONSENT AGENDA 

 
Supervisor Jackson reviewed the Consent Agenda. 
 
Trustee Hendrickson noted the minutes had a small adjustment and item 9.G has been 
substituted . 

 
Trustee Hendrickson moved to approve the Consent Agenda with amendments and 
substitutions. Seconded by Treasurer Deschaine. 
 

Treasurer Deschaine asked if Clerk Guthrie had any concern on having four polling locations in 
one precinct and why precincts are moving out of schools. 
 
Clerk Guthrie explained the precincts were split to avoid having two or more ballot styles and 
that schools wanted to see polling locations moved to avoid people carrying firearms into 
schools when voting. She further stated each location has been reviewed, and when multiple 
precincts are in one location the Voter Assist Terminal may be shared across those precincts, 
saving the township money. 
 
Trustee Hendrickson stated that jurisdictions have seen the ratio of in person and mail in votes 
flipped, and about 75% of voters now vote absentee.  
 
Supervisor Jackson asked about sending voter ID cards to each voter in the township. 
 
Clerk Guthrie stated by law each voter must receive a new ID due to redistricting. 

 
ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS: Supervisor Jackson, Clerk Guthrie, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustees 

_________Hendrickson, Sundland, Wilson, Wisinski 
 

NAYS: None 
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Motion carried: 7-0 

 
A. Communications 

 
Trustee Hendrickson moved that the communications not already assigned for disposition 
be referred to the Township Manager or Supervisor for follow-up. Seconded by Treasurer 
Deschaine. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS: Supervisor Jackson, Clerk Guthrie, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustees 

_________Hendrickson, Sundland, Wilson, Wisinski 
 

NAYS: None 
 
Motion carried: 7-0 

 
B. Approval of Minutes – May 3rd, 2022 Regular Meeting 

 
Trustee Hendrickson moved to approve and ratify the minutes of May 3rd, 2022 Regular 
Meeting as amended. Seconded by Treasurer Deschaine. 
 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS: Supervisor Jackson, Clerk Guthrie, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustees 

_________Hendrickson, Sundland, Wilson, Wisinski 
 

NAYS: None 
 
Motion carried: 7-0 

 
 C.  Bills 

 
Trustee Hendrickson moved to approve that the Township Board approve the Manager’s 
Bills as follows:  Seconded by Treasurer Deschaine. 

 
Common Cash       $          291,652.76 

  Public Works       $             39,991.45 
  Trust & Agency      $                               935.75 
      Total Checks   $                      332,579.96 
 
  Credit Card Transactions     $                6,250.54 
  04/28/22 to 05/11/2022     
      Total Purchases  $                      340,221.09 
 
  ACH Payments      $           550,458.39 

 
ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS: Supervisor Jackson, Clerk Guthrie, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustees 

_________Hendrickson, Sundland, Wilson, Wisinski 
 

NAYS: None 
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Motion carried: 7-0 

 
D. Outdoor Gathering Permit-Celebrate Meridian  

 
Trustee Hendrickson moved to approve the outdoor assembly license for the Celebrate 
Meridian festival to be held on June 25, 2022 in Central Park and Marketplace on the Green. 
Seconded by Treasurer Deschaine. 

 
ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS: Supervisor Jackson, Clerk Guthrie, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustees 

_________Hendrickson, Sundland, Wilson, Wisinski 
 

NAYS: None 
 
Motion carried: 7-0 

 
E. Waiving Sec. 50-84, Subsection (4) for the Grand River Ave Construction Project 

 
Trustee Hendrickson moved to waive section 50-84, subsection (4) in our code of ordinances 
to permit MDOT and its contractor and subcontractors working on the Grand River Ave. (m-
43) construction project to conduct construction work between the hours of 7 a.m. and 7 
p.m. on Sundays until Sunday, December 11, 2022. Seconded by Treasurer Deschaine. 

 
ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS: Supervisor Jackson, Clerk Guthrie, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustees 

_________Hendrickson, Sundland, Wilson, Wisinski 
 

NAYS: None 
 
Motion carried: 7-0 

 
F. Township Mileage Rate 

 
Trustee Hendrickson moved to retain the township’s mileage reimbursement of 62.5 cents 
per mile. Seconded by Treasurer Deschaine. 

 
ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS: Supervisor Jackson, Clerk Guthrie, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustees 

_________Hendrickson, Sundland, Wilson, Wisinski 
 

NAYS: None 
 
Motion carried: 7-0 

 
 

G. Establishing Polling Places for August Primary 
 

Trustee Hendrickson move to approve the abolishment of current precinct locations and 
establishment of NEW precinct locations as substituted and directs the Clerk to update the 
state qualified database as soon as possible AND mail updated voter ID cards to every voter 
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in the township and change notices as required by MCL  168.499(3)). Seconded by Treasurer 
Deschaine. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS: Supervisor Jackson, Clerk Guthrie, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustees 

_________Hendrickson, Sundland, Wilson, Wisinski 
 

NAYS: None 
 
Motion carried: 7-0 

 
10. QUESTIONS FOR THE ATTORNEY – NONE 

 
11. HEARINGS-NONE 
 
12. ACTION ITEMS 
 

A. Village of Okemos LLC, Meridian Redevelopment Fund Request No. 2 
 
Director Clark outlined Village of Okemos LLC, Meridian Redevelopment Fund Request No. 2. 
 

Trustee Sundland moved to adopt the attached resolution authorizing Township Staff to 
create a Development Agreement with the Village of Okemos, LLC for the use of the Meridian 
Redevelopment Fund; and set the terms of the funding request with the developer not to 
exceed $1,250,000. Seconded by Trustee Wilson. 
 

Trustee Sundland spoke in support of this item. 
 
Trustee Wilson spoke in support of this item as the money being spent is for public 
infrastructure. 
 
Treasurer Deschaine stated if this is not approved the money would not be spent and the 
infrastructure would not be fixed. 

 
Manager Walsh stated these roads are in horrible condition and will be repaired regardless. 
Approving this request will fix the roads and the township will be reimbursed, saving the 
residents tax dollars. 

 
ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS: Clerk Guthrie, Treasurer Deschaine, Trustees Hendrickson, 

_________Sundland, Wilson, Wisinski, Supervisor Jackson 
 

NAYS: None 
 
Motion carried: 7-0 

 
B. Ordinance 2022-05 – Nonresidential Fence Height – Final Adoption 

 
Director Schmitt outlined Ordinance 2022-05 – Nonresidential Fence Height for Final 
Adoption. 
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 Treasurer Deschaine moved to adopt the resolution approving for final adoption Zoning 
Amendment 2022-05 to amend Section 86-506 of the Charter Township of Meridian Zoning 
Code, an ordinance to update the maximum height of fences, walls, and screens in non-
residential zoning districts. Seconded by Trustee Wisinski. 
 

Treasurer Deschaine stated this came from the Zoning Board of Appeals and asked Director 
Schmitt to explain more. 
 
Director Schmitt stated the Zoning Board of Appeals came across this in a recent case and is 
looking for more flexibility. 

 
ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS: Treasurer Deschaine, Trustees Hendrickson, Sundland, Wilson  

_________Wisinski, Supervisor Jackson, Clerk Guthrie 
 

NAYS: None 
 
Motion carried: 7-0 

 
C. Ordinance 2022-06 – Deck/Porch Encroachments Into Yards – Final Adoption  

 
Director Schmitt outlined Ordinance 2022-06 – Deck/Porch Encroachments Into Yards for 
Final Adoption.  

 
Trustee Hendrickson moved to adopt the resolution approving for final adoption Zoning 
Amendment 2022-06 to amend Section 86-564 of the Charter Township of Meridian Zoning 
Code, an ordinance to update the permitted yard encroachments in residential zoning 
districts. Seconded by Trustee Wilson. 
 

Trustee Hendrickson spoke in support of this item. 
 
Trustee Wilson spoke in support of this item. 

 
ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS: Trustee Hendrickson, Sundland, Wilson, Wisinski, Supervisor  

_________Jackson, Clerk Guthrie, Treasurer Deschaine,  
 

NAYS: None 
 
Motion carried: 7-0 

 
D. Ordinance 2022-07 – RRR District Deletion – Final Adoption  

 
Director Schmitt outlined Ordinance 2022-07 RRR District Deletion for Final Adoption. 
 
Treasurer Deschaine asked how RRR is different than RR. 
 
Director Schmitt Explained that RR functions as the most rural district with slightly larger lot 
sizes, setbacks and lot width requirements than the RRR district 
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Trustee Wilson moved to adopt the resolution approving for final adoption Zoning 
Amendment 2022-07 to amend the Zoning Ordinance of the Charter Township of Meridian at 
multiple sections to delete the RRR, One-Family Rural Residential Low Density District from 
the Zoning Ordinance. Seconded by Trustee Wisinski. 
 

Trustee Wilson spoke in support of this item. 
 

Trustee Wisinski spoke in support of this item. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS: Trustees Sundland, Wilson, Wisinski, Supervisor Jackson, Treasurer  

_________Deschaine, Clerk Guthrie, Trustees Hendrickson  
 

NAYS: None 
 
Motion carried: 7-0 

 
E. Brownfield Redevelopment Appointment 

 
Supervisor Jackson outlined the Brownfield Redevelopment Appointment. 

 
Supervisor Jackson moved to appoint Peter Trezise to the Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority for a term ending 12/31/23. Seconded by Treasurer Deschaine. 
 
VOICE VOTE: YEAS: Supervisor Jackson, Trustees Wilson, Wisinski, Treasurer Deschaine, 

_________Clerk Guthrie, Trustees Hendrickson, Sundland  
 

NAYS: None 
 
Motion carried: 7-0 

 
13. BOARD DISCUSSION ITEMS 

 
A. Special Use Permit – 22-051- Bickford House Okemos, 3830 and 3836 Okemos Road – 

Building > 25,000 square feet 
 
Director Schmitt outlined Special Use Permit – 22-051- Bickford House Okemos, 3830 and 
3836 Okemos Road, building greater than 25,000 square feet for discussion. He explained the 
Planning Commission has already reviewed this item and gave unanimous approval.  
 
Treasurer Deschaine asked if the Director Schmitt’s department has received complaints 
from surrounding residents. 
 
Director Schmitt stated no, but some did come up during the Planning Commission meeting 
that will be addressed during construction of the next phase. 

 
Trustee Hendrickson spoke in support of this item and asked about building security as the 
facility is a memory care unit on a busy road. 
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Applicant’s Representative, Richard Eby, 13112 W. 126th St., Overland Park, Kansas replied 
the residents are not allowed to leave the building unsupervised, and wear an item that will 
alarm staff if a resident is a near an open door. The item also shows where residents are at all 
times. There are two monitored exit doors, and visitors will be given a fob to enter the 
building. He stated if a resident attempts to leave with a visitor the alarm will still go off. 
 
Trustee Wilson asked how staff will follow up with tree removal and dirt removal from the 
hill in the back of the building. 
 
Director Schmitt stated the trees on the northern side of the property will remain and a 
double row of trees will be planted on the east side. 
 
Trustee Wilson asked if there will be protection from construction noise for nearby residents. 
 
Director Schmitt replied the applicant will be held accountable as every other construction 
project will be. 
 

B. American Rescue Plan Funding – 1st Round Appropriation 
 

Manager Walsh outlined American Rescue Plan Funding, 1st round appropriation for 
discussion and explained the first $2,700,000 has been received and this discussion is only on 
the first half of ARPA funds, $1,300,000 of which to local roads and $970,000 for IT.  

 
Treasurer Deschaine spoke about problems with internet in his department and spoke in 
support of the manager’s current plan. 
 
Trustee Hendrickson spoke in support of the current plan and asked about timing for using 
funding as match money for trails and parks. 
 
Manager Walsh stated extensive work has been done on the pathways over the past few years 
and sees the current funding plan as a priority. 
 
Trustee Hendrickson stated $800,000 obligated to roads won’t be spent until next year 
whereas $800,000 could be better spent now while matching funds are available. 

 
Trustee Wilson stated that receiving matching funds is only available for parks and trails and 
the money could be better spent elsewhere. 
 
Assistant Manager Opsommer clarified that Consumers Energy has informed him he will be 
waiting for six months just to hear on preliminary pathways easements, and the matching 
funds is possibly not even available, however he does need a commitment on road money. 
 
Clerk Guthrie stated the township is good at finding grants and matching funds. If there was 
an opportunity for better usage of this money the Manager would have mentioned it. 
 
Manager Walsh replied he believes this money should go to roads as he believes they are the 
residents’ biggest complaint. He further stated he would have brought any matching funds to 
the board. 
 



Page 10 
 
 

Treasurer Deschaine also spoke about the township’s history of finding matching grants and 
spoke about the board telling the residents they would fix 155 miles of roads in 2019. 
 
Trustee Hendrickson asked the board to consider the money in its totality so to move forward 
with other projects immediately while the roads can be funded later with the second round of 
ARPA funding. 
 
Trustee Wisinski spoke about a previous discussion concerning roads and IT and asked 
Assistant Manager Opsommer if he needs to know the money will be available soon. 
 
Assistant Manager Opsommer stated he needs to give engineering a list of roads and is in the 
second round of bonding that needs to be obligated in six months. He further stated he needs 
to know how much will be obligated to roads so not to spend too much on engineering costs.  

 
Trustee Wilson asked if the board could guarantee to the Manager and staff that some money 
will be taken from the first round of funding, and the rest will come from the second round.  
 
Manager Walsh stated it can be done that way, but he wants Assistant Manager Opsommer to 
know the money will be available to him, he also explained if the roads get worse and some 
money is already spent their may not be enough in the second to cover the rest of the road 
work required. 

  
Treasurer Deschaine stated this money could be necessary to complete the board’s goals with 
the roads. 

 
Manager Walsh spoke about the list of roads that need to be worked on and suggested adding 
more roads to the list with the allocated $1,300,000 of funding. 
 
Trustee Hendrickson stated that if more money can be spent on roads this year that he would 
have no issue obligating the money now. 
 
Manager Walsh stated it would be cheaper to do the road work this year than next year. 

 
Supervisor Jackson stated the proposal in front of the board is for IT and road spending and 
asked the manager to bring this back for action at the next meeting.  

 
C. Township Signage 

 
Assistant Manager Opsommer outlined the Township Signage plan for discussion. He stated 
he is currently securing easements for the east, west and south township signs. 
 
Treasurer Deschaine asked if the easement for the Haslett Rd. sign has been granted. 
 
Assistant Manager Opsommer stated the sign was installed in 2013-14 by the Haslett 
Beautification Association. 
 
Treasurer Deschaine noted the sign is about half a mile into the township.  
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Assistant Manager Opsommer replied it was intended to be a welcoming sign to downtown 
Haslett. 
 
Treasurer Deschaine asked where the Haslett Rd. sign would be located. 
 
Assistant Manager Opsommer replied just south of Towner Rd.  
 
Manager Walsh spoke in support of this item, and thanked Clerk Guthrie and former 
Supervisor LeGoff for the previous work they put into this project. 
 
Clerk Guthrie spoke in support of this item and asked what happens to the old signs. 
 
Assistant Manager Opsommer stated they would be recycled, unless there was a desire to 
keep them. 
 
Clerk Guthrie asked who would manage the electronic sign. 
 
Assistant Manager Opsommer stated it’s planned to change once a day by a computer system.  
 
Clerk Guthrie asked why the back of the sign does not show blue on the tail. 
 
Assistant Manager Opsommer replied the idea was the tail would be hidden and the back of 
the sign would look like a perfect oval. 
 
Clerk Guthrie asked about putting the whole sign in the oval. 
 
Assistant Manager Opsommer stated there would be a blue border around the logo on the 
front of the sign. 
 
Clerk Guthrie asked about the Central Park sign using italicized words. 
 
Assistant Manager Opsommer stated that was a mistake. 
 
Treasurer Deschaine asked about the sign on Dobie Rd. 
 
Assistant Manager Opsommer replied those are standard signs by MDOT and will stay. 
 
Trustee Wisinski asked how it was decided which park signs would be worked on first. 
 
Assistant Manager Opsommer replied Director Maisner chose based on need. 
 

D. Establishing of a Commercial Rehabilitation District 1655 & 1621 Haslett Road 
 
Director Clark outlined the Establishing of a Commercial Rehabilitation District 1655 & 1621 
Haslett Road for discussion. She explained only two businesses exist in the complex at this 
time and the value of the property is continuously decreasing.  
 
Trustee Hendrickson asked what would happen if the board took no action on this. 
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Director Clark stated the developer would not buy the property. 
 
Treasurer Deschaine asked if the developer can they extend the 10-year deadline. 
 
Director Clark stated there is no extension. 
 
Trustee Wilson asked how the County will receive this. 
 
Director Clark stated she received positive feedback from the County at this point. 
 
Manager Walsh stated so far talks with the County have gone well. 
 
Trustee Wisinski asked to clarify this type of development will be mixed use and be similar to 
the current development. 
 
Director Clark replied it is similar. 

 
Treasurer Deschaine spoke about the history of this property and a need for housing in 
Haslett. 
 
Supervisor Jackson stated the board should indicate if they are interested and set a June 7th 
date for public hearing. 

 
Treasurer Deschaine moved to suspend the rules and take action on this item tonight. 
Seconded by Trustee Wilson. 

 
ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS: Supervisor Jackson, Treasurer Deschaine, Clerk Guthrie, Trustees 

_________Hendrickson, Sundland, Wilson, Wisinski, 
 

NAYS: None 
 
Motion carried: 7-0 
 

Trustee Hendrickson moved to set a Public Hearing date for June 7th 2022 for the purpose of 
creating and Establishing of a Commercial Rehabilitation District 1655 & 1621 Haslett Road. 
Supported by Trustee Wilson.  
 
VOICE VOTE: YEAS: Trustees Wilson, Wisinski, Supervisor Jackson, Treasurer Deschaine, 

_________Clerk Guthrie, Trustees Hendrickson, Sundland  
 

NAYS: None 
 
Motion carried: 7-0 

 
E. Meeting Attendance Accommodations 

 
Assistant Manager Opsommer outlined Meeting Attendance Accommodations for discussion. 
 
Trustee Wilson asked if notices to the public would be changed by this action. 
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Assistant Manager Opsommer replied yes, virtual meeting information will be promoted. 
 
Trustee Wilson asked who would control the zoom meetings. 
 
Assistant Manager Opsommer replied Director Gebes and staff. 
 
Treasurer Deschaine stated this item should have action soon to keep up with the Attorney 
General. 
 
Trustee Wisinski spoke about the American with Disabilities Act Title 2 (Is that the right 
citation?) and not many boards and commissions would be covered by this. 

 
Clerk Guthrie spoke in favor of this item, and if accommodations must be made that it be 
included in IT budget. She further spoke about not prohibiting seeing eye dogs from entering 
meetings. 

 
F. Stimulus Inflationary Payment Program 

 
Manager Walsh outlined the Stimulus Inflationary Payment Program for discussion. 
Payments would go out in June, total cost is just over $400,000. Treasurer Deschaine, Clerk 
Guthrie and Manager Walsh will not receive the payment. This will also replace the $1,000 
retention bonus planned for December. 
 
Treasurer Deschaine spoke in support of this item. 
 
Trustee Wilson clarified this is a one-time payment not a permanent pay increase. 
 
Trustee Wisinski spoke in support of this item and would like to look at this again for the 
next year. 

 
Clerk Guthrie asked if there is a stipulation on the payment. 
 
Manager Walsh stated the only condition is you must be employed by the time of approval. 
 
Clerk Guthrie asked if any action would need to be taken to cancel the $1,000 retention plan. 
 
Manager Walsh stated by approving this plan, the older plan would be undone. 
 
Trustee Hendrickson stated the Trustees are also not included in the plan. 

 
14. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC 

 
Supervisor Jackson Opened Public Remarks at 9:14 pm. 
 
NONE 
 
Supervisor Jackson Closed Public Remarks at 9:14 pm. 
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15. OTHER MATTERS AND BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS 
 
Supervisor Jackson noted that in 2020 the board voted by resolution to proclaim the first 
Friday of June to be national gun violence awareness day and she would continue this effort 
with a moment of silence. 

 
16. ADJOURNMENT 

 
Treasurer Deschaine moved to adjourn. Seconded by Trustee Wisinski. 
 
VOICE/HAND VOTE:   Motion carried 7-0 

 
Supervisor Jackson adjourned the meeting at 9:17 pm. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
___________                 _____________ 

PATRICIA H. JACKSON, 
TOWNSHIP SUPERVISOR 

 
____________               ________________ 

DEBORAH GUTHRIE 
TOWNSHIP CLERK 

 
 































To: 

From: 

Date: 

RE: 

Meridian Township Board Members 

Neighborhoods & Economic Development Director Amber Clark

 June 7, 2022 

Establish a Commercial Rehabilitation Act District at 1655 & 1621 

Haslett Road 

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Summary 

1655, 1621 Haslett Road and the two homes on Raby Road are under consideration for 
redevelopment. SP Holding Company comprised of developers out of Holland, MI have 
proposed a horizontal mixed use planned unit redevelopment of the remaining 19.5 acres 
of property formally known as “Haslett Village Square”.  

Working alongside the developer, Township staff recommend the creation of a Commercial 
Rehabilitation District and a Brownfield Plan to fully redevelop the proposed project site 
starting with demolition in 2022. Contamination of the site was previously detected 
through the approved Brownfield Plan associated with 1673 Haslett Road “Pine 
Village/American Homes Meridian” development project with source contamination 
confirmed in two locations. The adoption of a Brownfield Plan layered with the 
Commercial Rehabilitation exemption will allow the developer the ability to begin 
development work and will not require the Township to grant funding through general 
fund or upfront costs to support the project. Our request is for the Board to consider 
approving the recommendation to create a Commercial Rehabilitation District in support 
of the redevelopment of Haslett Village Square. 

Introduction on the establishment of the CRA district was held at the May 17, 2022 meeting 
of Meridian Township Board. The Board members suspended their rules and made the 
motion to hold a public hearing at the June 7, 2022 Township Board meeting to receive 
public comment regarding the district. A certified letter was submitted to the property 
owner, developer and Ingham County Board of Commissioners in reference to the public 
meeting and the Township's intent to establish. Should the Township Board adopt the 
resolution to establish the district, a copy will be submitted to Ingham County for their 
concurrence. The Ingham County Board of Commissioners will have 28 days to reject the 
proposed district. 

History 

1655 & 1621 also known as “Haslett Village Square” comprise the southwest block of 
the Haslett and Marsh Road intersections. This portion of the designated 
“Haslett Potential Intensity Change Area (PICA)”, is proposed by SP Holding Company 
LLC, as a mixed use planned unit redevelopment. Two nonresidential buildings are 
proposed to sit along Haslett Road with a mix of residential unit sizes and townhomes to 
the south. About 21,000 sq. ft. of nonresidential space is proposed with a portion of 
that as a public community hub. An application for the MUPUD is currently under consideration of the 
Planning Commission. The introduction of the proposed plan was well received with 
minor comments to adjust some design elements. Planning Commissioners want to 
be assured the commercial components of the development will come alongside or 
before the residential components. 

11. A & 12. A



the currently 99% vacant complex with Fringe Hair Design and Little Caesars Pizza as 
the only two functioning businesses. After the close of the L & L in 2011, the complex has 
seen a decline in vacancy each year. For several recent years, the taxable value has 
been reduced due to the lack of use of the complex, and currently sits at a six figure 
taxable value. The annual taxable income received equates to less than $80,000 
annually. The proposed redevelopment will reverse the downward trend in value of the 
site and provide our community with active public space, public park amenity and retail 
space. 

In order to meet the demands of our current market, staff propose the creation of 
a commercial rehabilitation district as designated in PA 210 of 2005 (CRA). An 
established commercial rehabilitation district will allow the Township to place a freeze 
on the current annual tax bill for the value of the buildings for 10 years. This freeze on 
the value will still require an annual payment of taxes on the property by the 
developer, however the improvements made to the property would not trigger an 
increase in value until the end of the 10 year period. Commercial Rehabilitation 
Exemptions are a tax incentive that can be provided by the local unit of government and 
County of which the project is located. After establishing a Commercial Rehabilitation 
District, a developer can submit an application to the Township Clerk requesting a 
Commercial Rehabilitation Exemption. The exemption by law can only be in effect for 
10 years and allows the developer to save money during construction. After the 10 
year period, the freeze is removed from the taxes on the property and the full increased 
amount in property taxes will go to the local units of government. A CRA is a 
performance based incentive that supports redevelopment if improvements are made to 
the property. To create a CRA, the Township must first set a public hearing to receive public 
comment. After the public hearing the Township Board may adopt a resolution 
designating the Commercial Rehabilitation District. A certified letter from the 
Township stating the intent to establish the district must be submitted to Ingham 
County after the adoption of the resolution. The County will have 28 days to formally 
reject the district.  

Once created a developer can submit an application for CRA exemption. After a 
public hearing and adoption of a resolution, the application can be submitted by the 
Clerk to the State Tax Commission (STC). The STC will authorize the creation of a certificate 
acknowledging the exemption. Copies will be submitted to the Clerk and Township 
Assessor for annual review and reporting.  

Budgetary Considerations 

The taxable value of the property currently rests in mid six figure range. The underutilized 
level of the complex drives up the obsolescence of the site. If the site were to remain in its 
current state, after 20 years the Township would share about $1.6M with the seven tax 
authorities. If the Board were to approve the 10 year Commercial Rehabilitation 
Exemption and a Brownfield Plan, after 20 years the Township would share about $13M 
with the seven tax jurisdictions. The proposal for support of redevelopment can be seen 
based on the overall future value of the property. The development incentives chosen by 
this developer are performance based. Both the Brownfield and Commercial Exemption 
are related to the work and investment produced by the developer. There are no requests 
at this time from the developer for upfront costs. The request from the developer to the 
Township at this time is to work administratively to allow for the exemption to put the  



funding into the development.  

Proposed Commercial Rehabilitation District: 
Haslett Village Square Commercial Rehabilitation District No. 1 

Example of CRA Exemption from City of Novi



Township Board Action: Motion to adopt the attached resolution establishing a 
Commercial Rehabilitation District at 1655 and 1621 Haslett Road as the Haslett Village 
Square Commercial Rehabilitation District No. 1

Attachments: 
Resolution Adopting a Commercial Rehabilitation District 



RESOLUTION TO ESTABLISH A COMMERCIAL REHABILITATION DISTRICT 

Minutes of a (regular) meeting of the Meridian Township Board of the Charter Township of 
Meridian, held on (_____________), at (Meridian Township Hall) in (Meridian Township) at (__________). 

PRESENT: 

ABSENT: 

The following resolution was offered by __________________, and supported by _____________________. 

WHEREAS; pursuant to PA 210 of 2005, the Township Board of Meridian Charter 
Township has the authority to establish “Commercial Rehabilitation Districts” within the 
boundaries of Meridian Charter Township; and written notice has been given by certified mail 
to Ingham County and all owners of real property located within the District, and to the 
public by newspaper advertisement and/or public posting of the hearing on the 
establishment of the proposed District; and 

WHEREAS, the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian determined that the 
district meets the requirements set forth in sections 2(b) and 3 of PA 210 of 2005; and 

WHEREAS, written notice has been given by certified mail to Ingham County and all 
owners of real property located within the District, and to the public by newspaper 
advertisement and/or public posting of the hearing on the establishment of the proposed 
District as required by section 3(3) of PA 210 of 2005; and 

WHEREAS; on ______________, a public hearing was held and all residents and 
taxpayers were afforded an opportunity to be heard thereon; and 

WHEREAS; the Meridian Township Board deems it to be in the public interest to 
establish the Commercial Rehabilitation District as proposed, provided that the property 
proposed to be included in the District will be used for a Qualified Facility in the form of a 
mixed use commercial and multiple-family development meeting the criteria in Public Act 
210 of 2005, for purposes of considering the creation of the District; and 

WHEREAS; the proposed district falls into the Haslett “Potential Intensity Change 
Area” or PICA as defined by the Meridian Township Masterplan adopted in 2017. The 
establishment of the district in this area will provide the economic incentive to see 
redevelopment of the area starting in 2022; and 

WHEREAS; Construction, acquisition, alteration, or installation of the proposed 
development had not commenced at the time of filing the request to establish, and/or the 
City’s determination to consider establishing, this District; and 

WHEREAS; the rehabilitation includes improvements aggregating 10% or more of 
the true cash value of the Property at commencement of the rehabilitation as provided by 
Section 2(j) of Public Act 210 of 2005, inasmuch as the rehabilitation is in fact new 



buildings and development in place of obsolete buildings; and 

WHEREAS; The Meridian Township Board understands and expects to receive 
applications for an exemption certificate under Public Act 210 of 2005 and the 
Township will need to agree to the specific terms and conditions of an exemption, including 
entering into a binding written Agreement relating to such exemption on terms and 
conditions acceptable to the Township. 

NOW THEREFORE, IT IS THEREFORE RESOLVED: by the Meridian Township Board of the 
Charter Township of Meridian, County of Ingham that the following described parcel(s) of 
land situated in Meridian Township, Ingham County, and State of Michigan, to wit: 

1655 Haslett Road: 

A PARCEL OF LAND IN THE SE 1/4 OF SEC 10 T4N R1W DESC AS:  COM AT THE S 1/4 COR OF SD 
SEC 10 – N00D22’20”W ALNG THE N-S 1/4 LN OF SD SEC 10 746.99 FT TO POB – N00D22’20”W 
CONT ALNG SD N-S 1/4 LN 149.95 FT – N29D22’14”E 858.27 FT – N01D40’31”W 625.33 FT TO S 
ROW LN OF HASLETT RD – N88D08’51”E ALNG SD S LN 224.29 FT – S01D25’28”E PLL WITH W 
ROW LN OF MARSH RD 222.14 FT – N88D08’51”E PLL WITH SD S LN 488.95 FT TO W ROW LN OF 
MARSH RD – S01D25’28”E ALNG SD W LN 407.01 FT TO C/L OF FORMER RABY RD AND A JOG IN 
THE W ROW LN OF MARSH RD – N89D45’31”W ALNG SD C/L 20.01 FT – S01D25’28”E ALNG SD W 
LN 83.28 FT TO N’LY LN OF CONSUMERS ENERGY POWER LINE EASEMENT – ALNG SD N’LY LN 
FOLLOWING THREE COURSES:  S54D02’30”W 638.21 FT, S46D14’05”W 124.14 FT, S53D35’05”W 
628.79 FT TO POB (16.54 A M/L) 

AND 

1621 Haslett Road: 

A PARCEL OF LAND IN THE SE 1/4 OF SEC 10 T4N R1W DESC AS:  COM AT THE S 1/4 COR OF SD 
SEC 10 – N00D22’20”W ALNG THE N-S 1/4 LN OF SD SEC 10 2256.67 FT TO S ROW LN OF 
HASLETT RD – N88D08’51”E ALNG SD S LN 636 FT TO POB – N88D08’51”E CONT ALNG SD S LN 
488.95 FT TO W ROW LN OF MARSH RD – S01D25’28”E ALNG SD W LN 222.14 FT – S88D08’51”W 
PLL WITH SD S LN 488.95 FT – N01D25’28”W PLL WITH SD W LN 222.14 FT TO POB (2.49 A M/L) 

Be and here is established as a Commercial Rehabilitation District pursuant to the provisions of PA 
210 of 2005 to be known as Haslett Village Square Commercial Rehabilitation District No.1. 

AYES: 

NAYS: 

RESOLUTION DECLARED ADOPTED. 



I hereby certify that the foregoing constitutes a true and complete copy of a resolution adopted by 
the Meridian Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian, County of Ingham, Michigan at 
a regular meeting held on (__________________________________). 

_______________________________ 
Deborah Guthrie 
Meridian Township Clerk 



 

 Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
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To:  Township Board  
 
From:  Timothy R. Schmitt, AICP 
  Community Planning and Development Director 
 
Date:  May 27, 2022 
 
Re: Special Use Permit #22-051 – Bickford House Okemos – 3830 and 3836 Okemos 

Road – Construct a building over 25,000 feet 
 
At the Township Board’s May 17, 2022 meeting, an initial review was held on the request from JV 
Landlord-Leasing, LLC to expand the existing Bickford House of Meridian. The existing 24,561 square 
foot senior living facility at 3830 Okemos Road is proposed to be expanded by 9,488 square feet, 
making it larger than 25,000 square feet. The expansion will be a northern wing on the building that 
will be self contained, housing a larger memory care unit for residents. This expansion will occur 
largely on the property at 3836 Okemos Road, which is being acquired by the applicant.  
 
At the May 17th meeting, no major concerns were raised by the Township Board. Previously, the 
Planning Commission had held a public hearing and received some public comment, which the 
applicant effectively responded to. The Planning Commission eventually unanimously recommended 
approval of the request. At this time, Staff has identified no concerns and can recommend approval of 
the Special Use Permit. Staff would offer the following motion for the Township Board’s use in taking 
action on this matter: 
 

Motion to adopt the resolution approving the request from JV Landlord-Leasing, LLC to 
expand the building at 3830 Okemos Road onto the property at 3836 Okemos Road and 
to be greater than 25,000 square feet. Both parcels are zoned RA, Single-Family Medium 
Density Residential. 

  
Attachments 
1. Resolution for approval 
2. May 17, 2022 Township Board Packet 
 



RESOLUTION TO APPROVE Special Use Permit #22-051 
 Bickford Senior Living 

3830 & 3836 Okemos Road 
RESOLUTION 

 
 At a regular meeting of the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham 
County, Michigan, held at 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, MI 48864 on the 7th day of June 2022, at 7:00 
p.m., Local Time. 
 
PRESENT: ___________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 ___________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
ABSENT: ___________________________________________________________________________________________________   
 
 The following resolution was offered by _________________ and supported by ___________________. 
 

WHEREAS, JV Landlord-Lansing, LLC, owner of Bickford of Okemos, has submitted a request 
to construct an expansion of 9,488 square feet to the existing 24,561 square foot building on the 
property at 3830 and 3836 Okemos Road; and 
 

WHEREAS, a special use permit is required for construction of a building totaling more than 
25,000 square feet in gross floor area; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission held a public hearing at its regular meeting on April 
25, 2022 and discussed the matter at the regular meeting on May 9, 2022, unanimously 
recommending approval to the Township Board; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Township Board discussed the proposal its regular meeting on May 17, 2022 

and June 7, 2022 and has reviewed staff material forwarded under a cover memorandum dated May 
11, 2022 and May 27, 2022; and 
 

WHEREAS, the subject site is appropriately zoned RA, Single Family, Medium Density, which 
permits the construction of buildings greater than 25,000 square feet in floor area by special use 
permit; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the proposed project is consistent with the general standards for granting a 
special use permit found in Section 86-126 of the Code of Ordinances; and 
 

WHEREAS, public water and sanitary sewer services serve the subject site. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THE TOWNSHIP BOARD OF THE CHARTER 
TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN hereby approves Special Use Permit #22-051, subject to the following 
conditions: 
 
1. Approval is granted in general accordance with the Overall Special Use Plan by Kebs, Inc. dated 

January 1, 2022 and received by the Township on March 24, 2022, and the response letter to 
the Planning Commission, from the applicant, dated May 3, 2022.  

 
2. Any future building additions will require an amendment to Special Use Permit #22-051. 
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ADOPTED: YEAS: __________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
  __________________________________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                            
  NAYS: __________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
    ) ss 
COUNTY OF INGHAM ) 
 
 I, the undersigned, the duly qualified and acting Clerk of the Township Board of the Charter 
Township Meridian, Ingham County, Michigan, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true 
and a complete copy of a resolution adopted at a regular meeting of the Township Board on the 7th 
day of June, 2022. 
 
 
       ______________________________   
       Deborah Guthrie 
       Township Clerk 
 
 
 



 

 Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

13.A 

To:  Board Members  
 
From:  Timothy R. Schmitt, AICP 
  Community Planning and Development Director 
 
Date:  May 11, 2022 
 
Re: Special Use Permit #22-051 – Bickford House Okemos – 3830 and 3836 Okemos 

Road – Construct a building over 25,000 feet 
 
JV Landlord-Leasing, LLC has requested a special use permit to construct a building over 25,000 
square feet at 3830 & 3836 Okemos Road. The existing 24,561 square foot senior living facility at 
3830 Okemos Road is proposed to be expanded by 9,488 square feet, making it larger than 25,000 
square feet. The expansion will be a northern wing on the building that will be self contained, housing  
larger memory care unit for residents. This expansion will occur largely on the property at 3836 
Okemos Road, which is being acquired by the applicant.  
 
The Planning Commission held a public hearing on the proposal at its meeting on April 25, 2022 and 
received input from the general public and had several questions of the applicant and Staff. Additional 
information from the applicant was forwarded to the Planning Commission for their review on May 7, 
2022. At that meeting, the Planning Commission voted unanimously to approve the Special Use Permit 
to operate a non-residential facility in a residential district and voted unanimously to recommend 
approval of the building greater than 25,000 square feet. At this time, Staff has identified no concerns 
and can recommend approval of the Special Use Permit. 
 
Township Board Options 
The Township Board may approve or deny the proposed special use permit.  If the Board amends the 
proposal, the request may be referred back to the Planning Commission for a recommendation.  A 
resolution is attached for the Board’s initial review. 
 
Attachments 
1. Draft resolution for approval 
2. Planning Commission packet – May 9, 2022 
3. Planning Commission minutes – May 9, 2022  
4. Planning Commission packet – April 25, 2022 
5. Planning Commission minutes – April 25, 2022 



RESOLUTION TO APPROVE Special Use Permit #22-051 
 Bickford Senior Living 

3830 & 3836 Okemos Road 
RESOLUTION 

 
 At a regular meeting of the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham 
County, Michigan, held at 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, MI 48864 on the 17th day of May 2022, at 7:00 
p.m., Local Time. 
 
PRESENT: ___________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 ___________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
ABSENT: ___________________________________________________________________________________________________   
 
 The following resolution was offered by _________________ and supported by ___________________. 
 

WHEREAS, JV Landlord-Lansing, LLC, owner of Bickford of Okemos, has submitted a request 
to construct an expansion of 9,488 square feet to the existing 24,561 square foot building on the 
property at 3830 and 3836 Okemos Road; and 
 

WHEREAS, a special use permit is required for construction of a building totaling more than 
25,000 square feet in gross floor area; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission held a public hearing at its regular meeting on April 
25, 2022 and discussed the matter at the regular meeting on May 9, 2022, unanimously 
recommending approval to the Township Board; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Township Board discussed the proposal its regular meeting on May 17, 2022 

and has reviewed staff material forwarded under a cover memorandum dated May 11, 2022; and 
 

WHEREAS, the subject site is appropriately zoned RA, Single Family, Medium Density, which 
permits the construction of buildings greater than 25,000 square feet in floor area by special use 
permit; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the proposed project is consistent with the general standards for granting a 
special use permit found in Section 86-126 of the Code of Ordinances; and 
 

WHEREAS, public water and sanitary sewer services serve the subject site. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THE TOWNSHIP BOARD OF THE CHARTER 
TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN hereby approves Special Use Permit #22-051, subject to the following 
conditions: 
 
1. Approval is granted in general accordance with the Overall Special Use Plan by Kebs, Inc. dated 

January 1, 2022 and received by the Township on March 24, 2022, and the response letter to 
the Planning Commission, from the applicant, dated May 3, 2022.  

 
2. Any future building additions will require an amendment to Special Use Permit #22-051. 
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ADOPTED: YEAS: __________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
  __________________________________________________________________________________________ 

                                                                                            
  NAYS: __________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
    ) ss 
COUNTY OF INGHAM ) 
 
 I, the undersigned, the duly qualified and acting Clerk of the Township Board of the Charter 
Township Meridian, Ingham County, Michigan, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true 
and a complete copy of a resolution adopted at a regular meeting of the Township Board on the 17th 
day of May, 2022. 
 
 
       ______________________________   
       Deborah Guthrie 
       Township Clerk 
 
 
 



 

 
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

To:  Planning Commission  
 
From:  Keith Chapman 
 
Date:  May 4, 2022 
 
Re: Special Use Permit #22-051 – (3830 & 3836 Okemos Rd.) – Bickford Place 

Assisted Living Facility – Buildings over 25,000 square feet Special Use Permit 
  
The Planning Commission held a public hearing on April 25, 2022, for Special Use Permit request 
#22-051, Bickford Place Assisted Living Facility’s proposal to build a new 9,488 square foot building 
addition to the existing 24,561 square foot building at 3830 & 3836 Okemos Road. 
 
For the review of the Special Use Permit for buildings greater than 25,000 square feet, there were no 
major concerns raised. Staff has uncovered no major concerns with the proposed size of the building 
or how it fits into the overall development and therefore would recommend approval of the 
proposed building addition being added to the site. The Planning Commission is asked to make a 
recommendation, which will be forwarded to the Township Board for final review and decision.  

 
Planning Commission Options 
 
The Planning Commission may recommend approval, recommend approval with conditions, or 
recommend denial the special use permit. A resolution to recommend approval has been provided 
with this memorandum.  
 
• Move to adopt the resolution to recommend approval of Special Use Permit #22-051, to 

construct a building over 25,000 square feet in size. 
 
 
Attachments 

1. Resolution for approval 
2. April 25, 2022 Staff Report 

 
 
 

 
 



RESOLUTION TO RECOMMEND APPROVAL Special Use Permit #22-051 
  Bickford Senior Living Facility 
 3830 & 3836 Okemos Road 
 
 At a regular meeting of the Planning Commission of the Charter Township of Meridian, 
Ingham County, Michigan, held at the Meridian Municipal Building, in said Township on the 9th day 
of May, 2022, at 7:00 p.m., Local Time. 
 
PRESENT: __________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 __________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
ABSENT: __________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 The following resolution was offered by Commissioner _______ and supported by 
Commissioner _______. 
 

WHEREAS, JV Landlord-Lansing, LLC has submitted a request to construct a building 
greater than 25,000 square feet in size at 3830 & 3836 Okemos Road; and 
 

WHEREAS, the proposed project is a adding a 9,488 square foot building addition to the 
existing 24,561 square foot building; and  
 

WHEREAS, a special use permit is required for constructing a building totaling more than 
25,000 square feet in gross floor area; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission held a public hearing at its regular meeting on April 
25, 2022 and discussed on May 9, 2022; and has reviewed staff material forwarded under cover 
memorandums dated April 20, 2022 and May 4, 2022; and 
 

WHEREAS, the subject site is appropriately zoned RA (Single Family, Medium Density), 
which permits the construction of buildings greater than 25,000 square feet in floor area by special 
use permit; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the proposed project is consistent with the general standards for granting a 
special use permit found in Section 86-126 of the Code of Ordinances; and 
 

WHEREAS, public water and sanitary sewer services serve the subject site. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CHARTER 
TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN hereby recommends approval of Special Use Permit #22-051 to 
construct a 9,488 square foot building addition to an existing 24,561 square foot building, 
resulting in a building larger than 25,000 square feet, at 3830 & 3836 Okemos Road, subject to the 
following conditions: 
 
1. Approval is granted in general accordance with the Overall Special Use Plan by Kebs, Inc. dated 

January 1, 2022 and received by the Township on March 24, 2022.  
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Bickford Senior Living Center – 3830 & 3836 Okemos Rd. 

2. Any future building additions or revisions to the site layout will require amendments to the 
Special Use Permit. 
 
 

ADOPTED: YEAS:      __________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
     __________________________________________________________________________________ 
                                                                                           
 
  NAYS:   __________________________________________________________________________________                           
 
STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
    ) ss 
COUNTY OF INGHAM ) 

 
I, the undersigned, the duly qualified and acting Chair of the Planning Commission of the 

Charter Township Meridian, Ingham County, Michigan, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a 
true and a complete copy of a resolution adopted at a regular meeting of the Planning Commission 
on the 9th day of May, 2022. 
 
 
       ______________________________   
       Mark Blumer, Chair 
       Meridian Township Planning Commission 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 

 
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

To:  Planning Commission  
 
From:  Keith Chapman, Assistant Planner 
 
Date:  April 20, 2022 
 
Re: Special Use Permit #22-051 – (3830 & 3836 Okemos Rd.) – Bickford Place 

Assisted Living Facility – Buildings over 25,000 square feet Special Use Permit  
 
 
JV Landlord-Lansing, LLC has requested a special use permit to construct a building greater than 
25,000 square feet in size at 3830 & 3836 Okemos Rd.  The subject site is zoned RA (Single Family, 
Medium Density).  The proposed project will contain 16 memory care units for residents who have 
significant memory issues. The existing one-story building contains 46 small apartment style units 
with a kitchenette consisting of a sink, refrigerator, and microwave. In total the proposed project is 
comprised of one building totaling 34,049 square feet in size. 
 
In addition to the special use permit request to construct 9,488 square foot building addition to the 
existing 24,561 square foot building (SUP #22-05011), a special use permit is required for 
constructing a building totaling more than 25,000 square feet in gross floor area (SUP #22-051).  
The special use permits are being processed concurrently.  This staff report focuses on the special 
use permit for construction of a building greater than 25,000 square feet in gross floor area.  The 
staff report for SUP #22-05011 should be referenced for a more complete overview of the project. 
 
The construction of any building or group of buildings with a combined gross floor area greater than 
25,000 square feet requires a special use permit due to the significant impact such development 
may have upon adjacent property owners, neighborhoods, and public infrastructure.  The Code of 
Ordinances requires the special use permit to ensure public utilities, roads, and other infrastructure 
systems are or will be adequate to support the proposed development. 
 
Planning Commission Options 
 
The Planning Commission may recommend approval, approval with conditions, or denial of the 
proposed special use permit.  The Township Board makes a final decision on special use permit 
requests for buildings over 25,000 square feet. A draft resolution is attached for the Planning 
Commission’s review.  
 
Attachment 
1. Draft resolution for approval 
2. Special Use Plan by Kebs, Inc. dated January 1, 2022 and received by the Township on March 24, 

2022 
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Commissioner	McConnell	noted	a	correction	on	the	last	line	of	page	two,	under	agenda	item	
7A,	“Commissioner	McConnell	stated	he	would	like	to	see	all	native	trees	planted	on	the	
slope.”	This	is	two	separate	points.	The	record	should	reflect	he	would	like	to	see	native	
plant	species	as	well	as	additional	tress	planted	on	the	slope.	
 
VOICE VOTE:  Motion approved unanimously. 
	
6.	COMMUNICATIONS‐NONE	
  
7.	PUBLIC	HEARINGS	
 

A. PUD Decks – Text Amendment 
 
Chair Blumer opened the public hearing at 7:03 pm. 
 
Director Schmitt outlined the PUD Decks text amendment for Public Hearing. 
 
Commissioner Cordill noted the third whereas in the resolution should read, “not to exceed 
10% of the total square footage of the house.” 
 
Chair Blumer asked if the word Deck is defined. 
 
Director Schmitt replied he believes it is defined under the encroachments section, but will 
confirm. 
 
Commissioner Shrewsbury noted the Ordinance amendment reads, “10% of the square 
footage of the principal structure.” While the resolution reads, “10% of the total square 
footage of the house.” She asked if these should be consistent. 
 
Director Schmitt replied the consistency makes sense. 
 
Chair Blumer stated this should come back after a few changes have been made. 

   
Chair Blumer closed the Public Hearing at 7:09 pm. 

 
8.	UNFINISHED	BUSINESS		
	

A. Special Use Permit #22-05-011 – 3830 & 3836 Okemos Road – Bickford House 
Expansion 
 
Director Schmitt outlined Special Use Permit #22-05-011 – 3830 & 3836 Okemos Road – 
Bickford House Expansion and explained a previous variance that had been granted on the 
parcel. 
 
Commissioner Richards stated the north parking lot is higher than the building and asked 
how that would be engineered. 
 
Applicants Engineer Greg Petru, 2116 Haslett Rd., Haslett, MI explained they plan on 
removing a lot dirt from the hill and the building will continue at the same elevation. There 
will also be a drop off for storm water retention. 
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Commissioner Richards asked if there will be a storm water pond on the north side of the 
building as the addition is being built. 
 
Mr. Petru replied yes but not a big one. 
 
Commissioner Richards asked if there are plans for a fence around the pond. 
 
Mr. Petru replied the bank will likely be stabilized with native landscaping. 
 
Commissioner Richards stated the new landscaping should match what is currently in place. 
 
Commissioner McConnell asked if changes the applicant has included in their May 3rd, 2022 
letter could be included as conditions in the Resolution. 
 
Director Schmitt replied they could. 
 
Commissioner Cordill asked if the building, with the addition, would remain one story and if 
the grade would be level with what currently exists. 
 
Director Schmitt replied yes to both. 
 
Applicants Representative, Richard Eby, 13112 W. 126th St., Overland Park, Kansas gave an 
overview of the grading on the parcel for clarification. 
 
Chair Blumer spoke in support of this project as long as the terrain is not destabilized.  
 

Commissioner	McConnell	moved	to	adopt	the	resolution	approving	Special	Use	Permit	#22‐
05‐011	request	to	add	9488	sq.	ft.	to	the	building	at	3830	Okemos	Rd.	and	incorporate	the	
property	at	3836	Okemos	Rd.	into	the	development	with	the	additional	condition	including	
the	changes	to	the	site	plan	proposed	by	the	applicant	in	their	letter	of	May	3rd.	Seconded	by	
Commissioner	Trezise.		
	
ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS: Commissioners McConnell, Cordill, Shrewsbury, Richards, Vice-Chair 

Trezise, Chair Blumer 
 

NAYS: None 
 
Motion carried: 6-0 

 
B.  Special Use Permit #22-051 – 3830 & 3836 Okemos Road – Bickford House 

Expansion, structure greater than 25,000 square feet 
 
Director Schmitt outlined Special Use Permit #22-051 – 3830 & 3836 Okemos Road – 
Bickford House Expansion, structure greater than 25,000 square feet for discussion. 
 

Commissioner	 Richards	 moved	 to	 approve	 Special	 Use	 Permit	 #22‐051.	 Seconded	 by	
Commissioner	Cordill.	
 

schmitt
Highlight
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ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS: Commissioners McConnell, Cordill, Shrewsbury, Richards, Vice-Chair 
Trezise, Chair Blumer 

 
NAYS: None 
 
Motion carried: 6-0 

 
C.  Mixed-Use Planned Unit Development #22014 – 1621 & 1625 Haslett Road – 

Haslett Village 
 
This item has been removed from the agenda. 
 

D. Temporary Containers – Text Amendment 
 
Senior Planner Shorkey outlined the Temporary Containers Text Amendment for discussion. 
 
Vice-Chair Trezise asked if it should be made clear that in the case of multi-family 
developments that it is the building owner’s responsibility to enforce the Ordinance.   
 
Senior Planner Shorkey stated building owner enforcement is a strategy that is already used. 
 
Commissioner McConnell stated this could be interpreted as targeting a business that 
provides this service. 
 
Senior Planner Shorkey stated this Ordinance language has been used in other communities 
and “the pods” have become colloquial in Ordinance language. 
 
Chair Blumer referred this item back to staff for revision. 
 

E. Bath Township Master Plan – Discussion 
 
Senior Planner Shorkey outlined the Bath Township Master Plan for discussion. 
 
Commissioner McConnell stated he could not find their non-motorized transportation map, 
and stated we should see it for connectivity. 
 
Commissioner McConnell stated if the Planning Commission has plans to write a letter to Bath 
Township they should complement the wetland Ordinance to protect priority wetlands. He 
also suggested on Bath’s goal to, “draft a landscape Ordinance for new commercial industrial 
mixed use developments to better manage storm water in an aesthetic way”, to add language 
for managing storm water in light of expected changes in climate. He further stated the 
township could learn from Bath’s goal to review Zoning Ordinances, amending as necessary 
to allow for missing middle housing. 
 
Commissioner McConnell noted Bath Township’s urban service boundary is missing from 
their maps. 
 

F. Zoning Board of Appeals Liaison – Appointment 
Director Schmitt overviewed the process for the Zoning Board of Appeals Liaison. 

 



 

 
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

 

To:  Planning Commission  
 
From:  Keith Chapman, Assistant Planner 
 
Date:  April 20, 2022 
 
Re: Special Use Permit #22-051 – (3830 & 3836 Okemos Rd.) – Bickford Place 

Assisted Living Facility – Buildings over 25,000 square feet Special Use Permit  
 
 
JV Landlord-Lansing, LLC has requested a special use permit to construct a building greater than 
25,000 square feet in size at 3830 & 3836 Okemos Rd.  The subject site is zoned RA (Single Family, 
Medium Density).  The proposed project will contain 16 memory care units for residents who have 
significant memory issues. The existing one-story building contains 46 small apartment style units 
with a kitchenette consisting of a sink, refrigerator, and microwave. In total the proposed project is 
comprised of one building totaling 34,049 square feet in size. 
 
In addition to the special use permit request to construct 9,488 square foot building addition to the 
existing 24,561 square foot building (SUP #22-05011), a special use permit is required for 
constructing a building totaling more than 25,000 square feet in gross floor area (SUP #22-051).  
The special use permits are being processed concurrently.  This staff report focuses on the special 
use permit for construction of a building greater than 25,000 square feet in gross floor area.  The 
staff report for SUP #22-05011 should be referenced for a more complete overview of the project. 
 
The construction of any building or group of buildings with a combined gross floor area greater than 
25,000 square feet requires a special use permit due to the significant impact such development 
may have upon adjacent property owners, neighborhoods, and public infrastructure.  The Code of 
Ordinances requires the special use permit to ensure public utilities, roads, and other infrastructure 
systems are or will be adequate to support the proposed development. 
 
Planning Commission Options 
 
The Planning Commission may recommend approval, approval with conditions, or denial of the 
proposed special use permit.  The Township Board makes a final decision on special use permit 
requests for buildings over 25,000 square feet. A draft resolution is attached for the Planning 
Commission’s review.  
 
Attachment 
1. Draft resolution for approval 
2. Special Use Plan by Kebs, Inc. dated January 1, 2022 and received by the Township on March 24, 

2022 



RESOLUTION TO RECOMMEND APPROVAL Special Use Permit #22-051 
  Bickford Senior Living Facility 
 3830 & 3836 Okemos Road 
 
 At a regular meeting of the Planning Commission of the Charter Township of Meridian, 
Ingham County, Michigan, held at the Meridian Municipal Building, in said Township on the 25th 
day of April, 2022, at 7:00 p.m., Local Time. 
 
PRESENT: __________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 __________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
ABSENT: __________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 The following resolution was offered by Commissioner _______ and supported by 
Commissioner _______. 
 

WHEREAS, JV Landlord-Lansing, LLC has submitted a request to construct a building 
greater than 25,000 square feet in size at 3830 & 3836 Okemos Road; and 
 

WHEREAS, the proposed project is a adding a 9,488 square foot building addition to the 
existing 24,561 square foot building; and  
 

WHEREAS, a special use permit is required for constructing a building totaling more than 
25,000 square feet in gross floor area; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission held a public hearing at its regular meeting on April 
25, 2022 and has reviewed staff material forwarded under cover memorandums dated April 20, 
2022; and 
 

WHEREAS, the subject site is appropriately zoned RA (Single Family, Medium Density), 
which permits the construction of buildings greater than 25,000 square feet in floor area by special 
use permit; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the proposed project is consistent with the general standards for granting a 
special use permit found in Section 86-126 of the Code of Ordinances; and 
 

WHEREAS, public water and sanitary sewer services serve the subject site. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CHARTER 
TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN hereby recommends approval of Special Use Permit #22-051 to 
construct a 9,488 square foot building addition to an existing 24,561 square foot building, 
resulting in a building larger than 25,000 square feet, at 3830 & 3836 Okemos Road, subject to the 
following conditions: 
 
1. Approval is granted in general accordance with the Overall Special Use Plan by Kebs, Inc. dated 

January 1, 2022 and received by the Township on March 24, 2022.  
 
 



Resolution to Approve - SUP #22-051   Page 2 
Bickford Senior Living Center – 3830 & 3836 Okemos Rd. 

2. Any future building additions or revisions to the site layout will require amendments to the 
Special Use Permit. 
 
 

ADOPTED: YEAS:      __________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
     __________________________________________________________________________________ 
                                                                                           
 
  NAYS:   __________________________________________________________________________________                           
 
STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
    ) ss 
COUNTY OF INGHAM ) 

 
I, the undersigned, the duly qualified and acting Chair of the Planning Commission of the 

Charter Township Meridian, Ingham County, Michigan, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a 
true and a complete copy of a resolution adopted at a regular meeting of the Planning Commission 
on the 25th day of April, 2022. 
 
 
       ______________________________   
       Mark Blumer, Chair 
       Meridian Township Planning Commission 
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6. COMMUNICATIONS 
  

A. Timothy Mowers RE: MUPUD 22-014 
 
Chair Blumer noted a communication was hand delivered by Lynn Page just before the 
meeting. 

 
7. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 

A. Special Use Permit #22-05-011 – 3830 & 3836 Okemos Road – Bickford House Expansion 
 
Chair Blumer opened the Public Hearing at 7:12 pm. 
 
Director Schmitt outlined Special Use Permit #22-05-011 – 3830 & 3836 Okemos Road – 
Bickford House Expansion for Public Hearing. 
 
Commissioner Premoe asked why this establishment would have no traffic impact. 
 
Director Schmitt replied with only 16 memory care beds are being added and visitation will 
be minimal. 
 
Commissioner McConnell asked about the Special Use Permit numbering system. 
 
Director Schmitt explained the current numbering system is a holdover from his 
predecessor and he will be updating the system next year. 
 
Applicants Representative, Richard Eby, 13112 W. 126th St., Overland Park, Kansas further 
outlined Special Use Permit #22-05-011 – 3830 & 3836 Okemos Road, Bickford House 
Expansion for Public Hearing. 
 
Vice-Chair Trezise asked how much of the hill to the north will be taken down. 
 
Mr. Eby replied about half. 
 
Applicant’s engineer, Greg Petru 2116 Haslett Rd., Haslett, MI stated the parking lot will 
drain through a filtration area and into a detention area. He further stated he will try to save 
as many trees as he can along the north property line and the north east corner will be 
untouched. 
 
Commissioner McConnell stated about 18 of the trees on the northern slope will be saved 
and asked about what percentage is that of the total trees. 
 
Mr. Petru replied about half. 
 
Commissioner McConnell asked if there is a plan to plant woody planting on the slope. 
 
Mr. Petru replied they were willing to work with staff on that matter. 
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Commissioner McConnell stated he would like to see native plant species and additional 
trees planted on the slope. 
 
Chair Blumer asked about current staffing levels and how many new staff will be hired to 
accommodate the resident increase. 
 
Director of Bickford House, A’Lynne Dukes, 2515 Victor Ave., Lansing, MI stated there are 
currently five staff members during 1st and 2nd shift and three during 3rd shift. She expects to 
add two staff members to 1st and 2nd shift. 
 
Lynne Page, 3912 Rowley Dr., Okemos, MI spoke about the possible impact of this 
construction to the Briarwood Sub-Division. 
 
Captain Rick Grillo, 3847 New Salem Ave., Okemos, MI spoke in support of the addition. 
 
Chair Blumer asked Captain Grillo if this addition will have any impact on Meridian 
Township’s emergency services. 
 
Captain Grillo replied any impact would be minimal. 
 
Commissioner Richards asked if a solid fence will be constructed on the east side of the 
property between residential properties and parking area. 
 
Mr. Petru replied placing a fence anywhere but the very top of the hill wouldn’t help. 
 
Commissioner Richards suggested noise screening should be tested before approval and 
asked if the refuge container will remain where it currently is. 
 
Director Schmitt replied the container is moving further away from the residential area. 
 
Mr. Petru stated interlocking evergreens will be planted along the top of the slope. 

 
Ms. Dukes stated on Thursday there are two deliveries for produce and trash is picked up 
twice weekly.  
 
Commissioner Premoe asked what time of day deliveries are expected. 
 
Ms. Dukes stated trash is picked up at 8 am. And food delivery is scheduled between 6-11 
am on Thursdays. 
 
Chair Blumer called for a straw poll. 
 

STRAW POLL: YEAS: Vice-Chair Trezise, Commissioners Snyder, Richards, Cordill, 
Premoe, McConnell, Chair Blumer  

 
NAYS: NONE 

   
Commissioners are generally in support of this Special Use Permit but would like to see the 
following conditions: 

 Noise and odor regulation and screening 
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 Construction noise level screening 
 Efforts to avoid erosion on the bank 

 
Chair Blumer closed the Public Hearing at 8:02 pm. 
 

B. Special Use Permit #22-051 – 3830 & 3836 Okemos Road – Bickford House Expansion, 
structure greater than 25,000 square feet 
 
Chair Blumer Opened the Public Hearing at 8:02 pm 
 
Director Schmitt outlined Special Use Permit #22-051 – 3830 & 3836 Okemos Road – 
Bickford House Expansion, structure greater than 25,000 square feet for Public Hearing. 
 
Chair Blumer called for a straw poll. 
 

STRAW POLL: YEAS: Commissioners McConnell, Premoe, Cordill, Richards, Snyder, Vice-
_________Chair Trezise, Chair Blumer  

 
NAYS: NONE 

 
Chair Blumer Closed the Public Hearing at 8:05 pm. 
 

C. Mixed-Use Planned Unit Development #22014 – 1621 & 1625 Haslett Road – Haslett Village 
 
Chair Blumer opened the Public Hearing at 8:05 pm. 
 
Senior Planner Shorkey outlined Mixed-Use Planned Unit Development #22014 – 1621 & 
1625 Haslett Road – Haslett Village for Public Hearing. 
 
Commissioner McConnell stated the applicant needs two more amenity points from tier one 
amenities, and asked if they use one tier two amenity instead. 
 
Senior Planner Shorkey replied not for the building height, but if they lower building A1 by 
one foot the requirement goes away.  
 
Applicant’s representative Mike Bosgraaf, 873 S. Shore Dr., Holland, MI introduced the other 
applicants representatives and stated their roles in the project. 
 
Applicant’s representative Mike Corby, 840 Ottawa Ave., Grand Rapids, MI, further outlined 
Mixed-Use Planned Unit Development #22014 – 1621 & 1625 Haslett Road – Haslett Village 
for Public Hearing and listed the amenities planned for including: 
 
Tier 1 

 Dog Park 
 Trail Head 

 
Tier 2 

 Electric Car Charging Station 
 Outdoor Public Seating Plaza with Wi-Fi 

schmitt
Highlight



Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

12. C

To: Board Members 

From: Frank L. Walsh, Township Manager 

Date: June 3, 2022 

Re: Acceptance of 2021 Township Audit Findings 

As you are aware our former Finance Director left our team in April 2022.  At that time, the township 

was in the midst of developing our 2021 Audit.  The process following April 2022 has been 

challenging.  There were a significant number of holes to fill in the last six weeks. 

I want to personally acknowledge the unparalleled effort displayed over the last six weeks by Ali 

Barnes, Yeo and Yeo, Accountant Bernadette Faulkner, our new Finance Director Amanda Garber 

and Treasurer Deschaine.  Former Deputy Treasurer Mary Ann Groop was kind enough to come in 

and assist with the process.  Without their effort, we would not have completed our 2021 Audit by 

June 30, as required by the State of Michigan. 

I’m thrilled to be working with a loyal and positive team. 

On Tuesday evening, a presentation of the 2021 Audited Financial Statements will be given for the 

Board’s approval.  An annual audit, required by state statue, of accounts, financial records, and 

transactions has been completed by the independent certified public accounting firm of Yeo & Yeo.  

The firm was appointed by the Township through an open bid process in 2017.  

The audit process is an important benchmark regarding the Township’s management of our 

financial resources.  We are more than pleased with the results of the 2021 Audit and take great 

pride in our stewardship of the public trust. 

The following motion is prepared for Board consideration: 

MOVE TO APPROVE THE 2021 AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS PRESENTED BY 

YEO & YEO AND EXTEND OUR APPRECIATION TO THE AFOREMENTIONED TEAM 

MEMBERS WHO SERVED THE TOWNSHIP WITH DISTINCTION.  

Attachments: 
1. Government Letter from Yeo & Yeo
2. 2021 Audited Financial Statements



 

 

 
 
 
May 31, 2022 
 
 
Management and the Township Board 
Charter Township of Meridian 
5151 Marsh Road 
Okemos, MI 48864 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the 
aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information 
of Charter Township of Meridian (the Township) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021. We are 
required to communicate certain matters to you in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America that are related to internal control and the audit. 

Our communication includes the following: 

I. Auditors’ Communication of Significant Matters with Those Charged with Governance  

II. Communication of Internal Control Matters Identified During the Audit 

III. Matters for Management’s Consideration  

Matters for management’s consideration are not required to be communicated but we believe are valuable for 
management. 

We discussed these matters with various personnel in the Township during the audit and with management. We 
would also be pleased to meet with you to discuss these matters at your convenience. 

This information is intended solely for the information and use of the Township Board and management of the 
Township and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
 

 

Lansing, Michigan
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Appendix I 
Auditors’ Communication of Significant Matters with Those Charged with Governance 

Professional standards require that we provide you with information about our responsibilities under generally 
accepted auditing standards, as well as certain information related to the planned scope and timing of our audit. 
We have communicated such information in our engagement letter to you dated January 13, 2022. Professional 
standards also require that we communicate to you the following information related to our audit. 
 
Significant Audit Matters  
 
Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The significant 
accounting policies used by the Township are described in the footnotes of the financial statements. The 
Township has adopted the following Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statements effective January 
1, 2021:  

 Statement No. 98, The Annual Comprehensive Financial Report establishes the term annual 
comprehensive financial report and its acronym ACFR. That new term and acronym replace instances 
of comprehensive annual financial report and its acronym in generally accepted accounting principles 
for state and local governments. This Statement was developed in response to concerns raised by 
stakeholders that the common pronunciation of the acronym for comprehensive annual financial report 
sounds like a profoundly objectionable racial slur. This Statement’s introduction of the new term is 
founded on a commitment to promoting inclusiveness. 

 
We noted no transactions entered into by the Township during the year for which there is lack of authoritative 
guidance or consensus. All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial statement in the proper 
period.   

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are based 
on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about future 
events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial 
statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly from those 
expected. The most sensitive estimates affecting the Township’s financial statements were:   
 

 The useful lives of its capital assets. Useful lives are estimated based on the expected length of time 
during which the asset is able to deliver a given level of service.  

 Net pension liability (asset), and related deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources.  The estimate is based on an actuarial report.   

 Other postemployment benefits, and related deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources.  The estimate is based on an actuarial report. 

We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop these estimates in determining that they are 
reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 

Disclosures in the financial statements are neutral, consistent and clear.   

A significant risk is an identified and assessed risk of material misstatement that, in the auditor’s professional 
judgment, requires special audit consideration. Within our audit, we focused on the following areas. 
 

 Management override of controls 
 Improper revenue recognition 

 Turnover in Finance Director position 
 Unrecorded liabilities 

 



 

 

 3  

Accounting Standards 
 
The Governmental Accounting Standards Board has released additional Statements. Details regarding these 
Statements are described in Note 1 of the financial statements. 
 
Cybersecurity Posture 
 
Cybersecurity posture, an overall measure of cybersecurity strength, is more prevalent than ever as 
organizations continue to face cybersecurity risks.  Billions of emails are sent every day, some of which contain 
attachments with malicious files or malicious embedded links aimed at negatively impacting unsuspecting 
organizations. Not only can a successful attack cost thousands of dollars and put a strain on IT resources while 
remediation efforts are underway, but sensitive information may be breached. Additionally, cyber insurance 
coverage may be difficult or costly to obtain without adequate safeguards in place within your organization.  
 
Risk assessment is a first step in mitigating cybersecurity risks and improving your organization’s overall 
cybersecurity posture. The National Institute of Standards and Technology published Framework for Improving 
Critical Infrastructure Cybersecurity, which “enables organizations, regardless of size, degree of cybersecurity 
risk, or cybersecurity sophistication, to apply the principles and best practices of risk management to improving 
the security and resilience of critical infrastructure.” The framework is designed to cover five areas including 
identification, protection, detection, responsiveness and recovery. The publication can be found at www.nist.gov.  
Once you have performed a risk assessment, it’s time to take action.  A few simple solutions that are 
recommended to prevent cyber-attacks include: 
 

 Document your program – Identify specific roles and responsibilities as well as adopting security 
policies and procedures for your organization to follow, is generally a good practice to have guidelines 
to follow in the event of an attack. Annually, risks should be reassessed, and the program should be 
modified to address any identified risks. 

 Offsite back up location – Frequent data back ups are a good safeguard; but if your entire network is 
compromised, restoring a back up saved to the network, becomes problematic.  Routinely backing up 
data and storing offsite, allows for your organization to get back up and running as quickly as possible, 
if your network is attacked. 

 Require routine password changes – Frequently, people have a bad habit of using the same password 
for multiple applications.  Inevitably, at some point that password will likely be compromised in one of 
those applications.  Requiring users to change their password routinely, reduces the risk of your system 
being accessed with a compromised password.  Requiring a complex password to be of a certain length 
and contain a mixture of character types, reduces your risk even further. 

 Utilizing multifactor authentication (MFA) – knowing that people may use the same password to 
access multiple applications, this extra security layer makes it more difficult for attackers to gain access 
to your system.  Microsoft claims that MFA can block over 99.9 percent of account compromise attacks.  

 Provide cybersecurity training – Security awareness training provides a human firewall to protect your 
system.  Training sessions and automated simulated attacks are utilized to help train people on how to 
spot phishing email attacks.  Yeo & Yeo is able to provide security training to your employees.  

Placing significant emphasis on evaluating your organization’s cybersecurity posture, and channeling sufficient 
resources towards proper risk assessment, implementation, and education will reduce the likelihood of a 
cybersecurity threat and help lessen the impact of a breach.  
 
Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 
 
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our audit.  
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Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements  

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the audit, 
other than those that are clearly trivial and communicate them to the appropriate level of management. 
Management has corrected all such misstatements. 
 
The following material misstatements were detected as a result of our audit procedures and corrected by 
management: 
 

 An adjustment was required in the Sewer Fund to properly record a debt payment that was related to 
2021 but had not been paid until 2022. Prior to the recording of this adjustment, accounts payable was 
overstated by $1,728,450, prepaid expense was overstated by $275,696, accrued interest payable was 
understated by $286,292, interest expense was overstated by $176,882, and long-term debt was 
understated by $989,580. 

 An adjustment was required in the Downtown Development Authority Fund and the Brownfield 
Redevelopment Authority Fund to properly record taxes receivable and the related deferred inflows. Prior 
to this adjustment, taxes receivable and deferred inflows were understated by $17,390 in the Downtown 
Development Authority fund and by $328,372 in the Brownfield Redevelopment Authority fund. 

 
There were no known uncorrected misstatements that were more than trivial. 
 
Disagreements with Management 

For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing 
matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial statements or the 
auditor’s report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during the course of our audit.  
 
Management Representations 

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management 
representation letter dated as of the date of the audit report. 
 
Management’s Consultations with Other Accountants 

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a consultation involves application of an 
accounting principle to the Township’s financial statements or a determination of the type of auditor’s opinion 
that may be expressed on those statements, our professional standards require the consulting accountant to 
check with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were no such 
consultations with other accountants.   
 
Other Audit Findings or Issues 

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing 
standards, with management each year prior to retention as the Township’s auditors. However, these 
discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were not a 
condition to our retention. 
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Report on Required Supplementary Information 

We applied certain limited procedures to management’s discussion and analysis and the remaining required 
supplementary information (RSI) as described in the table of contents of the financial statements that 
supplements the basic financial statements. Our procedures consisted of inquiries of management regarding the 
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s 
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of 
the basic financial statements. We did not audit the RSI and do not express an opinion or provide any assurance 
on the RSI. 

Report on Other Supplementary Information 

We were engaged to report on other supplementary information as described in the table of contents of the 
financial statements, which accompany the financial statements but are not RSI. With respect to this 
supplementary information, we made certain inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, and 
methods of preparing the information to determine that the information complies with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America, the method of preparing it has not changed from the prior 
period, and the information is appropriate and complete in relation to our audit of the financial statements. We 
compared and reconciled the supplementary information to the underlying accounting records used to prepare 
the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves.  

Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
 

The Township’s audited financial statements are included in their annual comprehensive financial report.  Our 
responsibility for the other information contained in the annual comprehensive financial report does not extend 
beyond the financial information identified in our audit report.  We do not have an obligation to perform any 
procedures to corroborate the other information contained in the introductory section and statistical section.  
However, we read the other information and considered whether such information, or the manner of its 
presentation, was materially inconsistent with information, or the manner of its presentation, appearing in the 
financial statements.  Nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe that such information, or its manner 
of presentation, was materially inconsistent with the information, or manner of its presentation, appearing in the 
financial statements. 
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Appendix II   
Communication of Internal Control Matters Identified During the Audit 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of Charter Township of Meridian as of and for 
the year ended December 31, 2021, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America, we considered Charter Township of Meridian’s internal control over financial reporting 
(internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the 
purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Township’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Township’s internal control. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph and was 
not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses and, therefore, 
material weaknesses may exist that were not identified. However, as discussed below, we identified a certain 
deficiency in internal control that we consider to be a material weakness. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect and correct 
misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency or combination of deficiencies in internal 
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements 
will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  We consider the following deficiency in 
internal control to be a material weakness. 

Audit Adjustments 

We proposed to management, and they recorded, five adjusting journal entries. Of these adjustments, two 
journal entries were considered to be of a material dollar amount and are described further in Appendix I in the 
Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements section.  

The first material misstatement was a result of an error when recording a debt payment that was related to 2021 
but not paid until 2022. The Sewer Fund has several Wastewater Optimization Bonds with semi-annual 
payments, and the bill for the second 2021 payment was not received until 2022. The Township improperly 
included this payment in accounts payable and reduced long-term debt for the 2021 fiscal year. To reduce the 
risk of material misstatement in the future, we recommend that the Township reviews long-term debt at year end 
to ensure that it properly includes all debt still outstanding as of year-end.  

The second material misstatement resulted from incorrect reporting of year-end taxes receivable in two 
component unit funds. These funds record taxes receivable for property taxes related to the 2021 tax year, as 
those funds won’t receive most of the property tax revenue until after the fiscal year has ended. The Downtown 
Development Authority’s taxes receivable and related deferred inflows had improperly excluded a portion of 
property taxes ($17,390). Brownfield Redevelopment Authority’s taxes receivable and related deferred inflows 
had improperly excluded all of the property tax revenue related to the 2021 tax year ($328,372). We recommend 
that the Township reconciles taxes receivable and the related deferred inflows for these two Authority’s to ensure 
the receivable is complete when compared to the revenue that Authority expects to receive. This reconciliation 
should be reviewed by a second individual and the review should be documented.   
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Appendix II  
Matters for Management’s Consideration 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of Charter Township of Meridian as of and for 
the year ended December 31, 2021, we considered Charter Township of Meridian’s internal control over financial 
reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion 
on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Township’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Township’s 
internal control. 
 
However, during our audit we became aware of the following matters for management’s consideration that are 
opportunities for strengthening internal controls. This letter does not affect our report dated May 31, 2022, on 
the financial statements of Charter Township of Meridian.  Our comments and recommendations are:  
 
Utility Billing Receivable 
 
Based on our evaluation of the Township’s internal control, the receivable related to utility billings is reconciled 
each month between the general ledger and utility billing module, however, the receivable account is not fully 
reconciled. It is reconciled within a reasonable amount that is determined by the judgement of the Township’s 
finance director. We recommend that the receivable be reconciled completely to ensure there are no unusual 
items or items that may need to be adjusted. This will help reduce the risk of possible misstatements and ensure 
adjustments are made timely. 
 
Federal Policies and Procedures  
 
Uniform Guidance requires that all entities accepting federal funding must have minimum written policies and 
procedures about how internal controls and processes will be conducted over the federal awards. While some 
required written policies exist, the Township does not have a written federal policies and procedures manual and 
will be incurring significant federal expenditures based on current projections from the American Relief Plan Act. 
In order to be compliant with Uniform Guidance we suggest that written policies and procedures be developed 
based on the following compliance areas, with careful attention to the specified requirements in 2 CFR 200.    
  

 Cash management  
 Allowability of costs  
 Conducting technical evaluations  
 Equipment and real property management  
 Subrecipient monitoring  

 
Management has been provided example policies and procedures as well as checklists of requirements. We 
encourage the use of those documents in conjunction with the federal guidance in 2 CFR 200. 
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May 31, 2022 
 
To the Township Board and the Citizens of the Charter Township of Meridian: 
 
The comprehensive annual financial report of the Charter Township of Meridian (the “Township”) for the year ended 
December 31, 2021, is hereby submitted as mandated by both local ordinances and state statutes. These ordinances 
and statutes require that the Charter Township of Meridian issue annually a report on its financial position and activity, 
and that this report be audited by an independent certified public accounting firm. Responsibility for both the accuracy of 
the data, and the completeness and fairness of the presentation, including all disclosures, rests with management. To 
the best of our knowledge and belief, the enclosed data is accurate in all material respects and are reported in a manner 
that presents fairly the financial position and results of operations of the various funds and component units of the Charter 
Township of Meridian. All disclosures necessary to enable the reader to gain an understanding of the Charter Township 
of Meridian’s activities have been included. 
 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) requires that management provide a narrative introduction, overview, 
and analysis to accompany the basic financial statements in the form of the Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
(MD&A). This letter of transmittal is designed to complement the MD&A and should be read in conjunction with it. The 
Charter Township of Meridian’s MD&A can be found immediately following the report of the independent auditors. 
 
The financial reporting entity (the government) includes all the funds of the primary government (i.e., the Charter 
Township of Meridian) as legally defined, as well as all of its component units. Component units are legally separate 
entities for which the primary government is financially accountable. The government provides a range of services, 
including police and fire protection, water and sanitary sewer services, recreational activities, and cultural events. 
 
Discretely presented component units are reported in a separate column in the combined financial statements to 
emphasize that they are legally separate from the primary government and to differentiate their financial position, results 
of operations, and cash flows from those of the primary government. The Economic Development Corporation and the 
Downtown Development Authority are reported as discretely presented component units. 
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Governmental Structure, Local Economic Condition, and Outlook 
 
The governmental unit, organized in 1842 and chartered in 1959, is approximately 32 square miles in the south-central area of Lower Michigan with 
a population of approximately 40,000. The municipality is a largely residential area located east of Lansing, the State Capital, and immediately 
adjacent to East Lansing, home of Michigan State University, and is part of the Lansing Metropolitan Area. 
 
The Charter Township of Meridian was established pursuant to Act 359, Public Act of Michigan, 1947, as amended. The Township is governed by a 
Township Board, which is composed of a part-time Supervisor, full-time Clerk and full-time Treasurer, and four Trustees serving four-year terms. 
The Board is vested with all legislative powers, except those otherwise provided by law. The chief administrative officer is the Township Manager 
who is appointed by the Township Board and serves at its pleasure. The Manager is responsible for carrying out the policies and ordinances of the 
Township Board, for overseeing the day-to-day operations of the government, and for appointing the heads of the Township’s departments, 
consistent with the duties of a Township superintendent. 
 
The Charter Township of Meridian continues to be an attractive community for residential construction and commercial development. The following 
chart details the change in Taxable Value over the last ten years. The 2021 taxable value (2022 tax revenue) increased 2.25 percent over 2020 
taxable value. This is the eighth consecutive year of growth in taxable value since 2009; the 2021 taxable value is 11.7 percent higher than the 2009 
taxable value. The Township weathered the financial storm of the past several years by making changes to its organizational structure, increasing 
the usage of technology to maintain services to keep up with the demand of increased population and business activity, and monitoring and limiting 
discretionary spending where possible. The year ended December 31, 2021 was a very challenging year, but the Township continued to grow with 
new residents and businesses moving into the Township. 
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Major Initiatives 
 
The Township’s staff, following specific directives from the Township Board and Manager, has been involved in a variety of projects throughout the 
year. These projects reflect the Township’s commitment to promote the safety and welfare of its residents, as well as, investing in the infrastructure 
vital to sustaining quality service delivery. 

 
The following accomplishments are indicative of our commitment to maintaining a quality community: 
 

 The year 2021 was a banner year for road improvements in the Township. Honoring our commitment in 2019, 8.87 miles of neighborhood 
roads were reconstructed in 2021. The work affected many of our residents all summer, and we appreciate their patience and understanding 
as we completed our second year of the new 10-year road program. In addition to resurfacing work, our preservation program included 7.61 
miles of crack sealing and 1.5 miles of cape seal work. This preservation work will allow our roads with a Pavement Surface Evaluation and 
Rating (PASER) of “good” to “very good” to last longer and realize their full life expectancy. Funding for this preventative maintenance 
program is provided from the Township General Fund to allow all of the road bond revenue to go towards reconstruction and resurfacing 
work. The 2021 preservation program is still being completed. Once this work is completed, our local road network PASER rating will go 
from 5.08 in 2020 to 5.68 at the end of 2021.  Our 2027 goal is a PASER rating of 8. 
 

 In the summer of 2021, the Township completed the installation of a 142 kW DC flat panel system on the roof of the Service Center. In a 
typical year, on average, we anticipate the 142 kW system to generate 100% of the electrical usage of the Service Center. The system’s 
generation statistic and history can be viewed on our Township website. Based on the baseline electric usage year of 2018, the Township 
has seen considerable energy purchase requirements go down as significant capital investments into solar panels and energy efficient 
systems has been made at several Township Buildings. The Municipal Building, Service Center and the South Fire Station can now boast 
a 59% power purchase reduction requirement from the baseline year. Future capital investments and energy reduction projects, such as the 
office light conversion to LED’s completed in 2021 and budgeted for in 2022, will continue the progress made towards reaching the goals 
outlined in the Township Sustainability Plan. 

 
 Phase 1 and Phase 2 of the MSU to Lake Lansing Pathway is being prepared for bidding. Significant surveying and engineering were 

required in the development of these projects. Phase 1 is the more difficult of the two, as it includes a river crossing and skirts difficult terrain 
and required the acquisition of two parcels requiring environmental due diligence work. All funding for both phases 1 and 2 have been 
secured, and we look forward to starting construction in 2022. The Shaw Street connector was also constructed in 2021 in conjunction with 
the local road program. This connector will provide a route from the future MSU to Lake Lansing Phase III section in downtown Haslett to 
Lake Lansing South Park. Preliminary design for Phase III is underway as we look to secure the necessary land and funding for the final 
phase of the project. As part of the pathway work, several Rectangular Rapid Flashing Becon (RRFB)s were installed for safer pedestrian 
crossing at Central Park and Haslett/Van Atta. Two additional RRFBs will also be installed at Hagadorn/Shaw and on Okemos Road yet this 
year. The Pathway Master Plan was also updated for the next five years in summer of 2021. The plan was presented to several Boards and 
Commissions with final adoption by the Township Board. The 2021 Pathway Master Plan can be found on the Township’s website. 
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 Meridian Cares functions to ensure that the human infrastructure within the community remains strong and vital.  To that end, the program 
strives to help residents by developing, coordinating, and promoting local resources.  Information, referrals, or emergency assistance was 
provided to Township residents for various services on an as-needed basis.  In 2021, 802 requests were received and included, but were 
not limited to, emergency assistance for shelter, utilities, furniture, food, clothing, transportation, food baskets, or other issues.  Requests 
for assistance came from 439 households. 

 
 The Meridian Township Deer Management Program was developed to address the overpopulation of deer in our community that continues 

to cause numerous car-deer collisions, as well as excessive environmental impacts in parks, preserves and neighborhoods.  In total, 330 
deer were culled by volunteer archery hunters and the Meridian Police Department Staff which lead to 7,400 lbs. of venison donated to local 
food banks. The program took place on 41 township properties and 2 private properties (1,900 acres in total), as the result of collaboration 
between residential hunters and the Meridian Police Department and Sportsman Against Hunger.  

 The Community Planning and Development Department saw an increase in activity in 2021 from the prior year. On the Planning side, 14 
special use permits for 11 different properties and five amendments to previously approved Mixed-Use Planned Unit Development projects 
were processed and reviewed. There were a total of six rezoning requests submitted, four of which were approved in 2021, one of which was 
withdrawn, and one that was not approved until mid-2022 due to a traffic study delay. There were two zoning ordinance amendments 
processed in 2021, including the massive overhaul of the Mixed Use Planned Unit Development ordinance, which was several years in the 
making. On the Building side, over 1,100 building permits were issued, which was the highest number of permits issued in over 25 years. 
Trades permits were up as well, with over 650 electrical permits, 1,050 mechanical permits, and approximately 550 plumbing permits issued 
in the last year. Each one of those permits was inspected at least once and many were inspected multiple times, leading to thousands of 
hours of inspections. The rental inspection program began ramping back up after the COVID-19 pandemic led to residents and landlords 
alike wishing to defer inspections until the pandemic had subsided. 915 total new code enforcements were logged throughout the year, 
including multiple dozens in the Winslow Mobile Home Park.  
 

 Starting in 2021, with development in mind, the demolition of almost all buildings on the two-block redevelopment site of "Village of Okemos" 
was launched. By the end of the first week in January, all buildings from Bottoms Up to Tuba Museum were removed and the site was cleared. 
The internal discussion began for Meridian Township staff and the developer on how to accomplish this project post-COVID-19. The cost of 
materials and labor jumped at times to 40% of their regular market price. The volatile market conditions put a hold on forward progress of 
many projects. The Village of Okemos, Pine Village a 55+ Independent Living Facility, Joes on Jolly, and other developments saw industry 
lag times of 6+ months in relation to construction. Meridian Township staff worked diligently to get the project to a launch point. The Village 
of Okemos developers will submit their funding request to the Michigan Economic Development Corporation (MEDC) through the 
Revitalization and Placemaking or RAP grant. Following the application to the RAP, the Village of Okemos will then submit a request to the 
MEDC for funding to support the gap in financing. If approved, site work can begin on the project in the fall of 2022. 

 The Haslett Village Square complex at 1655 Haslett Road is under discussion for potential redevelopment. A developer from Holland, MI is 
interested in redeveloping the site to include a mix of commercial and residential space in Haslett. A public community hub is proposed to 
allow for outdoor dining, Wi-Fi access, a fireplace, and more. The project could be supported through a Brownfield reimbursement and 
commercial rehabilitation exemption to allow for construction to occur. The Township could see development begin as early as 2022. 
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 The Township will be fulfilling the promise of enhanced pension payments to MERS by contributing over $4,760,790 to MERS for the fiscal 
year 2021.  The Township contributed an extra $1,750,000 to the plan, and is using a 5.35% rate of return assumption and not the 7.35% 
rate of return assumption used by MERS. 

 During the calendar year 2021, the Meridian Township Treasurer’s Office reported a total property taxes collected and distributed of 
$109,131,271.  This is up from 105,219.167 in 2020, $102,919,241 collected in 2019, and $95,411,904 collected in 2018.  These receipts 
were distributed to our four local school districts (Okemos, Haslett, East Lansing and Williamston), Ingham County Government, Lansing 
Community College (LCC), Capital Area Transit Authority (CATA), Capital Area District Library (CADL) and the Capital Region Airport 
Authority (CRAA).  Meridian Township operations received approximately 20% of the tax collection in 2021. 
 

 In 2021, Meridian Township Fire Department responded to 5,590 calls – 965 fire-related calls and 4,627 emergency medical calls. Training 
classes were held throughout the year to allow employees to enhance their ice rescue and tech rescue skills and renew their ACLS 
credentials. In addition, the Department purchased new Personal Protective Equipment (PPE), structural firefighting gear and a Utility Terrain 
Vehicle (UTV) to support safer responses during emergencies. Recruitment efforts continued to fill the remaining vacancies, resulting in the 
hire of three new firefighters. In 2021, MTFD continued the project to install emergency warning sirens throughout the Township protecting 
residents from severe weather and other emergencies.  

 
 The year 2021 marked our tenth siren installed, near Lake Lansing and Park Lake Roads. In 2022, an eleventh, outdoor warning siren will 

be installed in the area of Tihart and Cornell Roads. The goal is to finish installation of the remaining five sirens by 2026.  
 

 The Meridian Township Police Department (MTPD) is committed to establishing and maintaining partnerships in our community; and with 
understanding, cooperation and equality we strive to enhance the quality of life and protect the rights of the community. The constant open 
communication between officers and citizens is the keystone to building a partnership based on understanding and trust. In 2021, there were 
17,211 calls for service (excluding 3,646 traffic stops). 
 

 Meridian Township Police Department views traffic safety as a key to keeping the community safe. Working with community members, Ingham 
County Road Department, and the Michigan Department of Transportation to address concerns related to roadway designs and maintenance 
is a priority. In 2021, 19 traffic studies and 39 directed patrols were completed. 

 
 A unique partnership between Meridian Township Police Department and the Community Mental Health Authority of Clinton, Eaton, and 

Ingham Counties (CMHA-CEI) was established in March of 2021. The agencies identified the need for a more efficient, low impact, customer 
service-oriented way to provide services to our community. The intent of the program is to provide services in the individual’s home 
environment in an effort to reduce incarceration, hospitalizations, and to keep officers and customers safe by leveraging video conferencing 
technology to provide swift access to services provided by clinicians at CMHA-CEI. Officers used video-conferencing in 22 incidents in 2021, 
during which the patient was transported 5 times. The remaining 17 incidents resulted in no action or a follow-up appointment with a clinician. 
As a result of this program, swift and necessary services are provided to the community who require assistance during a mental crisis.  MTPD 
was the pilot agency for this program and, due to our successful partnership with CMHA-CEI, the program will continue to expand its services. 
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 Since December of 2020, the Department has hired six officers. Four of these officers were former MTPD cadets and three were sponsored 
by the Township through the Mid-Michigan Police Academy. New committees have been formed including a social media committee, a 
uniform committee, and a health and wellness committee with the goal of incentivizing officers to stay at the Department.  A retention 
committee was also formed that will meet regularly to discuss ideas on how to retain employees. The Department is currently staffed with 36 
sworn officers. There are three qualified candidates currently in the hiring process. 

 The Farmers’ Market continues to be a bright spot for our residents and visitors alike.  The Market operated a total of 59 days in 2021 (41 
Saturdays and 18 Wednesdays). The new home at Marketplace on the Green has assisted greatly with enhanced parking, accessibility, 
space and social opportunities.  The Wednesday markets from July-October hosted free live music concerts from 6:00pm-9:00pm with food 
trucks and entertainment on Saturdays, as well.  Quick Facts: 130 unique vendors ● 62 new vendors ● Total Customers: 95,218 people ● 
Food assistance utilized at the Market: Total= $48,210 (doubled from 2020). 
 

 The Meridian Conservation Corps consists of 185 total members (50 new members in 2021) who volunteered 1,047 hours.  Planting a Native 
Meridian launched in May 2021.  While removing invasive species is a top stewardship priority, planting native species in their place is just as 
important.  Quick Facts: 220 native trees planted ● 150 native flower plugs planted ● thousands of seeds collected. The Invasive Species 
Strike Team works hard throughout the season to bring stewardship to as many parks and preserves as possible, removing invasive species 
to open up habitat for native plants, wildlife, and insects.  Quick Facts: ● 1,000 pounds of invasive species removed ● 30 stewardship work 
days ● 19 species of invasive plants managed and mapped with GIS.  This year marked the start of annual neighborhood cleanups that will 
continue to grow and include more Township areas. This is the start of a partnership between residents, local businesses and the Township 
to create a cleaner, safer and more sustainable community. 3,160 pounds of litter were removed from pathways, parks, and preserves in the 
Township. 

 
 The Technology Team worked with Administration to select a vendor to do a complete evaluation of the aging technology infrastructure 

deployed across Township facilities. Policies, network design, and existing infrastructure were carefully examined throughout the final months 
of 2021. IT staff produced a myriad of documentation and worked with the selected consultant, Brightline, to evaluate network health and 
determine next best steps. Survey results and recommended project lists for 2022 are expected in February 2022.  
 

 The Township Website Redesign Project initially began in 2020 with an internal audit of website content. In April 2021, the Granicus Project 
Manager and Communications staff started the Innovator Redesign Implementation Timeline with the Discovery/Consulting Phase of the 
project. Website traffic tracking utilizing heat maps and analytical data was the baseline for layout and design decisions. The Graphic Design, 
Development, Content Migration and Soft Launch Phases of the project took several months to complete. The redesigned website was 
launched and live to the public on November 15. The goal of the website refresh is to strengthen the Township's online presence and includes 
a new look and experience for site visitors. Added features and modified navigation provides community members with improved functionality 
and encourage additional use of the Township's online services such as live web forms, online payments and the new Service Finder 
component. The website remains mobile friendly and responsive. Accessibility enhancements have also been made and will continue to be 
addressed in the future. The website redesign has been undertaken as part of an existing contract with the Township's website host, Granicus, 
at minimal cost to the Township.  
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 In January, our DEI Task force created its mission statement, “To promote and support a diverse, equitable, and inclusive workforce through 
training, evaluation, and action.”  We united our MTEAM, and Trustees Wisinski and Jackson (the latter two also happen to be on our task 
force) to attend a 4-hour introductory session with the Michigan Department of Civil Rights.  We gathered via Zoom to learn about ourselves 
and each other on the topic of implicit bias.  Training opportunities will continue with regularity through multiple trainers.  Leaders and 
employees will be invited to attend training on various DEI-related topics.   
 

 Since March of 2020, the Township has diligently worked to provide service to residents and continue operations to the extent permitted while 
in the midst of the COVID-19 global pandemic.  The Township implemented a Safe Work from Home Program from November 2020 through 
May 2021, for employees whose work could, at least in part, be completed at home due to necessity caused by the pandemic.  The Township 
continues to serve our residents without interruption.  Serving in its capacity as COVID-19 Workplace Coordinator, HR maintains its 
connection with leadership and employees, to ensure that necessary steps and precautions are followed to ensure safety while working and 
serving our community.  We have been fortunate for the support and assistance from our Fire Chief and EMS Training Chief, for their ongoing 
assistance and providing COVID-19 testing for our first responders.   

 
Financial Information 

 
Internal Controls: Management of the Township is responsible for establishing and maintaining an internal control structure designed to ensure that 
the assets of the government are protected from loss, theft, or misuse, and to ensure that adequate accounting data are compiled to allow for the 
preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. The internal control structure is designed to provide 
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that these objectives are met. The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that: (1) the cost of a control 
should not exceed the benefits likely to be derived; and (2) the valuation of costs and benefits requires estimates and judgments by management. 

 

Budgetary Controls: The Township maintains extensive budgetary controls. Formal budgets are adopted for all funds on a functional level. However, 
budgetary controls are exercised at a line item level for internal control purposes. The government maintains an encumbrance accounting system. 
Encumbered amounts lapse at year end. However, outstanding encumbrances, depending on their nature, may be re-appropriated as part of the 
following year’s budget. 

 
Long-term Planning: The Township prepares a one-year budget; however, longer range planning is also utilized to ensure that future needs and 
opportunities are addressed. These planning tools include the following: 

 
Capital Improvements Plan (CIP) – A review of planned public improvements in the next five years, which is updated annually. 

 
Technology Upgrade/Replacement Plan – A 10-year plan which is updated annually as part of the budget process. 

 
Vehicle Replacement Plan – A 10-year plan for replacing township vehicles and heavy equipment that is reviewed annually as part of the budget 
process. 
 
Tax Revenue Projections – A five-year estimate of future tax revenues based on economic reports, expected change in tax base, and anticipated 
tax rates that is updated annually. 
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Policy Governance Manual – Policy statements and priorities set forth by the Township Board, updated annually. 
 
Park Maintenance Plan – A five-year plan for maintaining the Township parks, updated annually. 

 
Water & Sewer Rate Model – A 10-year projection of commodity, capital, and maintenance costs, updated annually. 

 
Pension and Retiree Health Benefits Funding – The Township continues to monitor funding of both pension plans and the retiree health insurance 
plan and is continuing to budget contributions to these plans. 

 
2021 Financial Condition: The financial condition and results of operations for 2021 are discussed in the Management’s Discussion & Analysis 
section of the CAFR. The Township continues to maintain a strong financial position and provides services from current revenues. 

 
Relevant Financial Policies: There have been no situations that have affected the application of the Township’s standard financial policies. 

 
Other Information 

 
Independent Audit. An annual audit, required by state statute, of accounts, financial records, and transactions has been completed by the 
independent certified public accounting firm of Yeo & Yeo. The firm was appointed by the Township through an open bid process in 2017. Bids are 
requested every five to seven years. 

 

Certificate of Achievement. The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a Certificate of 
Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the Charter Township of Meridian for its Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the fiscal 
year ended December 31, 2020. 

 
Acknowledgments. The preparation of this report could not have been accomplished without the efficient and dedicated services of the Finance 
Department staff and the Treasurer’s Department. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 

 
 
Frank L. Walsh 
Township Manager 
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Independent Auditors’ Report 
Township Board 
Charter Township of Meridian 
Ingham County, Michigan 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinions 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, 
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Charter Township of Meridian, as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021, and the 
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Township’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 
 
In our opinion, based on our audit and the report of other auditors, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, 
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Charter Township of Meridian as of December 31, 2021, and the respective changes in 
financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. 
 
We did not audit the financial statements of the East Lansing – Meridian Water and Sewer Authority, a joint venture, which represents 7.38 percent of the 
assets of the business-type activities as of December 31, 2021, and the respective changes in financial position, and where applicable, cash flows thereof 
for the year then ended. Those statements were audited by other auditors whose report has been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to 
the amounts included for the East Lansing – Meridian Water and Sewer Authority, a joint venture, is based solely on the report of the other auditors.  
 
Basis for Opinions 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be 
independent of Charter Township of Meridian, and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to 
our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 
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Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise 
substantial doubt about Charter Township of Meridian’s ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, 
including any currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a 
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial 
statements. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, we: 
 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. 
 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness Charter Township of Meridian’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is 
expressed. 
 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well 
as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about Charter Township 
of Meridian’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, 
significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we identified during the audit. 
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Required Supplementary Information  
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s discussion and analysis and other required 
supplementary information, as identified in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information is the 
responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who 
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical 
context. We and other auditors have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and 
comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained 
during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited 
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Supplementary Information  
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise Charter Township of Meridian’s basic 
financial statements. The other supplementary information, as identified in the table of contents, is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not 
a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other 
additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the other supplementary 
information, as identified in the table of contents, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 
 
Other Information 
 
Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other information comprises the introductory and statistical sections 
but does not include the basic financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon.  Our opinions on the basic financial statements do not cover the other 
information, and we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and consider whether a material 
inconsistency exists between the other information and the basic financial statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.  If, based on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information exists, we are required to 
describe it in our report. 
 

 
 
Lansing, Michigan 
May 31, 2022 
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The Township’s Annual Comprehensive Financial Report is presented in the format required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) Statement No. 34.  The 2021 annual report consists of five parts:  (1) management’s discussion and analysis, (2) the basic financial 
statements, (3) required supplementary information, (4) other supplementary information that presents combining statements for nonmajor 
governmental funds, and (5) a statistical section.  The basic financial statements include two kinds of statements that present different views of the 
Township. The first two statements are government-wide financial statements that provide both long-term and short-term information about the 
Township’s overall financial status.  The remaining statements are fund financial statements that focus on individual parts of the Township’s 
government, reporting the Township’s operations in more detail than the government-wide statements. 
 
Government-wide Statements 
 
The government-wide statements report information about the Township as a whole using accounting methods similar to those used by private sector 
companies.  The statement of net position includes all of the government’s assets and deferred outflows of resources and liabilities and deferred 
inflows of resources.  All of the current year’s revenues and expenses are accounted for in the statement of activities regardless of when cash is 
received or paid.  The two government-wide statements report the Township’s net position and how it has changed.  Net position, the difference 
between the Township’s assets and deferred outflows of resources and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, is one way to measure the 
Township’s financial health or position. 
 
The government-wide financial statements of the Township are divided into three categories: 
 
 Governmental Activities – Most of the Township’s basic services are included here, such as police, fire, streets and highways, recreation, parks, 

and general administration.  Property taxes, state-shared revenue, and charges for services provide most of the funding. 
 

 Business-type Activities – The Township charges fees to customers to cover the costs of certain services it provides.  The Township’s water and 
sewer system is treated as a business-type activity. 

 
 Component Units – The Township includes three other entities in its report:  the Downtown Development Authority, the Brownfield Redevelopment 

Authority, and the Economic Development Corporation.  Although legally separate, these “component units” are important because the Township 
is financially accountable for them. 

 
Fund Financial Statements 
 
The fund financial statements provide more detailed information about the Township’s most significant funds – not the Township as a whole.  Funds 
are accounting devices that the Township uses to keep track of specific sources of revenue and spending for particular purposes.  Some funds are 
required by state law and bond covenants.  The Township’s Board establishes other funds to control and manage money for particular purposes. 
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Fund Financial Statements (continued) 
 
The Township has three kinds of funds: 
 
 Governmental Funds – Most of the Township’s basic services are included in governmental funds, which focus on how cash and other financial 

assets that can be readily converted to cash flow in and out and the balances left at year end that are available for spending.  The governmental 
fund statements provide a detailed short-term view that helps you determine whether there are more or fewer financial resources that can be 
spent in the near future to finance the Township’s programs. 
 

 Proprietary Funds – Services for which the Township charges customers a fee are generally reported in proprietary funds.  Proprietary funds, 
like government-wide statements, provide both long and short-term financial information. 
 

 Fiduciary Funds – The Township is responsible for ensuring that the assets reported in these funds are used for their intended purpose (taxes 
collected on behalf of other agencies and retirement payments).  All of the Township’s fiduciary activities are reported in a separate statement of 
fiduciary net position.  We exclude these activities from the Township’s government-wide financial statements because the Township cannot use 
these assets to finance its operations. 
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Financial Overview 
 
In a condensed format, the table below shows a comparison of the net position as of the current date to the prior year: 
 

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Assets

   Current assets  $      59,769,890  $      56,916,665  $     13,996,763  $     11,300,352  $    73,766,653  $    68,217,017 

   Capital assets          63,411,533          57,658,440         64,805,905         67,289,180      128,217,438      124,947,620 

   Investment in joint venture                        -                          -             6,282,032           5,910,078          6,282,032          5,910,078 

   Total assets        123,181,423        114,575,105         85,084,700         84,499,610      208,266,123      199,074,715 

Deferred outflows of resources

Deferred OPEB               672,140               132,405                        -                          -               672,140             132,405 

Deferred pension            7,634,647            6,032,796              228,266              180,869          7,862,913          6,213,665 

   Current liabilities            8,306,787            6,165,201              228,266              180,869          8,535,053          6,346,070 

Liabilities

   Current liabilities            3,417,582            2,048,095           1,040,882              399,002          4,458,464          2,447,097 

   Long-term liabilities          36,275,734          38,763,069         26,460,333         27,652,805        62,736,067        66,415,874 

   Total liabilities          39,693,316          40,811,164         27,501,215         28,051,807        67,194,531        68,862,971 

Deferred inflows of resources

   Property taxes levied for a 

       subsequent period          21,015,517          20,098,778                        -                          -          21,015,517        20,098,778 

   Deferred OPEB            1,904,416            2,418,763                        -                          -            1,904,416          2,418,763 

   Deferred pension            2,641,310               948,762                61,825                12,873          2,703,135             961,635 

   Special assessments levied for

       a subsequent period               472,985            1,023,924                        -                          -               472,985          1,023,924 

   Total deferred inflows of resources          26,034,228          24,490,227                61,825                12,873        26,096,053        24,503,100 

Net Position

Net investment in capital assets          55,087,882          51,738,456         39,140,818         40,505,019        94,228,700        92,243,475 

   Restricted          13,626,604          12,130,341                        -                          -          13,626,604        12,130,341 

   Unrestricted          (2,953,820)          (8,429,882)         18,609,108         16,110,780        15,655,288          7,680,898 

   Total net position  $      65,760,666  $      55,438,915  $     57,749,926  $     56,615,799  $  123,510,592  $  112,054,714 

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total
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The Charter Township of Meridian had combined net position of $123.5 Million.  Business-type activities comprise $57.7 million and governmental 
activities make up $65.8 million of the total net position.  The total net position increased in total by $11.4 million, or 10.22%.  This increase is due to 
the $3.3 million increase in capital assets, a $5.5 million increase in current assets, and a decrease of $3.7 million in Long-term liabilities. 
 
There was a $1.5 million increase in the restricted net position. 
 
The current ratio (current assets divided by current liabilities) is at 16.55, a decrease from 27.88 in 2020.  The decrease in this ratio is related to an 
increase in current liabilities. The addition is from accounts payable and accrued liabilities.  This ratio shows that the Township has adequate current 
assets to meet its current obligations. 
 
Long-term liabilities of $62.7 million represent 50.8% of net position; however, $24.8 million of this is the net pension and OPEB liability.  This is a 
decrease of $3.7 million from 2020.  The decrease is due to a reduction of $2.5 million in Governmental liabilities and a reduction of $1.2 million in 
Business liabilities. The Township is working on reducing the pension and OPEB liabilities through contract changes and additional payments. 
 
Governmental Activities 
 
Revenues for governmental activities totaled approximately $33.7 million in 2021.  A total of $20.6 million was in the form of property tax collections 
and $5.9 million was charges for services.  Revenue from other sources was fairly consistent with 2020. 
 
Expenses for governmental activities totaled $23.3 million.  A little less than half (47.5 %) of this expense funded public safety in the Township. 
 
Business-type Activities 
 
Business-type activities in the Township include water and sewer services.  Revenue for business-type activities totaled $13.4 million; $12.9 million 
was collected from customers and $.09 million is the value of assets contributed by developers.  The Township purchases water from the East Lansing-
Meridian Water Sewer Authority and the Board of Water and Light, and water is distributed by the Township through mains to customers. The Township 
contracts for sewage treatment from the City of East Lansing Wastewater Treatment Plant. Township residential customers are billed quarterly for 
water and sewer service based on water consumption.  Commercial customers are billed monthly. 
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The following table shows the changes in net position: 
 

 

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
Revenue
   Program revenue:
   Charges for services $5,923,102 $5,210,594 $12,864,283 $12,952,052 $18,787,385 $18,162,646 
   Operating grants and       
       contributions                855,790             1,460,279                                 -                               -                      855,790               1,460,279 
   Capital grants and 
       contributions             1,535,977                252,000                       93,913             1,300,487                 1,629,890               1,552,487 

   General Revenue:
   Property taxes          20,619,681          20,099,409                                 -                               -                20,619,681             20,099,409 
   State sources             4,332,799             3,728,315                                 -                               -                   4,332,799               3,728,315 
   Unrestricted investment 
       income (loss)                213,544                719,611                       45,699                   22,946                    259,243                   742,557 
   Gain on Sale of capital assets                153,641                     5,490                                 -                               -                      153,641                        5,490 
   Other miscellaneous income                   31,840                622,703                    371,954                             -                      403,794                   622,703 

   Total revenue          33,666,374          32,098,401              13,375,849          14,275,485              47,042,223             46,373,886 

Program	Expenses
   General government             5,037,348             5,350,419                                 -                               -                   5,037,348               5,350,419 
   Public safety          11,088,356          12,449,920                                 -                               -                11,088,356             12,449,920 
   Public works             2,127,485             1,850,883                                 -                               -                   2,127,485               1,850,883 
   Health and welfare                232,885                196,026                                 -                               -                      232,885                   196,026 

Community and
economic development             1,554,245                128,695                                 -                               -                   1,554,245                   128,695 

   Recreation and culture             2,944,096             1,221,131                                 -                               -                   2,944,096               1,221,131 
   Interest on long-term debt                360,208                400,206                                 -                               -                      360,208                   400,206 
   Water and sewer                             -                               -                12,241,722          12,092,026              12,241,722             12,092,026 

   Total program expenses          23,344,623          21,597,280              12,241,722          12,092,026              35,586,345             33,689,306 
 
Change	in	Net	Position          10,321,751          10,501,121                 1,134,127             2,183,459              11,455,878             12,684,580 

Net Position – beginning of
year          55,438,915          44,937,794              56,615,799          54,432,340           112,054,714             99,370,134 

Net	Position	–	end	of	year $65,760,666 $55,438,915 $57,749,926 $56,615,799 $123,510,592 $112,054,714 

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total
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Current Economic Events 
 
The Township continues to experience a relatively healthy economy in the community.  This is seen in a relatively stable housing market, as well as 
some new construction growth.  The Township saw an increase in taxable value through 2008.  The 2009 taxable value and tax revenues were flat, 
but in 2010 through 2012 both taxable value and tax revenue experienced decreases. The 2013 taxable value decreased, however the increase of 
0.05 mills kept the tax revenue flat for 2013. The 2014 taxable value decreased, however revenue increased due to the addition of 0.2 mills.  In 2015, 
the taxable value increased for the first time since 2008.  Looking forward to 2022, we see that the taxable value will continue to increase for the 
seventh year in a row, bringing us 11.7% above 2009.  This, coupled with rising costs, continues to create challenges to maintain existing services 
levels. 
 
Personnel costs represent approximately 72.4% of the governmental operating expenses of the Township.  The increasing cost of healthcare and 
legacy costs continue to be a concern.  Changes in programs and employee cost-sharing agreements in the past couple of years have helped to 
contain healthcare costs; however, they continue to rise along with payroll taxes, pension, and other personnel costs.  Operating efficiencies, 
organizational restructuring, and improved technology have helped to contain expenditures to available revenue. 
 
Financial Analysis of Township Funds and Budgets 
 
The General Fund ended 2021 with an unassigned fund balance of approximately $10.2 million (compared with $9.3 million in 2020).  This represents 
approximately 5 months of annual expenditures, which is within the requirements of policy governance established by the Township’s board.  The 
total increase in fund balance is approximately $3.0 million.  The overall increase is a result of an increase of $0.5 million of State-shared revenue 
and a reduction of expenses for General Government of $1.7 million. The Township has continued to operate with a balanced budget.  This has been 
accomplished with the dedicated efforts of all employees to work more efficiently, manage expenditures, and enhance revenue whenever possible. 
 
The Land Preservation Fund continues to maintain a healthy fund balance of $7.3 million.  The fund balance increased $.08 million from 2020 mainly 
attributable to millage collected. 
 
The Local Roads fund has a fund balance of $4.7 million.  The fund balance decrease $2.9 million from 2020 attributed to fixing and maintain the 
townships road system.   
 
Budget Variances 
 
All funds of the Township operate with a board-approved budget.  These budgets are monitored and amended as needed throughout the year.  Such 
amendments are primarily related to projects carried over from the prior year and unanticipated projects or revenue.  In addition, unexpected changes 
in projected revenues may result in changes to the expenditure budgets (e.g., reduction in state-shared revenue). 
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The actual vs. budget variances in the General Fund are the result of efforts to keep costs below budget.  On the revenue side, the largest positive 
variances occurred in the State-shared revenue and charges for services related to the Planning department.  On the expenditure side, the 
departments with the largest variances (expenditures under budget) include Police Department, Fire Department, and Meridian Redevelopment.   
The General fund had no significant budget amendments during the year. 
 
Capital Assets Activity 
 
There were several small projects in 2021, including installation of solar panels at the service center and finishing Harris Nature Center Pavilion & 
restroom.    
 
Additional information about capital assets is presented in Note 7 to the financial statements. 
 
Long-term Debt Activity 
 
The Township continued to pay off its debt and made principal payments on the outstanding governmental activities debt of approximately $3,790,000 
during 2021.  Outstanding governmental activities debt at December 31, 2021 including compensated absences was approximately $12.2 million. 
The Township added 3.1 million in new debt for Nemoka Drain Project.  
 
For business-type activities, the Township recorded $1.2 million of new debt for wastewater system improvements and paid down approximately $2.4 
million of existing debt.  Ending business-type debt including compensated absences was approximately $25.7 million.  
 
More detailed information about long-term liabilities is presented in Note 9 to the financial statements. 
 
Contact Us 
 
This report is intended to aid our residents and other interested parties in understanding the Township’s financial condition.  Should you have further 
questions, please contact the Finance Department at the Township’s Municipal Building. 
 



Governmental Business-type Component
Activities Activities Total Units

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 38,409,677$       9,266,298$         47,675,975$       162,111$            
Investments 6,429,378           1,938,560           8,367,938           -                      
Receivables

Taxes 11,615,382         -                      11,615,382         357,147              
Customers -                      2,421,694           2,421,694           -                      
Special assessments 1,343,406           -                      1,343,406           -                      
Other, net of allowance 508,703              -                      508,703              -                      

Due from other units of government 728,113              -                      728,113              -                      
Internal balances (15,638)               15,638                -                      -                      
Inventories -                      316,098              316,098              -                      
Prepaid items 252,032              38,475                290,507              -                      
Investment in joint venture -                      6,282,032           6,282,032           -                      
Net pension asset 498,837              -                      498,837              -                      
Capital assets not being depreciated 36,302,541         363,060              36,665,601         -                      
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 27,108,992         64,442,845         91,551,837         -                      

Total assets 123,181,423       85,084,700         208,266,123       519,258              

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred amount related to net OPEB liability 672,140              -                      672,140              -                      
Deferred amount related to net pension liability 7,634,647           228,266              7,862,913           -                      

Total deferred outflows of resources 8,306,787           228,266              8,535,053           -                      

Liabilities
Accounts payable 684,512              298,310              982,822              -                      
Accrued and other liabilities 256,980              433,943              690,923              -                      
Due to other units of government 1,389                  -                      1,389                  -                      
Performance bonds and other deposits payable 136,034              308,629              444,663              -                      
Unearned revenue 2,338,667           -                      2,338,667           -                      
Long-term debt

Due within one year 4,140,904           2,239,811           6,380,715           -                      
Due in more than one year 8,063,518           23,511,630         31,575,148         -                      

Net OPEB liability (due in more than one year) 361,292              -                      361,292              -                      
Net pension liability (due in more than one year) 23,710,020         708,892              24,418,912         -                      

Total liabilities 39,693,316         27,501,215         67,194,531         -                      

Charter Township of Meridian
Statement of Net Position

December 31, 2021

Primary Government

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Governmental Business-type Component
Activities Activities Total Units

Charter Township of Meridian
Statement of Net Position

December 31, 2021

Primary Government

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Property taxes levied for a subsequent period 21,015,517$       -$                    21,015,517$       356,948$            
Special assessments levied for a subsequent period 472,985              -                      472,985              -                      
Deferred amount related to net OPEB liability 1,904,416           -                      1,904,416           -                      
Deferred amount related to net pension liability 2,641,310           61,825                2,703,135           -                      

Total deferred inflows of resources 26,034,228         61,825                26,096,053         356,948              

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 55,087,882         39,140,818         94,228,700         -                      
Restricted for 

Land preservation 7,318,643           -                      7,318,643           -                      
Pedestrian/bike path millage 2,039,780           -                      2,039,780           -                      
Fire 6,393                  -                      6,393                  -                      
Police   69,238                -                      69,238                -                      
Senior center millage 342,709              -                      342,709              -                      
Cable TV 216,276              -                      216,276              -                      
Community needs 106,266              -                      106,266              -                      
Library 13,558                -                      13,558                -                      
Grants 133,136              -                      133,136              -                      
CATA millage 10,066                -                      10,066                -                      
Local roads 1,618,852           -                      1,618,852           -                      
Park millage 386,547              -                      386,547              -                      
Fire station debt service 472,286              -                      472,286              -                      
Road debt service 892,854              -                      892,854              -                      

Unrestricted (deficit) (2,953,820)          18,609,108         15,655,288         162,310              

Total net position 65,760,666$       57,749,926$       123,510,592$     162,310$            

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Operating Capital

Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental Business-type Component
Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total Units

Functions/Programs

Primary government
Governmental activities

General government 5,037,348$      1,496,517$      349,201$         -$                 (3,191,630)$    -$                 (3,191,630)$    -$                 
Public safety 11,088,356      3,077,988        43,816             -                   (7,966,552)       -                   (7,966,552)       -                   
Public works 2,127,485        1,050,000        -                   784,154           (293,331)          -                   (293,331)          -                   
Health and welfare 232,885           -                   40,063             -                   (192,822)          -                   (192,822)          -                   
Community and economic development 1,554,245        -                   -                   -                   (1,554,245)       -                   (1,554,245)       -                   
Recreation and culture 2,944,096        298,597           422,710           751,823           (1,470,966)       -                   (1,470,966)       -                   

Interest and fiscal charges on long-term debt 360,208           -                   -                   -                   (360,208)          -                   (360,208)          -                   

Total governmental activities 23,344,623      5,923,102        855,790           1,535,977        (15,029,754)    -                   (15,029,754)    -                   

Business-type activities

Sewer 5,679,984        6,649,994        -                   27,550             -                   997,560           997,560           -                   

Water 6,561,738        6,214,289        -                   66,363             -                   (281,086)          (281,086)          -                   

Total business-type activities 12,241,722      12,864,283      -                   93,913             -                   716,474           716,474           -                   

Total primary government 35,586,345$    18,787,385$    855,790$         1,629,890$      (15,029,754)    716,474           (14,313,280)    -                   

Component units

Downtown Development Authority 520$                -$                 124,500$         -$                 123,980           
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority 703,305           -                   274,602           -                   (428,703)          

Economic Development Corporation 8,020               10,000             1,000               -                   2,980               

Total component units 711,845$         10,000$           400,102$         -$                 (301,743)          

General revenues
Property taxes 20,619,681      -                   20,619,681      501,961           
State-shared revenue (unrestricted) 4,332,799        -                   4,332,799        -                   
Investment income 213,544           45,699             259,243           27                    
Gain on sale of capital assets 153,641           -                   153,641           -                   

Miscellaneous 31,840             371,954           403,794           -                   

25,351,505      417,653           25,769,158      501,988           

Change in net position 10,321,751      1,134,127        11,455,878      200,245           

Net position - beginning of year 55,438,915      56,615,799      112,054,714    (37,935)            

Net position - end of year 65,760,666$    57,749,926$    123,510,592$ 162,310$         

Charter Township of Meridian
Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Net (Expense) Revenue and 

Total general revenues

Program Revenues Changes in Net Position

Primary Government

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Debt
Service Fund Nonmajor Total

Local Land Governmental Governmental
General Roads Preservation Road Debt Funds Funds

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 16,350,482$      4,737,913$        4,498,320$        2,561,169$        8,368,600$        36,516,484$      
Investments 3,520,398          -                     2,908,980          -                     -                     6,429,378          
Receivables

Taxes 7,816,445          -                     108,075             2,100,382          1,590,480          11,615,382        
Special assessments 191,155             -                     -                     -                     1,152,251          1,343,406          
Other, net of allowance 503,478             1,999                 527                    -                     2,699                 508,703             

Due from other units of government 719,918             -                     -                     -                     8,195                 728,113             
Due from other funds 5,728                 -                     -                     -                     -                     5,728                 
Prepaid items 244,619             416                    -                     -                     283                    245,318             

Total assets 29,352,223$      4,740,328$        7,515,902$        4,661,551$        11,122,508$      57,392,512$      

Liabilities
Accounts payable 504,917$           69,333$             3,210$               -$                   97,562$             675,022$           
Accrued and other liabilities 2,635                 -                     -                     -                     5,734                 8,369                 
Due to other funds -                     -                     325                    -                     19,785               20,110               
Due to other units of government 1,389                 -                     -                     -                     -                     1,389                 
Performance deposits payable 136,034             -                     -                     -                     -                     136,034             
Unearned revenue 78,035               -                     -                     -                     2,260,632          2,338,667          

Total liabilities 723,010             69,333               3,535                 -                     2,383,713          3,179,591          

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unavailable revenue - state shared revenue 724,479             -                     -                     -                     -                     724,479             
Unavailable revenue - special assessments -                     -                     -                     -                     1,072,251          1,072,251          
Unavailable revenue - ambulance charges 44,000               -                     -                     -                     -                     44,000               
Unavailable revenue - federal grant revenue -                     -                     -                     -                     8,195                 8,195                 
Property taxes levied for a subsequent period 14,302,233        1,010                 193,724             3,707,634          2,810,916          21,015,517        
Special assessments levied for a subsequent period 392,985             -                     -                     -                     80,000               472,985             

Total deferred inflows of resources 15,463,697        1,010                 193,724             3,707,634          3,971,362          23,337,427        

Charter Township of Meridian
Governmental Funds

Balance Sheet
December 31, 2021

Special Revenue Funds

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Debt
Service Fund Nonmajor Total

Local Land Governmental Governmental
General Roads Preservation Road Debt Funds Funds

Charter Township of Meridian
Governmental Funds

Balance Sheet
December 31, 2021

Special Revenue Funds

Fund Balances
Non-spendable

Prepaid items 244,619$           416$                  -$                   -$                   283$                  245,318$           
Restricted for

Land preservation -                     -                     7,318,643          -                     -                     7,318,643          
Pedestrian/bike path millage -                     -                     -                     -                     2,039,780          2,039,780          
Fire -                     -                     -                     -                     6,393                 6,393                 
Police   -                     -                     -                     -                     69,238               69,238               
Senior center millage -                     -                     -                     -                     342,709             342,709             
Cable TV -                     -                     -                     -                     216,276             216,276             
Community needs -                     -                     -                     -                     106,266             106,266             
Library -                     -                     -                     -                     13,558               13,558               
Grants -                     -                     -                     -                     133,136             133,136             
Capital area transportation authority millage -                     -                     -                     -                     10,066               10,066               
Local roads -                     1,618,436          -                     -                     -                     1,618,436          
Local roads - capital projects -                     3,051,133          -                     -                     -                     3,051,133          
Park millage -                     -                     -                     -                     386,264             386,264             
Fire station debt service -                     -                     -                     -                     482,902             482,902             
Road debt service -                     -                     -                     953,917             -                     953,917             

Assigned
Township improvement -                     -                     -                     -                     960,562             960,562             
Subsequent fiscal year budget 2,694,359          -                     -                     -                     -                     2,694,359          

Unassigned 10,226,538        -                     -                     -                     -                     10,226,538        

Total fund balances 13,165,516        4,669,985          7,318,643          953,917             4,767,433          30,875,494        

 Total liabilities, deferred inflows of 
 resources, and fund balances 29,352,223$      4,740,328$        7,515,902$        4,661,551$        11,122,508$      57,392,512$      

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Total fund balances for governmental funds 30,875,494$      

Total net position for governmental activities in the statement of net position is different because:

Capital assets not being depreciated used in governmental activities are not financial resources and therefore 
are not reported in the funds. 36,302,541        

Capital assets net of accumulated depreciation used in governmental activities are not financial resources and 
therefore are not reported in the funds. 24,963,712        

Certain receivables are not available to pay for current period expenditures and, therefore are deferred in the funds. 1,848,925          

Certain liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and are not reported in the funds.
 Accrued interest (248,611)           
 Compensated absences (819,141)           

Deferred outflows (inflows) of resources.
Deferred outflows of resources resulting from net OPEB liability 672,140             
Deferred inflows of resources resulting from net OPEB liability (1,904,416)        
Deferred outflows of resources resulting from net pension liability (asset) 7,605,656          
Deferred inflows of resources resulting from net pension liability (asset) (2,633,459)        

Long-term liabilities applicable to  governmental activities are not due and payable in the current period and, accordingly,
are not reported as fund liabilities. 

Bonds payable and other long-term liabilities (11,374,784)      
 Net OPEB liability (361,292)           
 Net pension asset 498,837             
 Net pension liability (23,619,990)      

Internal service funds are included as part of governmental activities. 3,955,054          

Net position of governmental activities 65,760,666$      

Charter Township of Meridian

Reconciliation of Fund Balances of Governmental Funds
to Net Position of Governmental Activities

December 31, 2021

Governmental Funds

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Debt
Service Fund Nonmajor Total

Local Land Governmental Governmental
General Roads Preservation Road Debt Funds Funds

Revenues
Taxes 14,049,533$      2,666$               190,497$           3,631,677$        2,745,308$        20,619,681$      
Licenses and permits 2,209,855          -                     -                     -                     -                     2,209,855          
Federal grants 919,282             -                     -                     -                     4,217                 923,499             
State shared revenue 4,097,493          -                     -                     -                     -                     4,097,493          
State grants 111,686             -                     -                     -                     227,795             339,481             
Local contributions -                     -                     -                     -                     153,000             153,000             
Charges for services 3,387,104          -                     -                     -                     231,858             3,618,962          
Fines and forfeitures 351,728             -                     -                     -                     1,104                 352,832             
Investment income 37,857               109,573             9,310                 5,579                 48,329               210,648             
Other revenue 546,366             -                     -                     -                     979,433             1,525,799          

Total revenues 25,710,904        112,239             199,807             3,637,256          4,391,044          34,051,250        

Expenditures
Current

General government 6,483,253          -                     -                     -                     -                     6,483,253          
Public safety 12,620,686        -                     -                     -                     10,977               12,631,663        
Public works -                     3,295,196          -                     -                     1,170,775          4,465,971          
Health and welfare 65,439               -                     -                     -                     153,876             219,315             
Community and economic development 1,553,537          -                     -                     -                     -                     1,553,537          
Recreation and culture 1,088,685          -                     114,709             -                     1,744,312          2,947,706          

Debt service
Principal retirement 396,408             -                     -                     3,165,000          230,000             3,791,408          
Interest and fiscal charges 81,841               -                     -                     402,500             44,590               528,931             

Total expenditures 22,289,849        3,295,196          114,709             3,567,500          3,354,530          32,621,784        

 Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
   over expenditures 

3,421,055          (3,182,957)         85,098               69,756               1,036,514          1,429,466          

Charter Township of Meridian
Governmental Funds

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Special Revenue Funds

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Debt
Service Fund Nonmajor Total

Local Land Governmental Governmental
General Roads Preservation Road Debt Funds Funds

Charter Township of Meridian
Governmental Funds

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Special Revenue Funds

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in 50,000$             280,000$           -$                   -$                   -$                   330,000$           
Transfers out (511,300)            -                     -                     -                     (50,000)              (561,300)            

Total other financing sources (uses) (461,300)            280,000             -                     -                     (50,000)              (231,300)            

Net change in fund balance 2,959,755          (2,902,957)         85,098               69,756               986,514             1,198,166          

Fund balance - beginning of year 10,205,761        7,572,942          7,233,545          884,161             3,780,919          29,677,328        

Fund balance - end of year 13,165,516$      4,669,985$        7,318,643$        953,917$           4,767,433$        30,875,494$      

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds 1,198,166$                

 Total change in net position reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities is different because: 

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However, in the statement of activities the cost of those 
assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.   

Depreciation expense (2,588,838)                 
Capital outlay 4,908,237                  
Donations of capital assets 3,120,000                  

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources are not reported as revenue in the funds.
State-shared revenue 130,288                     
Special assessments 552,296                     
Ambulance charges 16,000                       
Federal grant revenue (1,074,648)                 
Cable franchise fees (165,349)                    

Expenses are recorded when incurred in the statement of activities.
 Accrued interest (51,398)                      
 Compensated absences 20,553                       

The statement of net position reports the net pension liability (asset) and deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows related to the net
pension liability (asset) and pension expense.  However, the amount recorded on the governmental funds equals actual pension contributions.
 Net change in net pension liability (asset) 2,369,295                  
Net change in the deferred outflow of resources related to the net pension liability (asset) 1,595,757                  

 Net change in the deferred inflow of resources related to the net pension liability (asset) (1,686,325)                 

The statement of net position reports the net OPEB liability and deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows related to the net
OPEB liability and OPEB expense.  However, the amount recorded on the governmental funds equals actual OPEB contributions.
 Net change in net OPEB liability (342,831)                    
Net change in the deferred outflow of resources related to the net OPEB liability 539,735                     

 Net change in the deferred inflow of resources related to the net OPEB liability 514,347                     

Bond proceeds are reported as financing sources in the governmental funds and thus contribute to the change in fund balance. In the
statement of net position, however, issuing debt increases long-term liabilities and does not affect the statement of activities. Similarly,
repayment of principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds but reduces the liability in the statement of net position. 

Debt issued (3,120,000)                 
Repayments of long-term debt 3,791,408                  
Amortization of premiums 220,121                     

Internal service funds are also included as governmental activities 374,937                     

Change in net position of governmental activities 10,321,751$              

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Charter Township of Meridian
Governmental Funds

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Internal
Service Fund

Water Sewer Total Motor Pool 
Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 2,710,684$          6,555,614$      9,266,298$      1,893,193$        
Investments 1,938,560            -                   1,938,560        -                     
Receivables

Customers 1,110,027            1,311,667        2,421,694        -                     
Due from other funds 14,335                 3,513               17,848             -                     
Inventories 316,098               -                   316,098           -                     
Prepaid items 30,836                 7,639               38,475             6,714                 

Total current assets 6,120,540            7,878,433        13,998,973      1,899,907          

Noncurrent assets
Investment in joint venture 6,282,032            -                   6,282,032        -                     
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 18,344,638          46,098,207      64,442,845      2,145,280          
Capital assets not being depreciated 181,530               181,530           363,060           -                     

Total noncurrent assets 24,808,200          46,279,737      71,087,937      2,145,280          

Total assets 30,928,740          54,158,170      85,086,910      4,045,187          

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred amount related to net pension liability 141,419               86,847             228,266           28,991               

Enterprise Funds

Charter Township of Meridian
Proprietary Funds

Statement of Net Position

December 31, 2021

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Internal
Service Fund

Water Sewer Total Motor Pool 
Enterprise Funds

Charter Township of Meridian
Proprietary Funds

Statement of Net Position

December 31, 2021

Liabilities
Current liabilities

Accounts payable 287,091$             11,219$           298,310$         9,490$               
Accrued and other liabilities -                      433,943           433,943           -                     
Due to other funds 1,680                   530                  2,210               1,256                 
Performance bonds and other deposits payable -                      308,629           308,629           -                     
Current portion of noncurrent liabilities 8,742                   2,231,069        2,239,811        1,889                 

Total current liabilities 297,513               2,985,390        3,282,903        12,635               

Noncurrent liabilities
Net pension liability 439,190               269,702           708,892           90,030               
Long-term debt net of current portion 39,825                 23,471,805      23,511,630      8,608                 

Total noncurrent liabilities 479,015               23,741,507      24,220,522      98,638               

Total liabilities 776,528               26,726,897      27,503,425      111,273             

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred amount related to net pension liability 38,299                 23,526             61,825             7,851                 

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 18,526,168          20,614,650      39,140,818      2,145,280          
Unrestricted 11,729,164          6,879,944        18,609,108      1,809,774          

Total net position 30,255,332$        27,494,594$    57,749,926$    3,955,054$        

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Internal
Service Fund

Water Sewer Total Motor Pool 
Operating revenue
Sale of water 5,686,336$       -$                5,686,336$       -$                  
Sewage disposal charges -                    6,185,273        6,185,273         -                    
Charges for services 483,113            464,405           947,518            1,151,320         
Other revenue 44,840              316                  45,156              -                    

Total operating revenue 6,214,289         6,649,994        12,864,283       1,151,320         

Operating expenses
Cost of water purchases 3,479,226         -                  3,479,226         -                    
Cost of sewage treatment -                    2,149,311        2,149,311         -                    
Operation and maintenance 667,447            384,768           1,052,215         471,549            
General administrative 596,259            622,586           1,218,845         202,957            
Personnel services 1,068,316         699,963           1,768,279         -                    
Depreciation 750,490            1,251,674        2,002,164         489,714            

Total operating expenses 6,561,738         5,108,302        11,670,040       1,164,220         

Operating income (loss) (347,449)           1,541,692        1,194,243         (12,900)             

Enterprise Funds

Charter Township of Meridian
Proprietary Funds

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
3 - 12



Internal
Service Fund

Water Sewer Total Motor Pool 
Enterprise Funds

Charter Township of Meridian
Proprietary Funds

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Nonoperating revenue (expenses)
Investment income 38,527$            7,172$             45,699$            2,896$              
Change in value of joint venture 371,954            -                  371,954            -                    
Gain on sale of assets -                    -                  -                    153,641            
Interest expense -                    (571,682)         (571,682)           -                    

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 410,481            (564,510)         (154,029)           156,537            

Income before contributions and transfers 63,032              977,182           1,040,214         143,637            

Capital contributions - local 66,363              27,550             93,913              -                    
Transfers in -                    -                  -                    231,300            

Change in net position 129,395            1,004,732        1,134,127         374,937            

Net position - beginning of year 30,125,937       26,489,862      56,615,799       3,580,117         

Net position - end of year 30,255,332$     27,494,594$    57,749,926$     3,955,054$        

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Internal
Service Fund

Water Sewer Total Motor Pool
Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers 6,179,110$        6,827,208$        13,006,318$      -$                   
Receipts from interfund users -                     -                     -                     1,151,320          
Payments to suppliers (4,552,305)         (2,980,621)         (7,532,926)         (477,996)            
Payments to employees (1,099,897)         (740,225)            (1,840,122)         (206,349)            
Other receipts 44,840               316                    45,156               -                     

Net cash provided by operating activities 571,748             3,106,678          3,678,426          466,975             

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities
Transfer from other funds -                     -                     -                     231,300             

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities
Purchases/construction of capital assets (153,513)            (173,896)            (327,409)            (803,408)            
Principal and interest paid on long-term debt -                     (510,372)            (510,372)            -                     
Proceeds from sale of capital assets -                     -                     -                     153,641             

Net cash used by capital and related financing activities (153,513)            (684,268)            (837,781)            (649,767)            

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of investments (1,938,560)         -                     (1,938,560)         -                     
Interest received 38,527               7,172                 45,699               2,896                 

Net cash provided (used) by investing activities (1,900,033)         7,172                 (1,892,861)         2,896                 

Change in cash and cash equivalents (1,481,798)         2,429,582          947,784             51,404               

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year 4,192,482          4,126,032          8,318,514          1,841,789          

Cash and cash equivalents - end of year 2,710,684$        6,555,614$        9,266,298$        1,893,193$        

Enterprise Funds

Charter Township of Meridian
Proprietary Funds

Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Internal
Service Fund

Water Sewer Total Motor Pool
Enterprise Funds

Charter Township of Meridian
Proprietary Funds

Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash
provided by operating activities

Operating income (loss) (347,449)$          1,541,692$        1,194,243$        (12,900)$            
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash

from operating activities
Depreciation and amortization expense 750,490             1,251,674          2,002,164          489,714             

Changes in assets and liabilities
Receivables (net) 9,661                 (15,196)              (5,535)                -                     
Due from other funds 14,335               3,512                 17,847               -                     
Inventories (98,906)              -                     (98,906)              -                     
Prepaid items 298                    274,632             274,930             (406)                   
Deferred outflows of resources (34,027)              (13,370)              (47,397)              (6,094)                
Accounts payable 273,458             (102,255)            171,203             (6,753)                
Accrued and other liabilities -                     -                     -                     1,889                 
Due to other funds 1,442                 155                    1,597                 712                    
Performance bonds and other deposits payable -                     192,726             192,726             -                     
Deferred inflows of resources 30,659               18,293               48,952               6,223                 
Net pension liability (17,089)              (42,470)              (59,559)              (7,253)                
Compensated absences (11,124)              (2,715)                (13,839)              1,843                 

Net cash provided by operating activities 571,748$           3,106,678$        3,678,426$        466,975$           
    

Noncash Capital Financing Activities
Capital assets acquired through contributions from taxpayers 66,363$             27,550$             93,913$             -$                   

Capital assets acquired with long-term debt -$                   1,240,895$        1,240,895$        -$                   

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Pension and Custodial
Other Employee Fund

Benefit Tax Collection
Trust Funds Fund

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 81,006$                12,895,958$         
Investments

Exchange traded funds 1,167,319             -                       
Mutual funds 11,771,504           -                       

Receivables
Accrued interest 3,122                    -                       

Total assets 13,022,951           12,895,958           

Liabilities
Accounts payable -                       3,556                    
Due to other units of government -                       12,892,402           

Total liabilities -                       12,895,958           

Net Position
Restricted

Pension benefits 5,427,354             -                       
Other postemployment benefits 7,595,597             -                       

 Total net position 13,022,951$         -$                     

Charter Township of Meridian
Fiduciary Funds

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
December 31, 2021

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Pension and Custodial
Other Employee Fund

Benefit Tax Collection
 Trust Funds Fund
Additions
Contributions

Employer 319,127$              -$                     

Investment earnings 
Interest and dividends 794,532                -                       
Change in fair value 426,800                -                       
Investment expenses (35,446)                -                       

Net investment income 1,185,886             -                       

Property tax collections for other governments -                       89,609,628           

Total additions 1,505,013             89,609,628           

Deductions
Benefits 565,559                -                       
Other deductions 61,009                  -                       
Payments of property tax to other governments -                       89,609,628           

Total deductions 626,568                89,609,628           

Change in net position 878,445                -                       

Net position - beginning of year 12,144,506           -                       

Net position - end of year 13,022,951$         -$                     

Charter Township of Meridian

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Fiduciary Funds

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Downtown Brownfield Economic
Development Redevelopment Development

Authority Authority Corporation Total
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 66,666$            46,966$            48,479$            162,111$          
Receivables

Taxes 28,775              328,372            -                    357,147            

Total assets 95,441              375,338            48,479              519,258            

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Property taxes levied for subsequent period 28,576              328,372            -                    356,948            

Net Position
Unrestricted 66,865$            46,966$            48,479$            162,310$          

Charter Township of Meridian

Statement of Net Position
December 31, 2021

Component Units

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Operating Downtown Brownfield Economic

Charges for Grants and Development Redevelopment Development
Expenses Services Contributions Authority Authority Corporation Total

Functions/Programs

Downtown Development Authority
Community and economic development 520$                    -$                     124,500$             123,980$             -$                     -$                     123,980$             

Brownfield Redevelopment Authority
Community and economic development 703,305               -                       274,602               -                       (428,703)              -                       (428,703)              

Economic Development Corporation 8,020                   10,000                 1,000                   -                       -                       2,980                   2,980                   

Total component units 711,845$             10,000$               400,102$             123,980               (428,703)              2,980                   (301,743)              

General revenues
Property taxes 26,292                 475,669               -                       501,961               
Investment income -                       -                       27                        27                        

26,292                 475,669               27                        501,988               

Change in net position 150,272               46,966                 3,007                   200,245               

Net position - beginning of year (83,407)                -                       45,472                 (37,935)                

Net position - end of year 66,865$               46,966$               48,479$               162,310$             

Total general revenues

Statement of Activities

Charter Township of Meridian
Component Units

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Net (Expense) Revenue and 
Program Revenues Changes in Net Position

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
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Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

The accounting policies of the Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham 
County, Michigan (Township) conform to accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) as 
applicable to governmental units.  The following is a summary of the 
significant accounting policies used by the Charter Township of 
Meridian, Ingham County, Michigan: 
 
Reporting entity 
The Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham County, Michigan is 
governed by an elected seven-member board.  The accompanying 
financial statements present the Township and its component units, 
entities for which the Township is considered to be financially 
accountable.  The discretely presented component units are reported 
in a separate column in the government-wide financial statements to 
emphasize that they are legally separate from the Township (see 
discussion below for description).  
 
Discretely Presented Component Units – The following component 
units are reported within the component unit column in the combined 
financial statements. They are reported in a separate column in the 
government-wide financial statements to emphasize that they are 
legally separate from the Township.  
 
Downtown Development Authority – The Downtown Development 
Authority (DDA) of Okemos was created to halt property value 
deterioration and increase property tax valuation where possible in its 
business district, to eliminate the causes of such deterioration, and to  
promote economic growth in and surrounding the DDA. The DDA’s 
governing body includes the Township supervisor and members who 
are appointed by the Township supervisor and approved by the 
Township board.  In addition, the DDA’s budget is subject to approval 
by the Township board.  The DDA does not issue separate financial 
statements.  
 

Brownfield Redevelopment Authority – The Brownfield 
Redevelopment Authority (BRA) was created to finance environmental 
cleanup within the boundaries of the Township. The BRA’s governing 
body includes the Township Manager, a member of each of the 
Planning Commission, Economic Development Corporation, and 
Environmental Commission, and 3 other members approved by the 
Township board. It is reported within the component unit column in the 
government-wide financial statements to emphasize that it is legally 
separate from the Township. The BRA does not issue separate 
financial statements.  
 
Economic Development Corporation – The Economic Development 
Corporation (EDC) was created to provide means and methods for the 
encouragement and assistance of industrial and commercial 
enterprises in relocating, purchasing, constructing, improving, or 
expanding within the Township, so as to provide needed services and 
facilities of such enterprises to the residents of the Township. The 
Township board approves the individuals appointed to the EDC’s 
governing body by the Township supervisor and can impose its will. 
The EDC does not issue separate financial statements. 
 
Government-wide and fund financial statements 
The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net 
position and the statement of activities) report information on all of the 
nonfiduciary activities of the primary government and its component 
units.  Government activities, which normally are supported by taxes 
and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from 
business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and 
charges for support.  Likewise, the primary government is reported 
separately from certain legally separate component units for which the 
primary government is financially accountable. 
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The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the 
direct expenses of a given function or segments are offset by program 
revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a 
specific function or segment.  Program revenues include 1) charges to 
customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from 
goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment 
and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the 
operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. 
Taxes and other items not properly included among program 
revenues are reported instead as general revenues. 
 
Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, 
proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds, even though the latter are 
excluded from the government-wide financial statements. Major 
individual governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds 
are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements. 
 
Measurement focus, basis of accounting, and financial statement 
presentation 
The government-wide financial statements are reported using the 
economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of 
accounting, as are the proprietary fund and fiduciary fund financial 
statements.  Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are 
recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related 
cash flows.  Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for 
which they are levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as 
revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the 
provider have been met. 
 
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current 
financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual 
basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized as soon as they are 
both measurable and available.  Revenues are considered to be 
available when they are collectible within the current period or soon 
enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period.  For this 
purpose, the Township considers revenues to be available if they are 

collected within 45 days of the end of the current fiscal period. The 
following major revenue sources meet the availability criterion:  2020 
property taxes, portions of state-shared revenue, and interest 
associated with the current fiscal period. Conversely, 2021 property 
taxes, portions of state-shared revenue, certain grants and contracts, 
and special assessments do not meet the availability criterion 
because they were not received within the 45 day period of availability 
or they are levied to support the following year’s operations. 
Receivables have been recorded for these, along with deferred 
inflows of resources.  
 
Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as 
under accrual accounting. However, debt service expenditures, 
expenditures relating to compensated absences, and claims and 
judgments are recorded only when payment is due. 
 
Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to 
customers or applicants for goods, services, or privileges provided, 2) 
operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and 
contributions, including special assessments. Internally dedicated 
resources are reported as general revenues rather than as program 
revenues.  Likewise, general revenues include all taxes. 
 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from 
nonoperating items. Operating revenues and expenses generally 
result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in 
connection with a proprietary and internal service fund’s principal 
ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the 
Townships proprietary funds relates to charges to customers for sales 
and services. The Township also recognizes as operating revenue the 
portion of tap fees intended to recover the cost of connecting new 
customers to the system. Operating expenses for proprietary and 
internal service funds include the cost of sales and services, 
administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All 
revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as 
nonoperating revenues and expenses. 
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Fund Accounting 
The Township accounts for its various activities in several different 
funds, in order to demonstrate accountability for how we have spent 
certain resources - separate funds allow us to show the particular 
expenditures for which specific revenues were used. The various 
funds are aggregated into three broad fund types: 
 
Governmental funds include all activities that provide general 
governmental services that are not business-type activities. This 
includes the General Fund, special revenue funds, debt service funds, 
and capital project funds. The Township reports the following funds as 
“major” governmental funds: 
 

General Fund – The General Fund contains the records of the 
ordinary activities of the Township that are not accounted for in 
another fund. General Fund activities are financed by revenue from 
general property taxes, state-shared revenue, and other sources. 
 
Local Roads Fund – The Local Roads Fund is used to account for 
tax revenue that supports local road maintenance. 
 
Land Preservation Funds – The Land Preservation funds are used 
to account for tax revenue which will be used to purchase land 
and/or an interest in land for the permanent preservation of open 
green spaces and natural features throughout the Township. 
 
Road Debt Service Fund – This fund is used to account for tax 
revenue and debt service related to the 2019 bond issuance for 
road improvements. 
 

Proprietary funds include enterprise funds, (which provide goods or 
services to users in exchange for charges or fees) and the internal 
service fund (which provide goods or services to other funds of the 
Township).  
 
 

The Township reports the following funds as “major” enterprise funds: 
 

Water Fund – The Water Fund is used to account for the provision 
of water services to the residents of the Township. Activities of the 
fund include administration, operating, maintenance, and billing 
and collection activities. 

 
Sewer Fund – The Sewer Fund is used to account for the 
provision of sewer services to the residents of the Township. 
Activities of the fund include administration, operating, 
maintenance, and billing and collection activities. 
 

The Township reports the following fund as an internal service fund: 
 

Motor Pool Fund – The Motor Pool Fund accounts for the 
financing of goods or services provided by one department or 
agency to other departments or agencies of the Township, or to 
other governments, primarily on a cost-reimbursement basis. 

 
Fiduciary funds include amounts held in a fiduciary capacity for 
others. These amounts will not be used to operate our Township’s 
programs. Activities that are reported as fiduciary include: 
 

Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds – The Pension 
Trust Fund accounts for the assets of the Township employees’ 
pension plan. The Employer Funded Retiree Health Insurance 
Fund accounts for the assets and expenses of the Township 
retirees’ other postemployment benefits (OPEB). 
 
Custodial Fund – The Custodial Fund includes the Tax Collection 
Fund which accounts for property tax and other deposits collected 
on behalf of other units and individuals. 
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As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated 
from the government-wide financial statements. Exceptions to this 
general rule are charges between the Township’s water and sewer 
function and various other functions of the Township. Eliminations of 
these charges would distort the direct costs and program revenues 
reported for the various functions concerned. 
 
Property Tax Revenue 
Property taxes are assessed as of December 31. The related property 
taxes are billed and become a lien on December 1 of the following 
year and are due on February 14 with the final collection date of 
February 28 before they are added to the county tax rolls. 
 
Property taxes billed during the month of December will be used to 
finance the following year’s operations. As such, these taxes are 
recorded as deferred inflows in each respective fund as of December 
31. The 2020 taxable valuation of the Township totaled approximately 
$1.87 billion, on which ad valorem taxes consisted of the following 
mills, and resulted in the following revenue, exclusive of any Michigan 
Tax Tribunal or Board of Review adjustments. 
 

Purpose Mills Levied

Ad Valorem
Taxes Levied

Raised
(in millions)

Township operating 4.1578           7.78$             
Streets debt 1.9429           3.64               
Police protection 0.6016           1.12               
Fire protection 0.6339           1.19               
Police and fire protection 1.4771           2.76               
Community services 0.1483           0.28               
Bike path 0.3308           0.62               
CATA Redi Ride 0.1978           0.37               
Park & recreation 0.6597           1.23               
Land preservation 0.1000           0.19               
Fire station debt 0.2000           0.37               

 

Assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred 
inflows of resources and net position or equity 
Cash and cash equivalents – Cash and cash equivalents include cash 
on hand, demand deposits, and short-term investments with a 
maturity of three months or less when acquired.  
 
Investments – Investments are stated at fair value. Securities traded 
on a national or international exchange are valued at the last reported 
sales price at current exchange rates. Real estate assets are reported 
at fair value utilizing an income approach to valuation. Independent 
appraisals are obtained to determine the fair value of real estate 
assets. Pooled investment income is generally allocated to each fund 
using a weighted average balance for the principal. 
 
Receivables and payables – In general, outstanding balances 
between funds are reported as “due to/from other funds.”  Activity 
between funds that is representative of a lending/borrowing 
arrangement outstanding at the end of the fiscal year is referred to as 
“advances to/from other funds.”  Any residual balances outstanding 
between the governmental activities and the business-type activities 
are reported in the government-wide financial statements as “internal 
balances.” All trade and property tax receivables are shown net of an 
allowance for uncollectible amounts of $29,000. 
 
Inventories and prepaid items – Inventories are valued at cost, on a 
first-in, first-out basis. Inventories of governmental funds are recorded 
as expenditures when purchased rather than when consumed.   
Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future fiscal 
years.  For such payments in governmental funds the Township 
follows the consumption method, and they therefore are capitalized as 
prepaid items in both government-wide and fund financial statements. 
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Capital assets – Capital assets, which include property, plant, 
equipment, intangible assets, and infrastructure assets (e.g. bike 
paths and similar items) are reported in the applicable governmental 
or business-type activities column in the government-wide financial 
statements. Capital assets are defined by the Township as assets 
with an initial individual cost of more than $5,000 and an estimated 
useful life in excess of one year. Such assets are recorded at 
historical cost or estimated historical cost, if purchased or constructed. 
Donated capital assets are recorded at acquisition value at the date of 
donation, unless received in a service concession arrangement which 
would require acquisition value to be used rather than fair value.  
 
Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the 
following useful lives: 
 
Water and sewer mains 15 to 50 years
Drainage flow rights 50 years
Buildings, additions and improvements 10 to 40 years
Vehicles 5 to 10 years
Furniture and equipment 5 to 10 years
Machinery and equipment 5 to 10 years
Other tools and equipment 5 to 20 years
Roads and improvements 5 to 20 years  

 
Deferred outflows of resources – In addition to assets, the statement 
of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for 
deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement 
element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption of 
net position or fund balance that applies to a future period(s) and thus, 
will not be recognized as an outflow of resources 
(expense/expenditure) until then. The Township has deferred outflows 
of resources related to the defined benefit pension and OPEB plans, 
made up of employer contributions made subsequent to the 
measurement date, the variance between the plan’s actual investment 
earnings compared to the plan’s assumed investment earnings, 
changes in assumptions, and experience differences. 

Compensated absences (vacation and sick leave) – It is the 
Township’s policy to permit employees to accumulate earned but 
unused sick and vacation pay benefits. The government-wide and 
proprietary fund statements accrue all vacation and personal pay as it 
is earned, and sick pay as it is used or vested (whichever is earlier). A 
liability for these amounts is reported in governmental funds as it 
comes due for payment (when the time is taken off or the employee is 
terminated). 
 
Long-term obligations – In the government-wide financial statements, 
and proprietary fund types in the fund financial statements, long-term 
debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the 
applicable governmental activities, business-type activities, or 
proprietary fund type statement of net position.  Bond premiums and 
discounts are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using 
the effective interest method. Bonds payable are reported net of the 
applicable bond premium or discount. In the fund financial statements, 
governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as 
well as bond issuance costs, during the current period.  The face 
amount of debt issued is reported as other financing sources.  
Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing 
sources while discounts on debt issuances are reported as other 
financing uses.  Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the 
actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service 
expenditures. 
 
Pension – The Township offers a defined benefit pension plan to its 
employees. The Township receives an actuarial valuation to compute 
the annual required contribution (ARC) necessary to fund the 
obligation over the remaining amortization period. In the governmental 
funds, pension costs are recognized as contributions are made. For 
the government-wide statements and proprietary funds, the Township 
records a net pension liability for the difference between the total 
pension liability calculated by the actuary and the pension plan’s 
fiduciary net position. For the purpose of measuring the net pension 
liability, deferred outflows of resources, deferred inflows of resources 
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related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the 
fiduciary net position of the Township’s pension plan and additions 
to/deductions from the pension plan’s fiduciary net position have been 
determined on the same basis as they are reported by the pension 
plan. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of 
employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in 
accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair 
value. The General Fund, Sewer Fund, Water Fund and Motor Pool 
Fund are primarily responsible for liquidating the pension liability. 
 
Other Postemployment Benefit (OPEB) Costs – For purposes of 
measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB, and OPEB expense, 
information about the fiduciary net position of the OPEB Plan and 
additions to/deductions from the Plan’s fiduciary net position have 
been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the Plan. 
For this purpose, the Plan recognizes benefit payments when due and 
payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are 
reported at fair value, except for money market investments and 
participating interest earning investment contracts that have a maturity 
at the time of purchase of one year or less, which are reported at cost. 
The General Fund is primarily responsible for liquidating the OPEB 
liability. 
 
Deferred inflows of resources – In addition to liabilities, the statement 
of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for 
deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement 
element, deferred inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of 
net position or fund balance that applies to a future period(s) and so 
will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that 
time. The Township has several types of items that qualify for 
reporting in this category. The governmental funds report unavailable 
revenues, which arise only under the modified accrual basis of 
accounting, from receivables related to special assessments, state-
shared revenue, and certain other revenue. These amounts are 
deferred and recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that 

the amounts become available. Deferred inflows of resources are 
reported in the government-wide and governmental fund financial 
statements for property taxes and special assessments levied during 
the year that were intended to finance future periods. The Township 
has deferred inflows of resources related to the defined benefit 
pension and OPEB plans, consisting of the variance between the 
plan’s actual investment earnings compared to the plan’s assumed 
investment earnings and differences between projected and actual 
experience, changes in assumptions and experience differences. The 
component units also report deferred inflows of resources for property 
taxes levied for a subsequent period. 
 
Fund Balance – In the fund financial statements, governmental funds 
report fund balance in the following categories: 

 
Nonspendable – Amounts that are not in spendable form or are 
legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. 
 
Restricted – Amounts that are legally restricted by outside parties, 
constitutional provisions, or enabling legislation for use for a 
specific purpose. 
 
Committed – Amounts that have been formally set aside by the 
Township board for use for specific purposes. Commitments are 
made and can be rescinded only via resolution of the Township 
Board. 
 
Assigned – Intent to spend resources on specific purposes 
expressed by the governing body or the Township Manager, who 
is authorized by resolution approved by the governing body to 
make assignments. 
 
Unassigned – Amounts that do not fall into any other category 
above. This is the residual classification for amounts in the 
General Fund and represents fund balance that has not been 
assigned to other funds and has not been restricted, committed, or 
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assigned to specific purposes in the General Fund. In other 
governmental funds, only negative unassigned amounts are 
reported, if any, and represent expenditures incurred for specific 
purposes exceeding the amounts previously restricted, committed, 
or assigned to those purposes. 
 

When an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which both 
restricted and unrestricted fund balance is available, the Township’s 
policy is to consider restricted funds spent first.  
  
When an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which committed, 
assigned, or unassigned amounts could be used, the Township’s 
policy is to consider the funds to be spent in the following order: (1) 
committed, (2) assigned, (3) unassigned. 
 
Use of Estimates – The preparation of financial statements in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, deferred 
outflows, liabilities, deferred inflows and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the period. Actual 
results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Adoption of New Accounting Standards 
Statement No. 98, The Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
establishes the term annual comprehensive financial report and its 
acronym ACFR. That new term and acronym replace instances of 
comprehensive annual financial report and its acronym in generally 
accepted accounting principles for state and local governments. This 
Statement was developed in response to concerns raised by 
stakeholders that the common pronunciation of the acronym for 
comprehensive annual financial report sounds like a profoundly 
objectionable racial slur. This Statement’s introduction of the new term 
is founded on a commitment to promoting inclusiveness. 
 

Upcoming Accounting and Reporting Changes 
Statement No. 87, Leases increases the usefulness of the Township’s 
financial statements by requiring recognition of certain lease assets 
and liabilities for leases that previously were classified as operating 
leases and recognized as inflows of resources or outflows of 
resources based on the payment provisions of the contract. It 
establishes a single model for lease accounting based on the 
foundational principle that leases are financings of the right to use an 
underlying asset. A lessee will be required to recognize a lease 
liability and an intangible right-to-use a lease asset, and a lessor will 
be required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of 
resources, thereby enhancing the relevance and consistency of 
information about the Township’s leasing activities. The requirements 
of this Statement are effective for the fiscal year ending December 31, 
2022.  
 
Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology 
Arrangements, is based on the standards established in Statement 
No. 87 Leases. This statement (1) defines a SBITA as a contract that 
conveys control of the right to use a SBITA vendor’s IT software, 
alone or in combination with tangible capital assets, as specified in the 
contract for a period of time in an exchange or exchange-like 
transaction (2) requires governments with SBITAs to recognize a 
right-to-use subscription asset, an intangible asset, and a 
corresponding subscription liability, and (3) provides guidance related 
to outlays other than subscription payments, including implementation 
costs, and requirements for note disclosures related to a SBITA. This 
statement is effective for the year ending December 31, 2023. 
 
The Township is evaluating the impact that the above GASB 
statements will have on its financial reporting. The Township does not 
believe other GASB statements that have been issued, but not yet 
implemented will have a significant impact on the Township’s financial 
reporting.  
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Note 2 - Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability 

State Construction Code Act 
The Township oversees building construction, in accordance with the 
State's Construction Code Act, including inspection of building 
construction and renovation to ensure compliance with the building 
codes. The Township charges fees for these services. The law 
requires that collection of these fees be used only for construction 
code costs, including an allocation of estimated overhead costs. A 
summary of the current year activity and the cumulative surplus or 
shortfall generated since January 1, 2000 is as follows: 
 
Current year permit revenue 1,117,878$        
Related expenses:

Direct costs 543,065$       
Estimated indirect costs 106,300         649,365             

Current year surplus 468,513             
Cumulative shortfall - beginning of year (6,757,343)         
Cumulative shortfall - end of year (6,288,830)$       

 
Note 3 - Deposits and Investments 

At year end the Township’s deposits and investments were reported 
in the financial statements in the following categories: 
 

 Cash and Cash 

Equivalents  Investments  Total 

Governmental activities 38,409,677$      6,429,378$        44,839,055$      
Business-type activities 9,266,298          1,938,560          11,204,858        

Total 47,675,975        8,367,938          56,043,913        

Fiduciary funds 12,976,964        12,938,823        25,915,787        
Component units 162,111             -                    162,111             

Total 60,815,050$      21,306,761$      82,121,811$      

 

The breakdown between deposits and investments is as follows: 
 

 Primary 

Government 

 Fiduciary 

Funds 

 Component 

Unit  Total 

Bank deposits (checking and 
savings accounts, money 
markets and certificates of 
deposit) 38,377,052$     9,895,891$       162,111$          48,435,054$     

Investments in securities, 
mutual funds and similar 
vehicles 17,665,361       16,019,896       -                   33,685,257       

Petty cash and cash on hand 1,500                -                   -                   1,500                

56,043,913$     25,915,787$     162,111$          82,121,811$     

Michigan Compiled Laws Section 129.91 (Public Act 20 of 1943, as 
amended) authorizes local governmental units to make deposits and 
invest in the accounts of federally insured banks, credit unions, and 
savings and loan associations that have offices in Michigan. A local 
unit is allowed to invest in bonds, securities, and other direct 
obligations of the United States or any agency or instrumentality of the 
United States; repurchase agreements; banker’s acceptances of 
United States banks; commercial paper rated within the two highest 
classifications, which matures not more than 270 days after the date 
of purchase; obligations of the State of Michigan or its political 
subdivisions, which are rated as investment grade; and mutual funds 
composed of investment vehicles that are legal for direct investment 
by local units of government in Michigan. To the extent that cash from 
various funds has been pooled in an investment, related investment 
income is allocated to each fund based on relative participation in the 
pool, except that the agency fund’s investment earnings are allocated 
to the General Fund. 
 
The Township has designated several banks for the deposit of its 
funds. The investment policy adopted by the Township board in 
accordance with Public Act 196 of 1997 has authorized investments 
as allowed under state statutory authority as listed above. 
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The Township’s investments include the Cooperative Liquid Assets 
Securities System – Michigan (CLASS), which is a Michigan public 
sector joint investment program that is subject to oversight by the 
program’s board of trustees. The Township’s investment in this pool is 
recorded at cost, which approximates fair value. 
 
The Township's cash and investments are subject to several types of 
risk, which are examined in more detail as follows: 
 
Custodial credit risk – deposits – Custodial credit risk is the risk that in 
the event of a bank failure, the Township’s deposits may not be 
returned to it. The Township does not have a deposit policy for 
custodial credit risk. At year-end, the Township’s bank balance was 
$54,297,989 and $53,791,859 of that amount was exposed to 
custodial credit risk because it was uninsured and uncollateralized. All 
bank deposits of the component units were insured and collateralized 
by federal depository insurance at year end. The Township believes 
that due to the dollar amounts of cash deposits and the limits of FDIC 
insurance, it is impractical to insure all deposits. As a result, the 
Township evaluates each financial institution with which it deposits 
funds and assesses the level of risk of each institution; only those 
institutions with an acceptable estimated risk level are used as 
depositories. 
 
Interest rate risk – Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of 
investments will decrease as a result of a rise in interest rates. The 
Township’s investment policy does restrict certain investment 
maturities, other than commercial paper which can only be purchased 
with a maximum 270-day maturity.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

At year end, the average maturities of investments are as follows:   
 

Investment Fair Value
Less than
One Year

1 to 5
Years

6 to 10
Years

More than
10 Years

Primary Government
U.S. agency securities 5,362,025$         -$            5,362,025$ -$            -$            
Money market mutual funds 81,006                81,006        -              -              -              
Government investment pool 12,297,490         12,297,490 -              -              -              

17,740,521$       

 
Credit risk – State law limits investments in commercial paper to the 
top two ratings issued by nationally recognized statistical rating 
organizations. The Township has no investment policy that would 
further limit its investment choices. As of year end, the credit quality 
ratings of debt securities (other than U.S. government) are as follows: 
 

Investment Carrying Value Rating
Rating

Organization

Primary Government
U.S. agency securities 5,362,025$     Aaa Moody's
Money market mutual funds 81,006            AAAm S&P
Government investment pool 12,297,490     AAAm S&P

17,740,521$   

Concentration of credit risk: 
 
Government-wide 
It is the policy of the Township to invest its funds in a manner which 
will ensure the preservation of principal and provide the highest 
investment return with the maximum security while meeting the daily 
cash flow needs of the Township and complying with all state statutes 
governing the investment of public funds. 
 
More than 5% of the Township’s government-wide investments are in: 
 
Federal National Mortgage Association (FNMA) $5,362,025 
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Pension and Similar Trust Funds 
Pension and similar trust funds are authorized by Michigan Public Act 
314 of 1965, as amended, to invest in certain reverse repurchase 
agreements, stocks, diversified investment companies, annuity 
investment contracts, real estate leased to public entities, mortgages, 
debt or equity of certain small businesses, certain state and local 
government obligations, and certain other specified investment 
vehicles. 
 
More than 5% of the Township’s pension and similar trust funds’ 
investments are in: 
 
Pension Investments
Western Asset Intermediate Bond Fund 1,473,485$       
Federated Hermes International Equity Fund 680,940            
Fidelity 500 Index Fund 1,590,634         

OPEB Investments
Mission Square II Model Portfolio Conservative Fund 7,595,597         

 
Note 4 - Fair Value Measurements 

The Township categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair 
value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting 
principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to 
measure the fair value of the asset.  Level 1 inputs are quoted prices 
in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant 
other observable inputs; and Level 3 inputs are significant 
unobservable inputs.  Investments that are measured at fair value 
using the net asset value per share (or its equivalent) as a practical 
expedient are not classified in the fair value hierarchy. 
 
 
 
 
 

In instances whereby inputs used to measure fair value fall into 
different levels in the above fair value hierarchy, fair value 
measurements in their entirety are categorized based on the lowest 
level input that is significant to the valuation. The Township’s 
assessment of the significance of particular inputs to these fair value 
measurements requires judgment and considers factors specific to 
each asset or liability. 
 
Debt securities are valued by the Township’s investment custodian 
using independent pricing services based on the type of asset. The 
pricing services may use valuation models or matrix pricing, which 
consider: (a) benchmark yields, (b) reported trades, (c) broker/dealer 
quotes, (d) benchmark securities, (e) bids or offers, and (f) reference 
data. The Township’s level 2 investments as noted in the table below 
are valued using significant other observable inputs of the underlying 
securities.  
 
The Township has the following recurring fair value measurements as 
of year end: 

Investment

 Balance at

December 31, 2021 

 Quoted Prices in

Active Markets

for Identical Assets

(Level1) 

 Significant Other

Observable

Inputs

(Level 2) 

 Significant

Unobservable

Inputs

(Level 3) 

Primary Government
U.S. agency securities

Residential mortgage backed securities 5,362,025$               -$                      5,362,025$          -$                
Certificates of deposit 3,005,846                 3,005,846             -                       -                  

8,367,871                 3,005,846             5,362,025            -                  

Fiduciary Funds
Exchange traded funds 1,167,319                 1,167,319             -                       -                  
Money market funds 81,006                      81,006                  -                       -                  
Mutual funds 4,175,907                 4,175,907             -                       -                  

5,424,232                 5,424,232             -                       -                  

13,792,103               8,430,078$           5,362,025$          -$                

Investments carried at net asset value
Michigan CLASS government investment pool 12,297,557               
MissionSquare II Model Portfolio Conservative Fund 7,595,597                 

Total investments 33,685,257$             

Fair Value Measurement Using
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Investments in Entities that Calculate Net Asset Value per Share 
 
The Township holds shares or interests in investment companies 
whereby the fair value of the investments is measured on a recurring 
basis using net asset value per share (or its equivalent) of the 
investment companies as a practical expedient.  
 
The net asset value of the Township's investment in Michigan CLASS 
was $12,297,557. The investment pool had no unfunded 
commitments, specific redemption frequency or redemption notice 
period required. The Michigan CLASS investment pool invests in U.S. 
treasury obligations, federal agency obligations of the U.S. 
government, high-grade commercial paper (rated ‘A-1’ or better) 
collateralized bank deposits, repurchase agreements (collateralized at 
102% by Treasuries and agencies), and approved money-market 
funds. The program seeks to provide safety, liquidity, convenience, 
and competitive rates of return, and is designed to meet the needs of 
Michigan public sector investors. It purchases securities that are 
legally permissible under state statutes and are available for 
investment by Michigan counties, cities, townships, school districts, 
authorities and other public agencies. It has a rating of AAA from 
Standard and Poor’s with a weighted average maturity of 54 days. 
 
The net asset value of the Township’s investment in the 
MissionSquare II Model Portfolio Conservative Fund (Fund) was 
$7,595,597. There are no unfunded commitments, specific 
redemption frequencies or redemption notice periods required. The 
Fund invests in a combination of MissionSquare Funds Class M and 
third-party ETFs to seek to obtain exposure to approximately 62% 
fixed income investments, 34% equity investments, and 4% multi-
strategy investments. These asset allocations are referred to as 
“neutral targets” because they do not reflect decisions that may be 
made by MissionSquare Investments (MSQI), the investment advisor 
to the Fund, to overweight or underweight a particular asset class 
based on market or operational factors. The neutral targets also do 
not reflect performance differences between the Fund’s asset class 

allocations that will cause temporary deviations from the neutral 
targets. The actual asset class allocation of the Fund may vary by as 
much as +/-10 percentage points for the fixed income and equity 
investments as a result of MSQI’s allocation decisions, performance 
differences between asset classes of the Fund, or some combination 
thereof, although the multi-strategy investments will generally not 
exceed 7 percentage points of the Fund’s total assets. 
 
Note 5 - Receivables 

The only receivables not expected to be collected within one year are 
as follows: 
 

 Due After One 

Year  Fund 

Primary government

Special assessments 80,000$            Nonmajor governmental funds

 
Note 6 - Unearned Revenue 

Unearned revenue is reported in connection with resources that have 
been received but not yet earned. At the end of the current fiscal year, 
unearned revenue is as follows: 
 
Primary government
Grants 2,260,632$    

Charges for services 78,035           

2,338,667$    
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Note 7 - Capital Assets 

Capital assets activity of the primary government for the current year 
is as follows: 
 

Beginning Ending
Balance Increases Decreases Balance

Governmental Activities

Capital assets not being depreciated

Land and land improvements 34,735,192$         1,450,891$           -$                      36,186,083$         

Construction in progress 665,076                116,458                665,076                116,458                

Total capital assets not being depreciated 35,400,268           1,567,349             665,076                36,302,541           

Capital assets being depreciated

Local roads 11,614,037           2,984,076             -                        14,598,113           

Buildings, additions and improvements 17,957,895           910,238                -                        18,868,133           

Furniture and equipment 1,653,807             111,650                132,377                1,633,080             

Drainage flow rights 4,992,489             3,120,000             -                        8,112,489             

Total capital assets being depreciated 36,218,228           7,125,964             132,377                43,211,815           

Less accumulated depreciation for

Local roads 6,761,058             1,546,116             -                        8,307,174             

Buildings, additions and improvements 6,658,009             745,699                -                        7,403,708             

Furniture and equipment 1,054,169             165,365                132,377                1,087,157             

Drainage flow rights 1,318,406             131,658                -                        1,450,064             

Total accumulated depreciation 15,791,642           2,588,838             132,377                18,248,103           

Net capital assets being depreciated 20,426,586           4,537,126             -                        24,963,712           

Capital assets, net 55,826,854$         6,104,475$           665,076$              61,266,253$         

Internal Service Fund:

Capital assets being depreciated

Machinery and equipment 312,190$              7,960$                  -$                      320,150$              

Vehicles 5,549,499             795,448                388,827                5,956,120             

Total capital assets being depreciated 5,861,689             803,408                388,827                6,276,270             

Less accumulated depreciation for

Machinery and equipment 238,199                16,939                  -                        255,138                

Vehicles 3,791,904             472,775                388,827                3,875,852             

Total accumulated depreciation 4,030,103             489,714                388,827                4,130,990             

Net capital assets being depreciated 1,831,586             313,694                -                        2,145,280             

Capital assets, net 1,831,586$           313,694$              -$                      2,145,280$           

Governmental capital assets not being depreciated 35,400,268$         1,567,349$           665,076$              36,302,541$         

Net governmental capital assets being depreciated 22,258,172           4,850,820             -                        27,108,992           

Net governmental activities capital assets 57,658,440$         6,418,169$           665,076$              63,411,533$         

Beginning Ending
Balance Increases Decreases Balance

Business-type activities

Capital assets not being depreciated

Land 363,060$              -$                      -$                      363,060$              

Construction in progress 6,443                    -                        6,443                    -                        

Total capital assets not being depreciated 369,503                -                        6,443                    363,060                

Capital assets being depreciated

Buildings and improvements 3,356,737             -                        -                        3,356,737             

Other tools and equipment 3,892,492             163,406                58,716                  3,997,182             

Water and sewer mains 72,591,717           264,356                -                        72,856,073           

Participation in East Lansing Sewage System 30,257,611           1,240,898             2,143,328             29,355,181           

Total capital assets being depreciated 110,098,557         1,668,660             2,202,044             109,565,173         

Less accumulated depreciation for

Buildings and improvements 3,266,283             9,191                    -                        3,275,474             

Other tools and equipment 2,938,345             113,197                58,716                  2,992,826             

Water and sewer mains 35,139,497           1,305,082             -                        36,444,579           

Participation in East Lansing Sewage System 1,834,755             574,694                -                        2,409,449             

Total accumulated depreciation 43,178,880           2,002,164             58,716                  45,122,328           

Net capital assets being depreciated 66,919,677           (333,504)               2,143,328             64,442,845           

Business-type capital assets, net 67,289,180$         (333,504)$             2,149,771$           64,805,905$         
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Depreciation expense was charged to programs of the Township as 
follows: 
 
Governmental activities
General government 394,289$           
Public safety 284,310             
Public works 1,677,774          
Health and welfare 15,852               

Recreation and culture 216,613             

2,588,838          
Capital assets held by the government's internal service funds are 
charged to the various functions based on their usage of the assets 489,714             

Total governmental activities 3,078,552          

Business-type activities
Water 750,490             
Sewer 1,251,674          

Total business-type activities 2,002,164          

Total primary government 5,080,716$        

 
Construction Commitments 
The Township entered into a contract for roadway improvements of 
$2,650,642. As of December 31, 2021, $314,650 remained 
outstanding on the contract.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Note 8 - Interfund Receivables, Payables, and Transfers 

The composition of interfund balances is as follows: 
 

Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount

Due from/to other funds
General fund Land preservation fund 325$                     
General fund Nonmajor governmental funds 1,937                    
General fund Internal service fund 1,256                    
General fund Sewer fund 530                       
General fund Water fund 1,680                    
Sewer fund Nonmajor governmental funds 3,513                    
Water fund Nonmajor governmental funds 14,335                  

23,576$                

The outstanding balances between funds result mainly from the time 
lag between the dates that 1) interfund goods and services are 
provided or reimbursable expenditures occur, 2) transactions are 
recorded in the accounting system, and 3) payments between funds 
are made. 
 
The details for interfund transfers are as follows: 
 

Funds Transferred From Funds Transferred To Amount

General fund Local roads fund (1) 280,000$    
General fund Internal service fund (2) 231,300      
Nonmajor governmental funds General fund (3) 50,000        

561,300$    

(3) To provide additional funding to the Parks fund.

(1) To support local roads.
(2) To support purchase of public safety vehicles.
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Note 9 -  Long-Term Debt  

The Township issues bonds to provide for the acquisition and construction of major capital facilities. General obligation bonds are direct obligations 
and pledge the full faith and credit of the Township. Compensated absences are typically satisfied by the general fund, internal service fund, water 
fund and sewer fund. 

Interest Principal

Amount of Maturity Rate Maturity Beginning Ending Due Within
Issue Date Ranges Ranges Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year

Governmental activities

Bonds and notes payable

General obligation bonds

 Fire Station Construction Bond 3,500,000$          2028 2.00% - 2.80% $230,000 - $270,000 1,985,000$       -$               230,000$       1,755,000$       235,000$       

 Road Construction Bond 11,100,000          2023 5.00% $1,525,000 - $3,360,000 8,050,000         -                 3,165,000      4,885,000         3,360,000      

Special assessment obligations

 Towar Gardens 3,485,000            2026 4.98% $187,320 1,123,920         -                 187,320         936,600            187,320         

 Towar Snell 965,000               2026 5.40% $25,125 150,750            -                 25,125           125,625            25,125           

 Briarwood 211,500               2026 5.33% $10,575 63,450              -                 10,575           52,875              10,575           

 Kinawa 190,000               2032 4.19% $10,000 120,000            -                 10,000           110,000            10,000           

 Ember Oaks 35,800                 2033 5.25% $1,790 23,270              -                 1,790             21,480              1,790             

 Smith Consolidated 111,953               2036 3.22% $5,592-$5,598 89,562              -                 5,598             83,964              5,598             

 Nemoka 3,120,000            2040 2.49% $156,000 -                    3,120,000      156,000         2,964,000         156,000         

 Total 11,605,952       3,120,000      3,791,408      10,934,544       3,991,408      

Less deferred amounts

For issuance premiums 660,361            -                 220,121         440,240            -                 

Total 12,266,313       3,120,000      4,011,529      11,374,784       3,991,408      

Compensated absences 839,694            600,888         621,441         819,141            147,607         

Internal service fund obligations

Compensated absences 6,765                11,893           8,161             10,497              1,889             

Total governmental activities 13,112,772$     3,732,781$     4,641,131$    12,204,422$     4,140,904$    

Business-type activities

Bonds and notes payable

 Other governmental obligations 

 2013 SRF Wastewater Optimization Bonds 681,738$             2033 2.00% $32,994-$41,410 472,776$          -$               -$              472,776$          64,766$         

 2015 SRF Wastewater Optimization Bonds 4,999,500            2036 2.50% $221,645-$313,297 4,187,912         -                 216,645         3,971,267         221,645         

 2017 SRF Wastewater Optimization Bonds 5,632,185            2038 2.50% $225,474-$590,036 8,274,240         228,089         -                8,502,329         800,881         

 2019 SRF Wastewater Optimization Bonds 4,837,994            2040 2.00% $542,345-$791,600 13,849,233       917,657         2,143,324      12,623,566       1,136,975      

 2021 SRF Wastewater Optimization Bonds 2,440,234            2023 1.88% $95,149 -                    95,149           -                95,149              -                 

Total 26,784,161       1,240,895      2,359,969      25,665,087       2,224,267      

Compensated absences

Water Fund 59,691              -                 11,124           48,567              8,742             

Sewer Fund 40,502              56,787           59,502           37,787              6,802             

Total business-type activities 26,884,354$     1,297,682$     2,430,595$    25,751,441$     2,239,811$    
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Annual debt service requirements to maturity for the above obligations 
are as follows: 
 

Year Ending

 December 31, Principal Interest

2022 3,991,408$     405,203$        
2023 2,161,408       220,036          
2024 641,408          126,214          
2025 646,408          108,160          
2026 651,408          89,549            

2027 - 2031 1,396,940       265,862          
2032 - 2036 821,564          139,362          
2037 - 2040 624,000          38,844            

10,934,544$   1,393,230$     

Governmental Activities

Bonds

 

Year Ending

 December 31, Principal Interest

2022 2,224,267$     1,186,210$     
2023 1,355,693       1,125,790       
2024 1,292,307       1,063,874       
2025 1,322,404       1,003,329       
2026 1,351,310       941,429          

2027 - 2031 7,228,005       3,711,883       
2032 - 2036 7,965,243       1,975,844       
2037 - 2040 2,925,858       314,598          

25,665,087$   11,322,957$   

Business-type Activities

Bonds

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Other Debt 
From time to time, the Economic Development Corporation issues 
limited Obligation Revenue Bonds to provide financial assistance to 
private sector entities for the acquisition and construction of 
commercial facilities deemed to be in the public interest. The bonds 
are secured by the property financed. The resulting debt of the 
developers is serviced directly by the financial institution. Neither the 
Township nor any political subdivision thereof is obligated in any 
manner for repayment of the bonds. Accordingly, the bonds are not 
reported as liabilities in the accompanying financial statements. 
 
As of December 31, 2021, there were three series of Limited 
Obligation Revenue Bonds outstanding, with an aggregate principal 
amount payable of $6,740,000. 
 
Note 10 -  Net Investment in Capital Assets  

The composition of net investment in capital assets as of December 
31, 2021, was as follows: 
 

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities

Capital assets
Capital assets not being depreciated 36,302,541$        363,060$             
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 27,108,992          64,442,845          

Total capital assets 63,411,533          64,805,905          

Unspent bond proceeds 3,051,133            -                       

Related debt
General obligation bonds 10,934,544          25,665,087          
Unamortized bond premiums 440,240               -                       

Total related debt 11,374,784          25,665,087          

Net investment in capital assets 55,087,882$        39,140,818$        

 
 



Charter Township of Meridian 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

  For the Year Ended December 31, 2021  

 

3 - 35 

Note 11 -  Risk Management 

The Township is exposed to various risks of loss related to property 
loss, torts, errors and omissions, and employee injuries (workers’ 
compensation), as well as medical benefits provided to employees. 
The Township has purchased commercial insurance for medical 
benefit claims and for claims relating to property loss, torts, and errors 
and omissions. The Township participates in the Michigan Municipal 
Workers’ Compensation Fund (risk pool) for claims relating to 
employee injuries (workers’ compensation). Settled claims relating to 
the commercial insurance have not exceeded the amount of 
insurance coverage in any of the past three fiscal years. 
 
The Michigan Municipal League risk pool program operates as a 
common risk-sharing management program for local units of 
government in Michigan; member premiums are used to purchase 
commercial excess insurance coverage and to pay member claims in 
excess of deductible amounts. 
 
Note 12 -  Employee Retirement Systems 

Charter Township of Meridian Employees’ Retirement System 
 
Plan Administration – The Charter Township of Meridian Pension 
Board is the administrator of the Meridian Township Employees’ 
Pension Plan (Plan), a single-employer defined benefit pension plan 
that provides pensions to all full-time employees of the Township, 
excluding those included in the Municipal Employees’ Retirement 
System of Michigan and defined contribution plan. This Plan is closed 
to new employees. Benefit terms have been established by 
contractual agreements between the Township and the various 
employee union representation; amendments are subject to the same 
process. 
 
 

Management of the Plan is vested with the Pension Board, which 
consists of five members – the Township Treasurer, an employee 
representative, and three residents appointed by the Township 
Supervisor. 
 
This is a single employer defined benefit plan administered by the 
Township. The plan does not issue a separate stand-alone financial 
statement. 
 
Benefits Provided – The Plan provides retirement, disability, and 
death benefits to plan members and their beneficiaries. 
Postretirement cost of living adjustments are not provided. Retirement 
benefits for general plan members are calculated as a percent of the 
member’s final average compensation based on the highest five 
consecutive years out of the last ten years of service. The 
percentages used for the various groups are as follows: 
 
1)  Basic Benefit – A participant eligible for a normal retirement 

benefit shall be entitled to a monthly ten year certain and life 
pension equal to the greater of the amount listed below or his or 
her accrued benefit as of December 31, 1988: 
a.    Non-Represented Employees – 1.0% of final average 

compensation not in excess of $1,725, plus 1.4% of final 
average compensation in excess of $1,725, multiplied by 
years of benefit credited service. 

b.    Professional Supervisory and Non-Supervisory Union 
Employees – Effective January 1, 1988, 1.11% of final 
average compensation multiplied by years of benefit credited 
service. 

c.    Firefighters Union Employees – Effective January 1, 1988, 
1.5% of final average compensation multiplied by years of 
benefit credited service. Effective October 14, 1991, 1.6% of 
final average compensation multiplied by years of benefit 
credited service. Effective April 30, 1996, 1.8% of final average 
compensation multiplied by years of benefit credited service. 
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d.    Police Supervisory Union Employees – Effective January 1, 
1988, 1.6% of final average compensation multiplied by years 
of benefit credited service. Effective July 1, 1994, 2.16% of 
final average compensation multiplied by years of benefit 
credited service. Effective December 31, 1996, 2.25% of final 
average compensation multiplied by years of benefit credited 
service. 

e.    Police Non-Supervisory Union Employees – Effective January 
1, 1987, 1.48% of final average compensation multiplied by 
years of benefit credited service. Effective December 31, 
1991, 1.6% of final average compensation multiplied by years 
of benefit credited service. Effective January 1, 1995, 1.8% of 
final average compensation multiplied by years of benefit 
credited service. 

f.   Public Works/Physical Plant Union Employees – 1.25% of final 
average compensation multiplied by years of benefit credited 
service. 

g.    Clerical and Secretarial Union Employees – 1.05% of final 
average compensation multiplied by years of benefit credited 
service. 

h.    For Any Active Participant Who is an Employee of the 
Township as of May 1, 2000 – 1.5% of final average 
compensation multiplied by years of benefit credited service. 
Effective January 1, 2009, the benefit multiplier of 1.5% shall 
be increased to 1.8% for a participant who is an active non-
union employee hired prior to February 1, 1980. 
 

2)  Additional Normal Retirement Benefit – Any participant-fireman or 
participant-policeman who is entitled to a retirement benefit under 
the Plan shall receive an additional retirement benefit during each 
month for which retirement benefits are payable which is prior to 
the month in which such participant attains age 62. This benefit 
shall not apply to a police supervisory union employee who 
terminates service on or after July 1, 1994.  

 

The additional normal retirement benefit shall equal the amount such 
participant would be entitled to commencing at age 62 under Title II of 
the Social Security Act then in effect, multiplied by a fraction (not 
greater than one), the numerator of which is equal to such 
participant’s years of benefit credited service earned while a 
participant-fireman or participant-policeman as of the date of his or 
her retirement, and the denominator of which is 25. The additional 
normal retirement benefit shall be payable only during the life of the 
retired participant, with no continuing benefits payable to such 
participant's spouse, joint pensioner or other beneficiary following 
death. In addition, the additional normal retirement benefit shall not be 
considered in determining the amount of any pre-retirement death 
benefit payable. Further, the additional normal retirement benefit 
described herein shall not be subject to any actuarial adjustment. 
 
Benefit Options – In lieu of the benefit forms provided for above, a 
participant may elect pursuant to a qualified election made during the 
election period, an actuarially equivalent optional form of benefit. Such 
actuarially equivalent optional form of benefit may be: 
 

1) A monthly benefit payable for the life of the participant with or 
without a period certain (five years or ten years), as specified by 
the participant. If a five- or ten-year period certain is specified, the 
participant shall name one or more designated beneficiaries to 
receive payments after the participant’s death. The participant shall 
specify shares or priority among designated beneficiaries. 
 

2) A monthly benefit payable for life of the participant with a 
percentage (50, 66 2/3, 75, or 100%) of such monthly benefit, as 
specified by the participant, continued to the participant’s eligible 
spouse until his or her death and continued to the participant’s 
designated beneficiary after the eligible spouse’s death. 
 
 
 



Charter Township of Meridian 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

  For the Year Ended December 31, 2021  

 

3 - 37 

Normal Retirement Date – The date on which the participant attains 
age 65, except that the normal retirement date for participant-firemen 
and participant-policemen shall be the earlier of (1) the date on which 
the participant attains age 65, or (2) the date on which the participant 
attains age 55 and completes 25 years of benefit credited service. 
Effective April 1, 1996, in the case of a participant fireman who 
terminates service between April 1, 1996 and April 15, 1996, the age 
requirement in clause (2) of the preceding sentence shall not apply. 
Effective April 30, 1996, the normal retirement date for participant-
fireman shall be the earlier of (1) the date on which the participant 
attains age 65, or (2) the date on which the participant attains age 52 
and completes 25 years of benefit credited service. Effective as of 
April 1, 1997, in the case of a participant-fireman who terminates 
service between April 1, 1997 and May 31, 1997, who, as of April 1, 
1997, has attained age 50 and completed 20 or more years of benefit 
credited service, and the sum of whose age and years of benefit 
credited service was not less than 75 as of April 1, 1997, such 
participant’s normal retirement date shall be the earlier of (1) the date 
determined under the preceding three sentences, or (2) the date on 
which the participant terminates service. Effective January 1, 1991, 
the normal retirement date for police supervisory union employees 
shall be the earlier of (1) the date on which the participant attains age 
65, or (2) the date on which the participant attains age 52 and 
completes 25 years of benefit credited service. Effective December 
31, 1991, the normal retirement date for police non-supervisory union 
employees shall be the earlier of (1) the date on which the participant 
attains age 65, or (2) the date on which the participant attains age 52 
and completes 25 years of benefit credited service. Effective August 
19, 1997, the normal retirement date for the participant holding the 
position of public safety director of the employer on July 1, 1997, shall 
be October 31, 1997. For any active participant employed by the 
Township on or after May 1, 2000, the normal retirement date shall be 
the earlier of (1) the date on which participant attains age 65, or (2) 
the date on which the participant attains age 55 and completes 20 
years of benefit credited service. 
 

Effective June 1, 2003, the normal retirement date for the participant-
police officer labor council – terminated vested participants, police 
department non-supervisory – terminated vested participants and fire 
department – terminated vested participants shall be the earlier of (1) 
the date on which the terminated vested participant attains age 65, or 
(2) the date on which the terminated vested participant attains age 52 
and completes 25 years of benefit credited service, or (3) the date on 
which the terminated vested participant attains age 55 and completes 
15 years of benefit credited service. 
 
Early Retirement Benefit – The “Early Retirement Date” means the 
first day of the month following the month in which the participant 
attains age 55 and completes 15 or more years of benefit credited 
service. A participant eligible for an early retirement benefit hereunder 
shall be entitled to a monthly ten year certain and life pension equal to 
his or her accrued benefit, reduced by 5/9ths of one % for each of the 
first 60 months and 5/18ths of one % for each additional month that 
the date on which the participant’s early retirement benefit 
commences precedes his or her normal retirement date. 
 
Death Benefit – Effective January 1, 1985, upon the death of a 
participant before commencement of benefits under this plan, an early 
survivor’s pension shall be payable to his or her eligible spouse, if 
any. The amount of the early survivor’s pension and the time at which 
it will commence shall be determined as follows: 
 
1)   If the participant had met the requirements for immediate 

commencement of any benefit under the Plan on or prior to his or 
her date of death, the early survivor’s pension shall be the 
survivor’s pension that would have been payable if the participant 
had retired on the day before his or her death and not elected an 
optional form of retirement benefit. 
 

2)  If the participant had not met the requirements for immediate 
commencement of any benefit under the Plan on or prior to his or 
her date of death, the early survivor’s pension shall be the 
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survivor’s pension that would have been payable if the participant 
had:  

 
a.   separated from service on the date of his or her death; 
b.   survived until the earliest date on which he or she could elect 

to receive retirement benefits under the Plan and retired on 
said date without electing an optional form of retirement 
benefit; and 

c.   died on the day after his or her deemed early retirement date. 
 

3)  The death benefit payable shall commence not earlier than the 
earliest date on which the participant could have elected to 
receive retirement benefits under the Plan. 

 
Disability Benefits – A participant eligible for a disability retirement 
benefit under the plan document shall be entitled to a monthly pension 
commencing as of the first day of the month coincident with or next 
following the participant’s normal retirement date in an amount equal 
to what the participant’s normal retirement benefit would be if the 
participant had remained in service until his or her normal retirement 
date (accruing years of benefit credited service until such normal 
retirement date) and based on the participant’s final average 
compensation determined as of the date on which the disability is 
certified. 
 
Plan Membership – As of December 31, 2021, pension plan 
membership consisted of the following: 
 
Inactive plan members or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 42     

Inactive plan members entitled to, but not yet receiving benefits 15     

Active employees* -        

57     

 
*The plan is closed to new members. 
 

Contributions – Article 9, Section 24 of the State of Michigan 
constitution requires that financial benefits arising on account of 
employee service rendered in each year are to be funded during that 
year. Accordingly, the Township retains an independent actuary to 
determine the annual contribution, and the Township considers this 
during the budget process. The actuarially determined rate is the 
estimated amount necessary to finance the costs of benefits earned 
by plan members during the year, with an additional amount to finance 
any unfunded accrued liability. The Plan does not call for any 
employee contributions to the Plan. For the year ended December 31, 
2021, the Township contributed $128,800. 
 
Investment Policy – The Plan’s policy in regard to the allocation of 
invested assets is established and may be amended by the Pension 
Board by a majority vote of its members. It is the policy of the Pension 
Board to pursue an investment strategy that manages risk through the 
prudent diversification of the portfolio across a broad selection of 
distinct asset classes. The Plan’s investment policy discourages the 
use of cash equivalents, except for liquidity purposes, and aims to 
refrain from dramatically shifting asset class allocations over short 
time spans. The Plan’s asset allocation policy is as follows: 
 

Target
Asset Class Allocation

Domestic equity - large cap 40.00%
Domestic equity - small cap 13.00%
International equity 8.00%
Intermediate bonds - fixed income 32.00%
Real estate 4.00%
Cash or cash equivalents 3.00%

100.00%

Rate of Return – For the year ended December 31, 2021, the annual 
money-weighted rate of return on Plan investments, net of investment 
expense, was 11.55%. The money-weighted rate of return expresses 
investment performance, net of investment expense, adjusted for the 
changing amounts actually invested. 
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Reserves – The Plan does not require reserves to be set aside. 
 
Funding Policy – Historically, the Township has made periodic 
employer contributions at actuarially determined rates; however, this 
is a closed plan with only one active employee that was over 100% 
funded in 2008. The Township suspended contributions, so as to not 
overfund the Plan. The subsequent economic downturn resulted in the 
Plan dropping to 76% funded at the time of the January 1, 2011 
actuarial valuation. Township management made the decision to 
resume funding the Plan in 2012. The Township once again 
suspended contributions for 2013. The Plan was funded at 66.9% at 
the time of the January 1, 2014 actuarial valuation and 65.9% at the 
time of the January 1, 2013 actuarial valuation. The Township 
resumed contributions for the years ended December 31, 2014 
through 2021. Administrative costs of the Plan are financed through 
investment earnings. 
 
Net Pension Asset – The components of the net pension asset as of 
December 31, 2021 were as follows: 
 

Total pension liability - ending 4,928,517$           

Plan fiduciary net position - ending 5,427,354             

Net pension asset (498,837)$             

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of total pension liability 110.12%               

Actuarial Assumptions – The December 31, 2021 total pension liability 
was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2021. 
The measurement date was December 31, 2021 and all census data 
provided to the actuary was as of December 31, 2021, therefore no 
update procedures to roll forward the estimated liability to December 
31, 2021 were needed.  
 
 
 
 

The valuation used the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all 
periods included in the measurement: 
 
Inflation  4.50% 
Salary increases  4.50%  
Investment rate of return  6.00% Net of pension plan investment  
 expenses, including inflation 
 
Mortality rates were based on the fully generational Pub-2010 
amount-weighted General Mortality Tables for males and females with 
MP-2019 mortality improvement scales. The actuarial assumptions 
are generally based on past experience, modified for projected 
changes in conditions. 
 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments of 
6.0% was determined using a building-block method in which best-
estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected 
returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are 
developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to 
produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the 
expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation 
percentage and by adding expected inflation. The best estimates of 
arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class are 
summarized in the following table: 
 

Long-term
Expected Real

Asset Class Rate of Return
Domestic equity - large cap 7.35%
Domestic equity - small cap 8.55%
International equity 8.80%
Intermediate bonds - fixed income 3.00%
Real estate 7.05%
Cash or cash equivalents 0.00%
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Discount Rate – The discount rate used to measure the total pension 
liability was 6.0%. The projection of cash flows used to determine the 
discount rate assumed that employee contributions will be made at 
the current contribution rate and that Township contributions will be 
made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined 
contribution rates and the employee rate. Based on those 
assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected 
to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of 
current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the long-term 
expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all 
periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension 
liability. 
 
Changes in Net Pension Asset – The components of the change in 
net pension asset are summarized as follows: 
 

Total Pension Liability
Service cost 8,529$                  
Interest on the total pension liability 294,717                
Changes in assumptions (51,802)                 

Benefit payments and refunds (461,241)               

Net change in total pension liability (209,797)               

Total pension liability - beginning 5,138,314             

Total pension liability - ending (a) 4,928,517$           

Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Employer contributions 128,800$              
Net investment income 577,376                

Benefit payments and refunds (461,241)               

Net change in plan fiduciary net position 244,935                

Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 5,182,419             

Plan fiduciary net position - ending (b) 5,427,354$           

Net pension asset (a-b) (498,837)$             

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of total pension liability 110.12%               
Covered payroll N/A
Net pension asset as a percentage of covered payroll N/A

 

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Asset to Changes in the Discount Rate 
– The following presents the net pension asset of the Township, 
calculated using the discount rate of 6.0%, as well as what the 
Township’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a 
discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower (5.0%) or 1 percentage 
point higher (7.0%) than the current rate: 
 

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

Net pension asset (141,249)$         (498,837)$       (813,543)$         

Pension Expense and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 
Pensions – For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Township 
recognized pension benefit of $271,843. As of December 31, 2021, 
the Township reported deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions from the following sources:  
 

Deferred
Inflows of

Resources

Net difference between projected and actual earnings
on plan investments (573,572)$      

 
Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources related to 
pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:  

 
Year Ending December 31,

2022 (150,660)$      
2023 (247,622)        
2024 (120,010)        
2025 (55,280)          

(573,572)$      
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Municipal Employees’ Retirement System of Michigan 
 
Plan Description – The Township participates in an agent multiple-
employer defined benefit pension plan administered by the Municipal 
Employees' Retirement System of Michigan (MERS), which covers 
eligible employees of the Township. MERS was established as a 
statewide public employee pension plan by the Michigan Legislature 
under PA 135 of 1945 and is administered by a nine-member 
retirement board. MERS issues a publicly available financial report 
which includes the financial statements and required supplemental 
information of this defined benefit plan. This report can be obtained at 
www.mersofmichigan.com or in writing to MERS at 1134 Municipal 
Way, Lansing, Michigan 48917. 
 
Benefits Provided – The Plan provides certain retirement, disability, 
and death benefits to plan members and beneficiaries. PA 427 of 
1984, as amended, established and amends the benefit provisions of 
the participants in MERS. The MERS plan covers all public works 
(American Federation of State, County, and Municipal Employees 
(AFSCME)), police nonsupervisory, clerical unit, police supervisory 
employees, firefighters, and Teamsters employees of the Township. 
 

01 - DPW Closed to new hires
Benefit Multiplier 2.25% Multiplier (80% max)
Normal Retirement Age 60
Vesting 6 years
Early Retirement (Unreduced) 55/20
Early Retirement (Reduced) 50/25 or 55/15
Final Average Compensation 5 years
Employee Contributions 5.00%
Act 88 Yes (Adopted 7/10/2001)

 

02 - Police Patrol Closed to new hires
Benefit Multiplier 2.75% Multiplier (80% max)
Normal Retirement Age 60
Vesting 10 years
Early Retirement (Unreduced) 50/25
Early Retirement (Reduced) 55/15
Final Average Compensation 3 years
COLA for Future Retirees 2.50% (Non-Compound)
Employee Contributions 8.29%
D-2 D-2 (25%)
Act 88 Yes (Adopted 7/10/2001)

05 - Firefighters Closed to new hires
Benefit Multiplier 2.75% Multiplier (80% max)
Normal Retirement Age 60
Vesting 10 years
Early Retirement (Unreduced) 50/25
Early Retirement (Reduced) 55/15
Final Average Compensation 3 years
COLA for Future Retirees 2.50% (Non-Compound)
Employee Contributions 7.76%
D-2 D-2 (25%)
Act 88 Yes (Adopted 7/10/2001)

10 - Admin Professional Closed to new hires
Benefit Multiplier 2.50% Multiplier (80% max)
Normal Retirement Age 60
Vesting 10 years
Early Retirement (Unreduced) 55/25
Early Retirement (Reduced) 50/25 or 55/15
Final Average Compensation 5 years
Employee Contributions 5.00%
Act 88 Yes (Adopted 7/10/2001)
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11 - Teamsters Open Division
Benefit Multiplier 2.00% Multiplier (no max)
Normal Retirement Age 60
Vesting 6 years
Early Retirement (Unreduced) 55/20
Early Retirement (Reduced) 50/25 or 55/15
Final Average Compensation 5 years
Employee Contributions 5.00%
Act 88 Yes (Adopted 7/10/2001)

12 - Admin Professional on/aft 1/1/17 Open Division
Benefit Multiplier 1.50% Multiplier (no max)
Normal Retirement Age 60
Vesting 10 years
Early Retirement (Unreduced) 55/25
Early Retirement (Reduced) 50/25 or 55/15
Final Average Compensation 5 years
Employee Contributions 5.00%
Act 88 Yes (Adopted 7/10/2001)

13 - DPW on/aft 1/1/17 Open Division
Benefit Multiplier 1.50% Multiplier (80% max)
Normal Retirement Age 60
Vesting 6 years
Early Retirement (Unreduced) 55/20
Early Retirement (Reduced) 50/25 or 55/15
Final Average Compensation 5 years
Employee Contributions 5.00%
Act 88 Yes (Adopted 7/10/2001)

20 - Police Command Closed to new hires 
Benefit Multiplier 2.75% Multiplier (80% max)
Normal Retirement Age 60
Vesting 10 years
Early Retirement (Unreduced) 50/25
Early Retirement (Reduced) 55/15
Final Average Compensation 3 years
COLA for Future Retirees 2.50% (Non-Compound)
Employee Contributions 11.24%
D-2 D-2 (25%)
Act 88 Yes (Adopted 7/10/2001)

21 - Command/Patrol on/aft 1/1/20 Open Division
Benefit Multiplier 1.75% Multiplier (no max)
Normal Retirement Age 60
Vesting 10 years
Early Retirement (Unreduced) 55/25
Early Retirement (Reduced) 50/25 or 55/15
Final Average Compensation 3 years
Employee Contributions 8.29%
D-2 D-2 (25%)
Act 88 Yes (Adopted 7/10/2001)

 
Benefit terms, within the parameters established by MERS, are 
generally established and amended by authority of the Township 
Board. 
 
Employees Covered by Benefit Terms – As of the December 31, 2020 
measurement date, the following employees were covered by the 
benefit terms: 
 
Inactive plan members or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 106      

Inactive plan members entitled to, but not yet receiving benefits 84        

Active employees 105      
295      
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Contributions – Article 9, Section 24 of the State of Michigan 
constitution requires that financial benefits arising on account of 
employee service rendered in each year be funded during that year. 
Accordingly, MERS retains an independent actuary to determine the 
annual contribution. The employer is required to contribute amounts at 
least equal to the actuarially determined rate, as established by the 
MERS retirement board. The actuarially determined rate is the 
estimated amount necessary to finance the costs of benefits earned 
by plan members during the year, with an additional amount to 
finance any unfunded accrued liability. The employer may establish 
contribution rates to be paid by its covered employees. For the year 
ended December 31, 2021, the employee and employer contribution 
rates were as follows: 
 

Employer
Contributions

Employee
Contributions

01 - DPW - 5.00%
02 - Police Patrol 28.95% 8.29%
05 - Firefighters - 7.76%
10 - Admin Professional - 5.00%
11 - Teamsters 0.00% 5.00%
12 - Admin Prof on/aft 1/1/17 2.43% 5.00%
13 - DPW on/aft 1/1/17 3.19% 5.00%
20 - Police Command 77.29% 11.24%
50 - Fire IAFF on/aft 1/1/17 2.18% 7.76%

Percentage of Payroll

 
Net Pension Liability – The net pension liability reported as of 
December 31, 2021 was determined using a measure of the total 
pension liability and the pension net position as of December 31, 
2020. The December 31, 2020 total pension liability was determined 
by an actuarial valuation performed as of that date. 
 
 
 
 

Actuarial Assumptions – The total pension liability in the December 
31, 2020 actuarial valuation was determined using the following 
actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the 
measurement: 
 
Inflation  2.50% 
Salary increases  3.00% 
Investment rate of return  7.35% Gross of pension plan 

investment expenses, including 
inflation 

 
Mortality rates were based on the fully generational Pub-2010 
amount-weighted General Mortality Tables for males and females with 
MP-2019 mortality improvement scales. 
 
The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2020 valuation 
were based on the results of the most recent actuarial experience 
study in 2016.  
 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments 
was determined using a model in which best-estimate ranges of 
expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension 
plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major 
asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term 
expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of 
return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding 
expected inflation.  
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The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of 
return as of December 31, 2020, the measurement date, for each 
major asset class are summarized in the following table: 
 

Target Long-Term Long-Term
Target Allocation Gross Expected Gross Inflation Expected Real

Asset Class Allocation Rate of Return Rate of Return Assumption Rate of Return
Global equity 60.00% 7.75% 4.65% 2.50% 3.15%
Global fixed income 20.00% 3.75% 0.75% 2.50% 0.25%
Private investments 20.00% 9.75% 1.95% 2.50% 1.45%

100.00% 7.35% 4.85%

Discount Rate – The discount rate used to measure the total pension 
liability was 7.60%. The projection of cash flows used to determine the 
discount rate assumes that employee contributions will be made at 
the current contribution rate and that employer contributions will be 
made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined 
contribution rates and the employee rate. Based on those 
assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected 
to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of 
current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the long-term 
expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all 
periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension 
liability. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Changes in Net Pension Liability – The components of the change in 
net pension liability are summarized as follows: 
 
Total Pension Liability
Service cost 983,064$              
Interest on the total pension liability 5,347,638             
Differences between expected and actual experience 83,960                  
Changes in assumptions 2,359,578             

Benefit payments and refunds (3,864,734)            

Net change in total pension liability 4,909,506             

Total pension liability - beginning 71,804,504           

Total pension liability - ending (a) 76,714,010$         

Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Employer contributions 4,176,804$           
Employee contributions 507,808                
Net investment income 6,164,510             
Benefit payments and refunds (3,864,734)            

Administrative expense (93,507)                 

 Net change in plan fiduciary net position 6,890,881             

Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 45,404,217           

Plan fiduciary net position - ending (b) 52,295,098$         

Net pension liability (a-b) 24,418,912$         

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of total pension liability 68.17%                 
Covered payroll 6,525,085$           
Net pension liability as a percentage of covered payroll 374.23%               
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Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount 
Rate – The following presents the net pension liability of the 
Township, calculated using the discount rate of 7.60%, as well as 
what the Township’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated 
using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower (6.6%) or 1 
percentage point higher (8.6%) than the current rate: 
 

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

Net pension liability 34,304,143$     24,418,912$     16,274,856$     

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred 
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions – For the year ended 
December 31, 2021, the Township recognized pension expense of 
$2,816,153. As of December 31, 2021, the Township reported 
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions from the following sources: 
 

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of Amount to
Resources Resources Amortize

Difference between expected and actual experience 70,026$        (194,236)$     (124,210)$     
Changes in assumptions 3,033,522     -                3,033,522     
Net difference between projected and actual earnings

on plan investments -                (1,935,327)    (1,935,327)    
Contributions subsequent to the

measurement date* 4,759,365     -                -                

Total 7,862,913$   (2,129,563)$  973,985$      

*The amount reported as deferred outflows of resources resulting 
from contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be 
recognized as a reduction in the net pension liability for the year 
ending 2021.  
 
 
 
 

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension 
expense as follows: 
 

Year Ending December 31,

2022 665,856$      
2023 1,227,902     
2024 (382,534)       
2025 (537,239)       

973,985$      

 
Financial Statement Reconciliation 
 

Net Deferred Deferred Total
Pension Outflows of Inflows of Pension

Liability (Asset) Resources Resources Expense
Charter Township of Meridian 
    Employees' Retirement System (498,837)$     -$             (573,572)$    271,843$     
Municipal Employee's Retirement
     System of Michigan 24,418,912   7,862,913    (2,129,563)   2,816,153    

23,920,075$ 7,862,913$  (2,703,135)$ 3,087,996$  

 
Note 13 -  Defined Contribution Plan Description 

Meridian Charter Township Money Purchase Plan 
The Township provides pension benefits to its nonunion, professional 
supervisory, and professional nonsupervisory employees through a 
defined contribution plan which is administered by ICMA. The 
Township also provides a defined contribution Retirement Health 
Savings Plan (RHS) for all employees, except the police and fire 
union personnel, through a plan administered by Vantage Care. In a 
defined contribution plan, benefits depend solely on amounts 
contributed to the plan plus investment earnings. The plan provisions 
and contribution requirements were established through negotiation 
with the Township’s competitive bargaining units. For the defined 
contribution plan, the Township contributes 10% of employees’ gross 
earnings, while employees contribute 3.5%. For the healthcare plan, 
the Township contributes 2% of employees’ gross earnings, while 
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employees contribute 1%. Additionally, when an employee separates 
or retires from the Township, 0.25% of their unused sick time is 
contributed to their Retirement Health Savings Plan.  
 
In accordance with these requirements, the Township contributed 
$359,668 and $131,988 during the current year and employees 
contributed $104,812 and $90,238 for the defined contribution and 
healthcare plans, respectively. 
 
Note 14 - Other Postemployment Benefits 

Plan description – The Township, in accordance with the labor 
contracts, administers the Charter Township of Meridian Other 
Postemployment Benefits Plan - a single employer defined benefits 
plan used to provide postemployment health care benefits. The 
committee designated with oversight within the Township consists of 
the Township Manager, Finance Director, and Township Treasurer.  
 
This is a single employer defined benefit plan administered by the 
Township. The benefits are provided under collective bargaining 
agreements. The plan does not issue a separate stand-alone financial 
statement. Administrative costs are paid by the plan through the 
employer contributions. 
 
Benefits provided – Benefits are provided through a self-insurance 
plan, and half of the cost of benefits is covered by the plan. The 
Township, in accordance with labor contracts, has the authority to 
establish and amend the benefit terms. Benefits are provided for as 
follows: 
 
Retiree Coverage and Eligibility 
All police and fire uniformed employees (MTFFA/POAM/FOP) receive 
two-person coverage after reaching age 50 with 25 years of service. 
The Township pays 50% of the monthly premium.  
 

All AFSCME-DPW and Teamsters employees who are hired prior to 
1981 and have at least twenty (20) years of service and are at least 
age 55. The Township will pay one-half (1/2) of the two (2) person 
rate (not to exceed $4,000 annually) or one-half (1/2) the single 
subscriber rate (not to exceed $2,000 annually).  
 
AFSCME-Clerical, AFSCME-Non-Supervisory, Professional 
Supervisory and Non-Union employees do not receive retiree post-
retirement health coverage.  
 
Spouse Coverage  
One-half of the cost of spouse coverage is included for retirees 
covered by the MTFFA, POAM and FOP collective bargaining 
agreements. AFSCME-DPW and Teamsters employees’ spouse are 
covered subject to the limits listed above.  
 
Coverage for Beneficiary of Deceased Active Employee  
MTFFA only – Coverage will be maintained for the firefighter and 
his/her family after his/her death or disability. The coverage will be 
maintained for the spouse until remarriage and for the children until 
they reach age 21 or until they marry, if marrying before age 21.  
 
Coverage for Beneficiary of Deceased Retired Employee  
One-half of the cost of the surviving spouse coverage is included for 
retirees covered by the MTFFA, POAM and FOP collective bargaining 
agreements. AFSCME-DPW and Teamsters employees’ surviving 
spouse are covered subject to the limits listed above. 
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Employees covered by benefit terms – At December 31, 2021, the 
plan membership consisted of the following: 
 
Inactive plan members or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 33           

Inactive plan members entitled to, but not yet receiving benefits 36           

Active plan members 59           
128         

Contributions – The Township, in accordance with labor contracts, 
has the authority to establish and amend the contribution 
requirements of the Township and plan members. The Township 
establishes rates based on an actuarially determined rate. For the 
year ended December 31, 2021, the Township contributed $190,327.  
Plan members are required to contribute 0 percent to the plan.   
 
Investment policy – The Plan does not have a formal policy in regards 
to the allocation of invested assets. Establishing such a policy, and 
any subsequent amendments to the policy, would require a majority 
vote of the Township Board's members. It is the intention of the Board 
to pursue an investment strategy that reduces risk through the 
prudent diversification of the portfolio across the broad selection of 
distinct asset classes. The Plan informally discourages the use of 
cash equivalents, except for liquidity purposes, and aims to refrain 
from dramatically shifting asset class allocations over short time 
spans. The Plan invests in accordance with the authorizations noted 
in note 3 that are applicable to the Township. 
 
The long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments 
have not been formally determined by asset allocation class. The Plan 
as a whole expects the long-term expected rate to be 5%. The Plan 
currently has one investment which is considered a balanced fund 
that seeks to obtain exposure to approximately 62% fixed 
income/stable value investment and 34% equity investments and 4% 
multi-strategy investments. 
 

Rate of return – For the year ended December 31, 2021, the annual 
money-weighted rate of return on investments, net of investment 
expense, was 8.74%. The money-weighted rate of return expresses 
investment performance, net of investment expenses, adjusted for the 
changing amounts actually invested. 
 
Net OPEB liability – The net OPEB liability was measured as of 
December 31, 2021, and the total OPEB liability used to calculate the 
net OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of 
December 31, 2020. The components of the net OPEB liability as of 
December 31, 2021 were as follows: 
 
Total OPEB liability 7,956,889$          
Plan fiduciary net position (7,595,597)           
Net OPEB liability 361,292$             

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total OPEB liability 
is 95.46%. 
 
Actuarial assumptions – The total OPEB liability was determined by 
an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2020, using the following 
actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the 
measurement. 
 
Inflation 2.50%
Salary increases N/A
Investment rate of return

Healthcare cost trend rates Non-medicare: 7.50% in 2021, 
grading to 3.50% in 2032. 

Medicare: 6.25% in 2021, greading 
to 3.50% in 2032.

5.00%, including inflation, net of 
administrative and investment 

expenses
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Mortality rates were based on the following: 
 
Post Retirement: Sex distinct Pub-2010 General Healthy Retiree 
tables scaled by a factor of 106%. The base year is 2010 and future 
mortality improvements are assumed each year using scale MP-2019, 
as published by the Society of Actuaries. 

 
Disabled Retirement: Sex distinct PubNS-2010 Disabled tables 
without adjustment. The base year is 2010 and future mortality 
improvements are assumed each year using scale MP-2019, as 
published by the Society of Actuaries. 
 
Pre Retirement: Sex distinct Pub-2010 General Employees tables 
without adjustment. The base year is 2010 and future mortality 
improvements are assumed each year using scale MP-2019, as 
published by the Society of Actuaries. 
 
Discount rate – A single discount rate of 4.98% was used to measure 
the total OPEB liability. This single discount rate was based on a 
combination of the expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments 
of 5.00% and the municipal bond rate of 1.84%. The projection of 
cash flows used to determine this single discount rate assumed that 
plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution 
rate and that employer contributions will be made at the levels in the 
actuarial report. Based on these assumptions, the OPEB plan’s 
fiduciary net position was not projected to be available to make all 
projected future benefit payments of current plan members, which 
results in the use of a single discount rate.  
 

Changes in Net OPEB Liability

Total OPEB Liability
Service cost 77,036$                
Interest 346,126                
Differences between expected and actual experience 272,930                
Changes in assumptions 445,576                

Benefit payments (165,327)               

Net change in total OPEB liability 976,341                

Total OPEB liability - beginning 6,980,548             

Total OPEB liability - ending (a) 7,956,889$           

 
Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Employer contributions 190,327$              
Net investment income 608,510                

Benefit payments and refunds (165,327)               

 Net change in plan fiduciary net position 633,510                

Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 6,962,087             

Plan fiduciary net position - ending (b) 7,595,597$           

Net OPEB liability (a-b) 361,292$              

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of total OPEB liability 95.46%                 
Covered payroll N/A
Net OPEB liability as a percentage of covered payroll N/A

 
Sensitivity of the net OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate – 
The following presents the net OPEB liability of the Township, as well 
as what the Township’s net OPEB liability would be if it were 
calculated using a discount rate that is 1% lower or 1% higher than 
the current discount rate. 
 

Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

3.98% 4.98% 5.98%

Net OPEB liability (asset) 1,594,905$       361,292$        (629,567)$            
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Sensitivity of the net OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare cost 
trend rates – The following presents the net OPEB liability of the 
Township, as well as what the Township’s net OPEB liability would be 
if were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are 1% lower 
or 1% higher than the current healthcare cost trend rates: 
 

Current  
Healthcare
Trend Rate

1% Decrease Assumption 1% Increase

Net OPEB liability (asset) (670,984)$         361,292$        1,655,714$          

OPEB expense and deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to OPEB – For the year ended December 
31, 2021 the employer recognized an OPEB benefit of $520,924. The 
employer reported deferred outflows and inflows of resources related 
to OPEB from the following sources: 
 

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of Amount to
Resources Resources Amortize

Difference between expected and actual experience 221,306$      (1,363,698)$  (1,142,392)$  
Changes in assumptions 450,834        (32,442)         418,392        
Net difference between projected and actual earnings

on plan investments -                (508,276)       (508,276)       

Total 672,140$      (1,904,416)$  (1,232,276)$  

Amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources 
related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows: 
 

Year Ending December 31,

2022 (595,356)$     
2023 (688,315)       
2024 (69,735)         
2025 82,139          
2026 38,991          

(1,232,276)$  

 

Note 15 -  Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds 
Financial Statements 

Employer
Funded Retiree

Pension Health Insurance
Trust Fund Trust Fund Total

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 81,006$                -$                     81,006$                
Investments

Exchange traded funds 1,167,319             -                       1,167,319             
Mutual funds 4,175,907             7,595,597             11,771,504           

Receivables
Accrued interest 3,122                    -                       3,122                    

Total assets 5,427,354             7,595,597             13,022,951           

Net Position
 Restricted - held in trust for pension benefits 
   and other employee benefits 5,427,354$           7,595,597$           13,022,951$         

 
 

Employer
Funded Retiree

Pension Health Insurance
 Trust Fund Trust Fund Total
Additions
Contributions

Employer 128,800$              190,327$              319,127$              

Investment earnings 
Interest and dividends 186,022                608,510                794,532                
Change in fair value 426,800                -                       426,800                
Investment expenses (35,446)                -                       (35,446)                

Net investment income 577,376                608,510                1,185,886             

Total additions 706,176                798,837                1,505,013             

Deductions
Benefits 400,232                165,327                565,559                
Other deductions 61,009                  -                       61,009                  

Total deductions 461,241                165,327                626,568                

Change in net position 244,935                633,510                878,445                

Net position - beginning of year 5,182,419             6,962,087             12,144,506           

Net position - end of year 5,427,354$           7,595,597$           13,022,951$         
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Note 16 -  Joint Venture 

East Lansing – Meridian Water and Sewer Authority 
The Township is a member of the East Lansing – Meridian Water and 
Sewer Authority, which provides water services to the residents of the 
City of East Lansing and the Charter Township of Meridian. The 
participating communities provide annual funding for its operations. 
During the current year, the Township contributed $3,479,226 for its 
operations and debt. The Township is unaware of any circumstances 
that would cause an additional benefit or burden to the participating 
governments in the near future. The Township appoints three 
members to the joint venture’s governing board, which then approves 
the annual budget. 
 
The following financial information of the joint venture is obtained from 
audited financial statements as of June 30, 2021. Complete financial 
statements for the East Lansing – Meridian Water and Sewer 
Authority can be obtained from the administrative office at 410 Abbot 
Road, East Lansing, Michigan. 
 
Total assets  $ 13,172,372 
Total deferred outflows of resources 231,334 
Total liabilities 2,980,624 
Total deferred inflows of resources 508,705 
Total net position 9,914,377 
Total operating revenue 5,152,654 
Total operating expenses 3,927,451 
Total nonoperating revenue (expense) (617,496) 
Change in net position 607,707 
 
The Township’s equity in this joint venture as of December 31, 2021 is 
$6,282,032, which is recorded in the Water Fund. 
 
 
 

Note 17 -  Tax Abatements 

The Township receives reduced property tax revenue as a result of 
payment in lieu of taxes agreements (PILT) under Section 15A of the 
State Housing Development Authority Act of 1966 and also under 
MCL 211.7d Public Act 8 of 2010. The Township has Brownfield 
reductions under Michigan Public Act 381 of 1996. 
 
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, the Township’s 
property tax revenues were reduced by $114,991 under these 
programs. These long-term agreements expire in varying years with 
one agreement expiring only when the property ceases to be used for 
the purpose specified in the abatement agreement. 
 
There are no significant abatements made by Ingham County that 
affect the Township. 
 
Note 18 - Property Tax Appeals 

The Township is defending various property tax appeal cases in the 
Michigan Tax Tribunal. In each case, the Township assessor is 
required to determine whether to litigate or settle. The property tax 
values relate to multiple tax years, and the outcome of these cases 
may affect property tax revenue. 
 
Note 19 - Federal Revenue 

Federal revenue is reported in the basic financial statements in 
excess of $ 750,000. However, this is a result of following the revenue 
recognition 45-day requirement when recording revenue, and the 
Township did not have federal expenditures of $ 750,000 or more and 
therefore does not require an audit under 2 CFR Part 200. 
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Actual
Over (Under)

Final
Original Final Actual Budget

Revenues
Taxes 13,924,700$     13,988,700$     14,049,533$     60,833$           
Licenses and permits 1,558,000         1,558,000         2,209,855         651,855           
Federal grants -                    915,000            919,282            4,282               
State-shared revenue 3,000,000         3,350,000         4,097,493         747,493           
State grants 65,000              65,000              111,686            46,686             
Charges for services 3,239,000         3,363,000         3,387,104         24,104             
Fines and forfeitures 328,400            328,400            351,728            23,328             
Investment income 105,235            105,235            37,857              (67,378)            
Other revenue 469,210            524,210            546,366            22,156             

Total revenues 22,689,545       24,197,545       25,710,904       1,513,359        

Expenditures
General government 6,579,100         7,316,550         6,483,253         (833,297)          
Public safety 12,997,465       13,084,665       12,620,686       (463,979)          
Health and welfare 65,565              65,915              65,439              (476)                 
Community and economic development 1,816,923         2,303,623         1,553,537         (750,086)          
Recreation and culture 1,166,867         1,177,267         1,088,685         (88,582)            
Debt service

Principal retirement 380,500            396,410            396,408            (2)                     
Interest and fiscal charges 121,000            81,900              81,841              (59)                   

Total expenditures 23,127,420       24,426,330       22,289,849       (2,136,481)       

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures (437,875)           (228,785)           3,421,055         3,649,840        

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in -                    50,000              50,000              -                   
Transfers out (530,000)           (511,300)           (511,300)           -                   

Total other financing sources (uses) (530,000)           (461,300)           (461,300)           -                   

Net change in fund balance (967,875)           (690,085)           2,959,755         3,649,840        

Fund balance - beginning of year 10,205,761       10,205,761       10,205,761       -                   

Fund balance - end of year 9,237,886$       9,515,676$       13,165,516$     3,649,840$      

Budgeted Amounts

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Charter Township of Meridian
Required Supplementary Information

Budgetary Comparison Schedule
General Fund

4 - 1 



Actual
Over (Under)

Final
Original Final Actual Budget

Revenues
Taxes -$                  -$                  2,666$              2,666$              
Local contributions 172,500            172,500            -                    (172,500)           
Investment income 60,000              60,000              109,573            49,573              

Total revenues 232,500            232,500            112,239            (120,261)           

Expenditures
Current

Public works 3,950,000         3,950,000         3,295,196         (654,804)           

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures (3,717,500)        (3,717,500)        (3,182,957)        534,543            

Other financing sources
Transfers in 280,000            280,000            280,000            -                    

Net change in fund balance (3,437,500)        (3,437,500)        (2,902,957)        534,543            

Fund balance - beginning of year 7,572,942         7,572,942         7,572,942         -                    

Fund balance - end of year 4,135,442$       4,135,442$       4,669,985$       534,543$          

Budgeted Amounts

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Charter Township of Meridian
Required Supplementary Information

Budgetary Comparison Schedule
Local Roads Fund
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Actual
Over (Under)

Final
Original Final Actual Budget

Revenues
Taxes 186,100$          186,100$          190,497$          4,397$              
Investment income 60,000              60,000              9,310                (50,690)             

Total revenues 246,100            246,100            199,807            (46,293)             

Expenditures
Current

Recreation and culture 201,595            201,595            114,709            (86,886)             

Net change in fund balance 44,505              44,505              85,098              40,593              

Fund balance - beginning of year 7,233,545         7,233,545         7,233,545         -                    

Fund balance - end of year 7,278,050$       7,278,050$       7,318,643$       40,593$            

Budgeted Amounts

Charter Township of Meridian
Required Supplementary Information

Budgetary Comparison Schedule
Land Preservation Fund

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021
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Charter Township of Meridian 
Notes to the Required Supplementary Information 

  For the Year Ended December 31, 2021  
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Budgetary Information 
Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally 
accepted accounting principles.  
 
The Township adopts a formal budget for the General Fund, special 
revenue fund types, and debt service fund types. By mid-June of each 
year, all department heads submit spending requests to the director of 
finance so that a budget may be prepared. Before September 1, the 
proposed budget is submitted by the Township manager to the 
Township board for review. Public hearings are held, and a final 
budget is adopted no later than November 1. The Township manager 
has authority to amend the budget up to $1,500. Any budget 
amendments greater than $1,500 must be approved by the Township 
board. The legal level of budgetary control is effectively lowered to 
that level. During the year, the budget was amended in a legally 
permissible manner. 
 
The budget is adopted on a functional basis. Although spending 
estimates are produced for each line item, budgetary control is 
exercised at the department level for internal control purposes. 
Encumbrances represent commitments related to unperformed 
contracts (or purchase orders) for goods or services. Encumbrances 
are not included as expenditures or liabilities; the amount of 
encumbrances outstanding at December 31, is not significant. 
Unexpended appropriations lapse at year end. 
 
The budgetary comparison schedules for the General Fund and major 
special revenue funds are presented on the same basis of accounting 
used in preparing the adopted budgets. 
 
A comparison of actual results of operations to all budgets shown in 
the other supplementary information section is for management 
analysis and is more detailed than the adopted budget on a functional 
basis. 
 
 

Excess of Expenditures Over Appropriations in Budgeted Funds 
During the year, the Township did not incur expenditures that were in 
excess of the amounts budgeted. 
 
Deficit Budget Adopted 
During the year, the Township adopted a budget in the Park Millage 
Fund with a deficit ending fund balance of $24,828. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Total Pension Liability
Service cost 8,529$               8,064$               7,933$               7,751$               14,978$             14,830$             12,993$             10,867$             
Interest on the total pension liability 294,717             297,676             302,038             307,616             318,040             324,025             307,223             302,325             
Differences between expected and actual experience -                     120,898             54,195               25,530               (86,411)              (22,387)              (124,938)            131,492             
Changes in assumptions (51,802)              (33,084)              -                     -                     -                     -                     474,087             -                     
Benefit payments and refunds (461,241)            (424,945)            (448,911)            (418,997)            (414,434)            (418,211)            (362,253)            (365,991)            

Net change in total pension liability (209,797)            (31,391)              (84,745)              (78,100)              (167,827)            (101,743)            307,112             78,693               
Total pension liability - beginning 5,138,314          5,169,705          5,254,450          5,332,550          5,500,377          5,602,120          5,295,008          5,216,315          

Total pension liability - ending (a) 4,928,517$        5,138,314$        5,169,705$        5,254,450$        5,332,550$        5,500,377$        5,602,120$        5,295,008$        

Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Employer contributions 128,800$           200,000$           200,000$           300,000$           400,000$           400,000$           250,000$           260,000$           
Net investment income (loss) 577,376             605,038             880,823             (217,924)            593,541             162,002             86,536               296,201             
Benefit payments and refunds (461,241)            (424,945)            (448,911)            (418,997)            (414,434)            (418,211)            (362,253)            (365,991)            
Administrative expense -                     (50)                     (74)                     (25)                     (46)                     (25)                     (69,808)              (72,944)              

Net change in plan fiduciary net position 244,935             380,043             631,838             (336,946)            579,061             143,766             (95,525)              117,266             
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 5,182,419          4,802,376          4,170,538          4,507,484          3,928,423          3,784,657          3,880,182          3,762,916          

Plan fiduciary net position - ending (b) 5,427,354$        5,182,419$        4,802,376$        4,170,538$        4,507,484$        3,928,423$        3,784,657$        3,880,182$        

Net pension liability (asset) (a-b) (498,837)$          (44,105)$            367,329$           1,083,912$        825,066$           1,571,954$        1,817,463$        1,414,826$        

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of total pension liability 110.12%            100.86%            92.89%              79.37%              84.53%              71.42%              67.56%              73.28%              
Covered payroll -$                   112,521$           106,283$           104,560$           102,156$           100,153$           99,161$             97,050$             
Net pension liability (asset) as a percentage of covered payroll N/A (39.20%)             345.61%            1,036.64%         807.65%            1,569.55%         1,832.84%         1,457.83%         

Charter Township of Meridian
Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios
Charter Township of Meridian Employee's Retirement Pension Plan

Last Eight Fiscal Years 

Note: GASB Statement No. 67 was implemented for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 and does not require retroactive implementation. Data will be added as information is available until 10 years of such data is 
available.
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 Actual 
Actuarial Actuarially Contribution Contribution
Valuation Determined Actual Deficiency Covered as a % of

Date Contribution Contribution (Excess) Payroll Covered Payroll

12/31/2012 437,567$           450,808$           (13,241)$            138,984$           324.36%
12/31/2013 457,795             -                     457,795             85,570               0.00%
12/31/2014 421,346             260,000             161,346             97,050               267.90%
12/31/2015 403,377             250,000             153,377             99,161               252.12%
12/31/2016 430,449             400,000             30,449               100,153             399.39%
12/31/2017 206,057             400,000             (193,943)            102,156             391.56%
12/31/2018 151,469             300,000             (148,531)            104,560             286.92%
12/31/2019 146,745             200,000             (53,255)              106,283             188.18%
12/31/2020 127,718             200,000             (72,282)              112,521             177.74%
12/31/2021 89,043               128,800             (39,757)              -                     N/A

Notes to Schedule of Employer Contributions
Actuarial valuation information relative to the determination of contributions:

Valuation date December 31, 2020
Notes

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:

Actuarial cost method Individual entry-age normal
Amortization method Level dollar, closed
Remaining amortization period 6 years
Asset valuation method 4-year smoothed market
Inflation 4.5%
Salary increases 4.5%
Investment rate of return 6.0%, net of pension plan investment expenses, including inflation
Retirement age
Mortality

Charter Township of Meridian
Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of Employer Contributions

Charter Township of Meridian Employee's Retirement Pension Plan
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of December 31 each year, which is 1 
day prior to the beginning of the fiscal year in which contributions are reported. The actuarially 
determined contribution (ADC) included in this schedule is calculated as the normal cost 
payment plus the amortized portion of the unfunded actuarial accrued liability.

The final active member is assumed to retire at age 68.
Fully generational Pub-2010 amount-weighted General Mortality Tables for males and females 
with MP-2019 mortality improvement scales.
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Annual Money-
Weighted Rate of

Return, Net of 
Fiscal Year Investment 

Ending December 31, Expense

2014 8.01%
2015 2.23%
2016 4.35%
2017 15.46%
2018 -5.34%
2019 22.46%
2020 13.04%
2021 11.55%

Last Eight Fiscal Years

Note: GASB Statement No. 67 was implemented for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 and does not require retroactive implementation. Data 
will be added as information is available until 10 years of such data is available.

Charter Township of Meridian
Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Investment Returns
Charter Township of Meridian Employee's Retirement Pension Plan
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Fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Total Pension Liability
Service cost 983,064$          984,875$          984,557$          1,010,514$       1,000,303$       981,161$          972,200$          
Interest on the total pension liability 5,347,638         5,226,527         5,023,418         4,901,121         4,711,548         4,473,927         4,260,390         
Differences between expected and actual experience 83,960              14,112              (17,758)             (948,982)           (268,400)           (344,829)           - 
Changes in assumptions 2,359,578         2,527,677         - - - 2,496,029         - 
Changes in benefits - - - (201,785)           - - - 
Other changes - - - (9,031) - - - 
Benefit payments and refunds (3,864,734)        (3,575,639)        (3,327,410)        (3,092,898)        (3,064,869)        (2,837,026)        (2,460,442)        

Net change in total pension liability 4,909,506         5,177,552         2,662,807         1,658,939         2,378,582         4,769,262         2,772,148         
Total pension liability - beginning 71,804,504       66,626,952       63,964,145       62,305,206       59,926,624       55,157,362       52,385,214       

Total pension liability - ending (a) 76,714,010$     71,804,504$     66,626,952$     63,964,145$     62,305,206$     59,926,624$     55,157,362$     

Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Employer contributions 4,176,804$       3,854,707$       3,802,749$       3,460,367$       2,835,443$       2,065,675$       1,863,475$       
Employee contributions 507,808            503,377            500,743            519,853            454,938            434,297            552,292            
Net investment income (loss) 6,164,510         5,449,737         (1,638,422)        4,636,217         3,637,926         (517,185)           1,898,696         
Benefit payments and refunds (3,864,734)        (3,575,639)        (3,327,410)        (3,092,898)        (3,064,869)        (2,837,026)        (2,460,442)        
Administrative expense (93,507)             (94,307)             (79,386)             (73,113)             (71,256)             (70,405)             (69,906)             

Net change in plan fiduciary net position 6,890,881         6,137,875         (741,726)           5,450,426         3,792,182         (924,644)           1,784,115         
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 45,404,217       39,266,342       40,008,068       34,557,642       30,765,460       31,690,104       29,905,989       
Plan fiduciary net position - ending (b) 52,295,098$     45,404,217$     39,266,342$     40,008,068$     34,557,642$     30,765,460$     31,690,104$     

Net pension liability (a-b) 24,418,912$     26,400,287$     27,360,610$     23,956,077$     27,747,564$     29,161,164$     23,467,258$     

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of total pension liability 68.17%             63.23%             58.93%             62.55%             55.47%             51.34%             57.45%             
Covered payroll 6,525,085$       6,445,381$       6,473,935$       6,324,075$       6,197,969$       6,122,164$       6,100,190$       
Net pension liability as a percentage of covered payroll 374.23%           409.60%           422.63%           378.81%           447.69%           476.32%           384.70%           

Note: GASB Statement No. 68 was implemented for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015 and does not require retroactive implementation. Data will be added as information is available until 10 years of such 
data is available.

Charter Township of Meridian
Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios
Municipal Employees' Retirement System of Michigan

Last Seven Fiscal Years

4 - 8



 Actual 
Fiscal Actuarially Contribution Contribution
Year Determined Actual Deficiency Covered as a % of

Ended Contribution Contribution (Excess) Payroll Covered Payroll

12/31/2012 1,691,100$      1,724,094$      (32,994)$          6,166,430$      27.96%
12/31/2013 1,799,256        1,863,475        (64,219)            6,444,197        28.92%
12/31/2014 1,917,900        1,852,078        65,822             6,100,190        30.36%
12/31/2015 2,001,384        3,049,113        (1,047,729)       6,122,164        49.80%
12/31/2016 1,835,443        2,835,443        (1,000,000)       6,197,969        45.75%
12/31/2017 2,318,478        3,460,368        (1,141,890)       6,324,075        54.72%
12/31/2018 2,302,708        3,802,749        (1,500,041)       6,453,286        58.93%
12/31/2019 2,354,749        3,854,707        (1,499,958)       6,586,586        58.52%
12/31/2020 2,676,804        4,176,804        (1,500,000)       6,434,228        64.92%
12/31/2021 3,009,365        4,759,365        (1,750,000)       6,460,360        73.67%

Notes to Schedule of Employer Contributions
Actuarial valuation information relative to the determination of contributions:

Valuation date

Other

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:

Actuarial cost method Entry-age
Amortization method Level percentage of pay, open
Remaining amortization period 20 years
Asset valuation method 5 year smoothed
Inflation 2.50%
Salary increases 3.00%
Investment rate of return 7.35%, gross of pension plan investment expenses, including inflation
Retirement age

Mortality

Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of December 31, two years prior to the 
end the fiscal year in which contributions are reported.

60 years

Fully generational Pub-2010 amount-weighted General Mortality Tables for males and females 
with MP-2019 mortality improvement scales.

The actuarially determined contribution (ADC) included in this schedule is calculated as the 
normal cost payment plus the amortized portion of the unfunded actuarial accrued liability.

Charter Township of Meridian
Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of Employer Contributions

Municipal Employees' Retirement System of Michigan
Last Ten Fiscal Years
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Fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Total OPEB Liability
  Service cost 77,036$           109,467$         101,169$         190,743$         184,032$         
  Interest 346,126           336,017           451,588           433,155           422,016           

   Differences between expected and actual experience 272,930           (74,110)            (3,048,686)       (177,273)          (146,888)          
   Changes in assumptions 445,576           (29,617)            218,141           (38,069)            49,580             
  Benefit payments (165,327)          (162,018)          (136,274)          (126,136)          (123,649)          

    Net change in total OPEB liability 976,341           179,739           (2,414,062)       282,420           385,091           
Total OPEB liability - beginning 6,980,548        6,800,809        9,214,871        8,932,451        8,547,360        

Total OPEB liability - ending (a) 7,956,889$      6,980,548$      6,800,809$      9,214,871$      8,932,451$      

Plan Fiduciary Net Position
 Employer contributions 190,327$         447,018$         447,774$         450,136$         295,649$         

  Net investment income (loss) 608,510           652,811           724,043           (212,818)          395,193           
  Benefit payments and refunds (165,327)          (162,018)          (136,274)          (126,136)          (123,649)          

    Net change in plan fiduciary net position 633,510           937,811           1,035,543        111,182           567,193           
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 6,962,087        6,024,276        4,988,733        4,877,551        4,310,358        
Plan fiduciary net position - ending (b) 7,595,597$      6,962,087$      6,024,276$      4,988,733$      4,877,551$      

Net OPEB liability (a-b) 361,292$         18,461$           776,533$         4,226,138$      4,054,900$      

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of total OPEB liability 95.46%            99.74%            88.58%            54.14%            54.60%            
Covered payroll N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Net OPEB liability as a percentage of covered payroll N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Note: GASB Statement No. 74 was implemented for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 and does not require retroactive implementation.
Data will be added as information is available until 10 years of such data is available.

Charter Township of Meridian Postemployment Health Benefits
Last Five Fiscal Years

Charter Township of Meridian
Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios
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 Actual 
Fiscal Actuarially Contribution Contribution
Year Determined Actual Deficiency Covered as a % of

Ended Contribution Contribution (Excess) Payroll Covered Payroll

12/31/2012 461,822$  645,307$ (183,485)$  N/A N/A
12/31/2013 461,822 470,037 (8,215) N/A N/A
12/31/2014 283,991 501,000 (217,009) N/A N/A
12/31/2015 283,991 500,000 (216,009) N/A N/A
12/31/2016 283,991 306,674 (22,683) N/A N/A
12/31/2017 453,565 295,649 157,916 N/A N/A
12/31/2018 449,295 450,136 (841) N/A N/A
12/31/2019 207,005 447,774 (240,769) N/A N/A
12/31/2020 205,355 447,018 (241,663) N/A N/A
12/31/2021 172,422 190,327 (17,905) N/A N/A

Notes to Schedule of Employer Contributions

Actuarial valuation information relative to the determination of contributions:

Valuation date December 31, 2020
Notes

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:

Actuarial cost method Entry-age normal
Amortization method Level dollar, open
Remaining amortization period 30 years
Asset valuation method Market value
Inflation 2.50%
Salary increases N/A
Investment rate of return 5.00%, including inflation, net of administrative and investment expenses
Retirement age
Mortality

Health care trend rates
Aging factors The tables used in developing the retiree premium are based on a recent Society of Actuaries study of health costs.

Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of December 31 of even numbered years, which is 1 day prior to 
the beginning of the fiscal year biennium in which contributions are reported. The actuarially determined contribution (ADC) 
included in this schedule is calculated as the normal cost payment plus the amortized portion of the unfunded actuarial 
accrued liability.

Experience-based tables of rates that are specific to the type of eligibility condition.
Post Retirement: Sex distinct Pub-2010 General Healthy Retiree tables scaled by a factor of 106%. The base year is 2010 
and future mortality improvements are assumed each year using scale MP-2019, as published by the Society of Actuaries. 

Disabled Retirement: Sex distinct PubNS-2010 Disables tables without adjustment. The base year is 2010 and future mortality 
improvements are assumed each year using scale MP-2019, as published by the Society of Actuaries. 

Pre Retirement: Sex distinct Pub-2010 General Employees table without adjustment. The base year is 2010 and future 
mortality improvements are assumed each year using scale MP-2019, as published by the Society of Actuaries. 

Charter Township of Meridian
Required Supplementary Information

Charter Township of Meridian Postemployment Health Benefits
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Non-Medicare: 7.50% in 2021, grading to 3.50% in 2032.  Medicare: 6.25% in 2021, grading to 3.50% in 2032.

Schedule of Employer Contributions
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Annual Money-
Weighted Rate of

Return, Net of 
Fiscal Year Investment 

Ending December 31, Expense

2017 9.01%
2018 -5.34%
2019 22.46%
2020 10.68%
 2021 8.74%

Note: GASB Statement No. 74 was implemented for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 and does not require retroactive implementation.
Data will be added as information is available until 10 years of such data is available.

Schedule of Investment Returns

Charter Township of Meridian
Required Supplementary Information

Last Five Fiscal Years
Charter Township of Meridian Postemployment Health Benefits
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Other Supplementary Information



Charter Township of Meridian 
  Description of Funds 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
 

 

Pedestrian/Bike Path Millage Fund – This fund is used to account for the design and construction of the Township’s millage-supported 
pedestrian/bicycle pathway system. 
 
Fire Restricted/Designated Fund – This fund is used to account for donations that are restricted and designated for fire-related activities. 
 
Police Restricted/Designated Fund – This fund is used to account for donations, forfeitures, and State of Michigan funds that are specifically used 
to aid law enforcement. 
 
Senior Center Millage Fund – This fund is used to account for tax revenue and donations that are used to support the Meridian Senior Center. 
 
Cable TV Fund – This fund is used to account for the operations of government access channels, which provide news and information about the 
Township’s government activities and the community it serves. Funds for operations are derived from cable franchise fees. 
 
Community Needs Fund – This fund is used to account for donations that provide emergency funds to needy Township residents. 
 
Library Fund – This fund is used to account for donations for improvements to the local libraries. 
 
Grants Fund – This fund is used to account for various federal grant awards. 
 
CATA Millage Fund – This fund is used to account for tax revenue that supports increased public transportation. 
 
Park Millage Fund – This fund is used to account for tax revenue and donations that are used to beautify and maintain the various parks. 
 
American Rescue Plan Act Fund – This fund is used to account for funding received for pandemic relief and the related expenditures. 
 
Fire Station Debt Service Fund – This fund is used to account for tax revenue and debt service related to the 2013 bond issuance to construct a 
new central fire station. 
 
Township Improvement Revolving Fund – This fund is used to account for advances from the General Fund and reimbursements from special 
assessments for specific public improvements. 
 

 



Charter Township of Meridian
Other Supplementary Information

Combining Balance Sheet
Nonmajor Governmental Funds

December 31, 2021

Pedestrian/ Fire Police Senior
Bike Path Restricted/ Restricted/ Center Community

Millage Designated Designated Millage Cable TV Needs Library

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2,347,678$      6,393$             70,779$           467,016$         216,276$         105,650$         13,558$           
Receivables

Taxes 357,584           -                   -                   89,761             -                   -                   -                   
Special assessments -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
Customers -                   -                   2,083               -                   -                   616                  -                   

Due from other units of government -                   -                   8,195               -                   -                   -                   -                   
Prepaid items -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

Total assets 2,705,262$      6,393$             81,057$           556,777$         216,276$         106,266$         13,558$           

Liabilities
Accounts payable 33,155$           -$                 750$                55,402$           -$                 -$                 -$                 
Accrued and other liabilities -                   -                   2,874               -                   -                   -                   -                   
Due to other funds -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
Unearned revenue -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

Total liabilities 33,155             -                   3,624               55,402             -                   -                   -                   

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unavailable revenue - special assessments -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
Unavailable revenue - federal grant revenue -                   -                   8,195               -                   -                   -                   -                   
Property taxes levied for a subsequent period 632,327           -                   -                   158,666           -                   -                   -                   
Special assessments levied for a subsequent period -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

Total deferred inflows of resources 632,327           -                   8,195               158,666           -                   -                   -                   

Special Revenue Funds
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Charter Township of Meridian
Other Supplementary Information

Combining Balance Sheet
Nonmajor Governmental Funds

December 31, 2021

Pedestrian/ Fire Police Senior
Bike Path Restricted/ Restricted/ Center Community

Millage Designated Designated Millage Cable TV Needs Library

Special Revenue Funds

Fund Balances
Non-spendable

Prepaid items -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 
Restricted for

Pedestrian/bike path millage 2,039,780        -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
Fire -                   6,393               -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
Police   -                   -                   69,238             -                   -                   -                   -                   
Senior center millage -                   -                   -                   342,709           -                   -                   -                   
Cable TV -                   -                   -                   -                   216,276           -                   -                   
Community needs -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   106,266           -                   
Library -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   13,558             
Grants -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
Capital area transportation authority millage -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
Park millage -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   
Fire station debt service -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

Assigned - township improvement -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

Total fund balances 2,039,780        6,393               69,238             342,709           216,276           106,266           13,558             

 Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources, and fund balances 2,705,262$      6,393$             81,057$           556,777$         216,276$         106,266$         13,558$           
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Charter Township of Meridian
Other Supplementary Information

Combining Balance Sheet
Nonmajor Governmental Funds

December 31, 2021

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables

Taxes 
Special assessments
Customers

Due from other units of government
Prepaid items

Total assets

Liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued and other liabilities
Due to other funds
Unearned revenue

Total liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unavailable revenue - special assessments
Unavailable revenue - federal grant revenue
Property taxes levied for a subsequent period
Special assessments levied for a subsequent period

Total deferred inflows of resources

 Debt Service

Fund 

 Capital Projects 

Fund 

Fire Total
American Station Township Nonmajor

CATA Park Rescue Debt Improvement Governmental
Grants Millage Millage Plan Act Service Revolving Funds

133,136$         174,445$         964,152$       2,260,632$    648,323$         960,562$           8,368,600$      

-                   213,802           713,149         -                 216,184           -                     1,590,480        
-                   -                   -                 -                 -                   1,152,251          1,152,251        
-                   -                   -                 -                 -                   -                     2,699               
-                   -                   -                 -                 -                   -                     8,195               
-                   -                   283                -                 -                   -                     283                  

133,136$         388,247$         1,677,584$    2,260,632$    864,507$         2,112,813$        11,122,508$    

-$                 -$                 8,255$           -$               -$                 -$                   97,562$           
-                   -                   2,860             -                 -                   -                     5,734               
-                   -                   19,785           -                 -                   -                     19,785             
-                   -                   -                 2,260,632      -                   -                     2,260,632        

-                   -                   30,900           2,260,632      -                   -                     2,383,713        

-                   -                   -                 -                 -                   1,072,251          1,072,251        
-                   -                   -                 -                 -                   -                     8,195               
-                   378,181           1,260,137      -                 381,605           -                     2,810,916        
-                   -                   -                 -                 -                   80,000               80,000             

-                   378,181           1,260,137      -                 381,605           1,152,251          3,971,362        

Special Revenue Funds
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Charter Township of Meridian
Other Supplementary Information

Combining Balance Sheet
Nonmajor Governmental Funds

December 31, 2021

Fund Balances
Non-spendable

Prepaid items
Restricted for

Pedestrian/bike path millage
Fire
Police   
Senior center millage
Cable TV
Community needs
Library
Grants
Capital area transportation authority millage
Park millage
Fire station debt service

Assigned - township improvement

Total fund balances

 Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources, and fund balances 

 Debt Service

Fund 

 Capital Projects 

Fund 

Fire Total
American Station Township Nonmajor

CATA Park Rescue Debt Improvement Governmental
Grants Millage Millage Plan Act Service Revolving Funds

Special Revenue Funds

-$                 -$                 283$              -$               -$                 -$                   283$                

-                   -                   -                 -                 -                   -                     2,039,780        
-                   -                   -                 -                 -                   -                     6,393               
-                   -                   -                 -                 -                   -                     69,238             
-                   -                   -                 -                 -                   -                     342,709           
-                   -                   -                 -                 -                   -                     216,276           
-                   -                   -                 -                 -                   -                     106,266           
-                   -                   -                 -                 -                   -                     13,558             

133,136           -                   -                 -                 -                   -                     133,136           
-                   10,066             -                 -                 -                   -                     10,066             
-                   -                   386,264         -                 -                   -                     386,264           
-                   -                   -                 -                 482,902           -                     482,902           
-                   -                   -                 -                 -                   960,562             960,562           

133,136           10,066             386,547         -                 482,902           960,562             4,767,433        

133,136$         388,247$         1,677,584$    2,260,632$    864,507$         2,112,813$        11,122,508$    
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Charter Township of Meridian
Other Supplementary Information

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Nonmajor Governmental Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Pedestrian/ Fire Police Senior
Bike Path Restricted/ Restricted/ Center Community

Millage Designated Designated Millage Cable TV Needs Library
Revenues
Taxes 617,478$           -$                   -$                   154,929$           -$                   -$                   -$                   
Federal grants -                     -                     4,217                 -                     -                     -                     -                     
State grants -                     -                     4,499                 -                     -                     -                     -                     
Local contributions -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
Charges for services -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
Fines and forfeitures -                     -                     1,104                 -                     -                     -                     -                     
Investment income 3,257                 7                        114                    716                    361                    151                    22                      
Other revenue 748,823             1,302                 -                     -                     -                     40,063               -                     

Total revenues 1,369,558          1,309                 9,934                 155,645             361                    40,214               22                      

Expenditures
Current

Public safety -                     -                     10,977               -                     -                     -                     -                     
Public works 825,859             -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
Health and welfare -                     -                     -                     110,140             -                     40,871               -                     
Recreation and culture -                     -                     -                     -                     5,817                 -                     -                     

Debt service
Principal retirement -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
Interest and fiscal charges -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

Total expenditures 825,859             -                     10,977               110,140             5,817                 40,871               -                     

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over expenditures 543,699             1,309                 (1,043)                45,505               (5,456)                (657)                   22                      

Other financing uses
Transfers out -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

Net change in fund balance 543,699             1,309                 (1,043)                45,505               (5,456)                (657)                   22                      

Fund balance - beginning of year 1,496,081          5,084                 70,281               297,204             221,732             106,923             13,536               

Fund balance - end of year 2,039,780$        6,393$               69,238$             342,709$           216,276$           106,266$           13,558$             

Special Revenue Funds

5 - 5



Charter Township of Meridian
Other Supplementary Information

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Nonmajor Governmental Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Revenues
Taxes
Federal grants
State grants
Local contributions
Charges for services
Fines and forfeitures
Investment income
Other revenue

Total revenues

Expenditures
Current

Public safety
Public works
Health and welfare
Recreation and culture

Debt service
Principal retirement
Interest and fiscal charges

Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over expenditures

Other financing uses
Transfers out

Net change in fund balance

Fund balance - beginning of year

Fund balance - end of year

 Debt Service

Fund 

 Capital Projects 

Fund 

Fire Total
American Station Township Nonmajor

CATA Park Rescue Debt Improvement Governmental
Grants Millage Millage Plan Act Service Revolving Funds

-$                   368,287$           1,230,738$        -$                   373,876$           -$                   2,745,308$        
-                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     4,217                 
-                     -                     223,296             -                     -                     -                     227,795             
-                     -                     153,000             -                     -                     -                     153,000             
-                     -                     -                     -                     -                     231,858             231,858             
-                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     1,104                 
223                    86                      1,526                 -                     839                    41,027               48,329               
-                     -                     189,245             -                     -                     -                     979,433             

223                    368,373             1,797,805          -                     374,715             272,885             4,391,044          

-                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     10,977               
-                     -                     -                     -                     -                     344,916             1,170,775          

2,865                 -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     153,876             
-                     368,000             1,370,495          -                     -                     -                     1,744,312          

-                     -                     -                     -                     230,000             -                     230,000             
-                     -                     -                     -                     44,590               -                     44,590               

2,865                 368,000             1,370,495          -                     274,590             344,916             3,354,530          

(2,642)                373                    427,310             -                     100,125             (72,031)              1,036,514          

-                     -                     (50,000)              -                     -                     -                     (50,000)              

(2,642)                373                    377,310             -                     100,125             (72,031)              986,514             

135,778             9,693                 9,237                 -                     382,777             1,032,593          3,780,919          

133,136$           10,066$             386,547$           -$                   482,902$           960,562$           4,767,433$        

Special Revenue Funds
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Actual
Over (Under)

Original Amended Amended
Budget Budget Actual Budget

Revenues
Taxes 601,150$          601,150$          617,478$          16,328$            
Investment income 8,000                8,000                3,257                (4,743)               
Other revenue 2,713,300         2,713,300         748,823            (1,964,477)        

Total revenues 3,322,450         3,322,450         1,369,558         (1,952,892)        

Expenditures
Current

Public works 3,826,525         3,834,525         825,859            (3,008,666)        

Net change in fund balance (504,075)           (512,075)           543,699            1,055,774         

Fund balance - beginning of year 1,496,081         1,496,081         1,496,081         -                    

Fund balance - end of year 992,006$          984,006$          2,039,780$       1,055,774$       

Charter Township of Meridian
Other Supplementary Information
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Pedestrian/Bike Path Millage Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Nonmajor Governmental Fund
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Actual
Over (Under)

Original Amended Amended
Budget Budget Actual Budget

Revenues
Investment income 30$                   30$                   7$                     (23)$                  
Other revenue -                    -                    1,302                1,302                

Total revenues 30                     30                     1,309                1,279                

Fund balance - beginning of year 5,084                5,084                5,084                -                    

Fund balance - end of year 5,114$              5,114$              6,393$              1,279$              

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Charter Township of Meridian
Other Supplementary Information
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Nonmajor Governmental Fund
Fire Restricted / Designated Fund
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Actual
Over (Under)

Original Amended Amended
Budget Budget Actual Budget

Revenues
Federal grants 5,000$              5,000$              4,217$              (783)$                
Other state grants 7,000                7,000                4,499                (2,501)               
Fines and forfeitures 5,000                5,000                1,104                (3,896)               
Investment income 300                   300                   114                   (186)                  

Total revenues 17,300              17,300              9,934                (7,366)               

Expenditures
Current

Public safety 17,000              17,000              10,977              (6,023)               

Net change in fund balance 300                   300                   (1,043)               (1,343)               

Fund balance - beginning of year 70,281              70,281              70,281              -                    

Fund balance - end of year 70,581$            70,581$            69,238$            (1,343)$             

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Charter Township of Meridian
Other Supplementary Information
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Nonmajor Governmental Fund
Police Restricted/Designated Fund
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Actual
Over (Under)

Original Amended Amended
Budget Budget Actual Budget

Revenues
Taxes 154,550$          154,550$          154,929$          379$                 
Investment income 2,000                2,000                716                   (1,284)               

Total revenues 156,550            156,550            155,645            (905)                  

Expenditures
Current

Health and welfare 155,000            155,000            110,140            (44,860)             

Net change in fund balance 1,550                1,550                45,505              43,955              

Fund balance - beginning of year 297,204            297,204            297,204            -                    

Fund balance - end of year 298,754$          298,754$          342,709$          43,955$            

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Charter Township of Meridian
Other Supplementary Information
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Nonmajor Governmental Fund
Senior Center Millage Fund
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Actual
Over (Under)

Original Amended Amended
Budget Budget Actual Budget

Revenues
Investment income 100$                 100$                 361$                 261$                 

Expenditures
Current

Recreation and culture -                    6,000                5,817                (183)                  

Net change in fund balance 100                   (5,900)               (5,456)               444                   

Fund balance - beginning of year 221,732            221,732            221,732            -                    

Fund balance - end of year 221,832$          215,832$          216,276$          444$                 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Charter Township of Meridian
Other Supplementary Information
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Nonmajor Governmental Fund
Cable TV Fund
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Actual
Over (Under)

Original Amended Amended
Budget Budget Actual Budget

Revenues
Investment income 50$                   50$                   151$                 101$                 
Other revenue 10,200              23,250              40,063              16,813              

Total revenues 10,250              23,300              40,214              16,914              

Expenditures
Current

Health and welfare 10,200              52,450              40,871              (11,579)             

Net change in fund balance 50                     (29,150)             (657)                  28,493              

Fund balance - beginning of year 106,923            106,923            106,923            -                    

Fund balance - end of year 106,973$          77,773$            106,266$          28,493$            

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Charter Township of Meridian
Other Supplementary Information
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Nonmajor Governmental Fund
Community Needs Fund

5 - 12



Actual
Over (Under)

Original Amended Amended
Budget Budget Actual Budget

Revenues
Investment income                                                                                        50$                   50$                   22$                   (28)$                  

Fund balance - beginning of year                                                                 13,536              13,536              13,536              -                    

Fund balance - end of year                                                                           13,586$            13,586$            13,558$            (28)$                  

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Charter Township of Meridian
Other Supplementary Information
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Nonmajor Governmental Fund
Library Fund
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Actual
Over (Under)

Original Amended Amended
Budget Budget Actual Budget

Revenues
Investment income 200$                 200$                 223$                 23$                   

Expenditures
Current

Health and welfare -                    7,500                2,865                (4,635)               

Net change in fund balance 200                   (7,300)               (2,642)               4,658                

Fund balance - beginning of year 135,778            135,778            135,778            -                    

Fund balance - end of year 135,978$          128,478$          133,136$          4,658$              

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Charter Township of Meridian
Other Supplementary Information
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Nonmajor Governmental Fund
Grants Fund
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Actual
Over (Under)

Original Amended Amended
Budget Budget Actual Budget

Revenues
Taxes 368,000$          368,000$          368,287$          287$                 
Investment income 100                   100                   86                     (14)                    

Total revenues 368,100            368,100            368,373            273                   

Expenditures
Current

Recreation and culture 368,000            368,000            368,000            -                    

Net change in fund balance 100                   100                   373                   273                   

Fund balance - beginning of year 9,693                9,693                9,693                -                    

Fund balance - end of year 9,793$              9,793$              10,066$            273$                 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Charter Township of Meridian
Other Supplementary Information
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Nonmajor Governmental Fund
CATA Millage Fund
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Actual
Over (Under)

Original Amended Amended
Budget Budget Actual Budget

Revenues
Taxes 1,228,250$       1,228,250$       1,230,738$       2,488$              
Other state grants -                    -                    223,296            223,296            
Local contributions -                    -                    153,000            153,000            
Investment income 11,000              11,000              1,526                (9,474)               
Other revenue 137,000            144,500            189,245            44,745              

Total revenues 1,376,250         1,383,750         1,797,805         414,055            

Expenditures
Current

Recreation and culture 991,915            1,367,815         1,370,495         2,680                

Excess of revenues over expenditures 384,335            15,935              427,310            411,375            

Other financing uses
Transfers out -                    (50,000)             (50,000)             -                    

Net change in fund balance 384,335            (34,065)             377,310            411,375            

Fund balance - beginning of year 9,237                9,237                9,237                -                    

Fund balance - end of year 393,572$          (24,828)$           386,547$          411,375$          

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Charter Township of Meridian
Other Supplementary Information
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Nonmajor Governmental Fund
Park Millage Fund
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Actual
Over (Under)

Original Amended Amended
Budget Budget Actual Budget

Revenues -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  

Expenditures -                    -                    -                    -                    

Net change in fund balance -                    -                    -                    -                    

Fund balance - beginning of year -                    -                    -                    -                    

Fund balance - end of year -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                  

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Charter Township of Meridian
Other Supplementary Information
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Nonmajor Governmental Fund
American Rescue Plan Act Fund

5 - 17



Actual
Over (Under)

Original Amended Amended
Budget Budget Actual Budget

Revenues
Taxes 372,100$          372,100$          373,876$          1,776$              
Investment income 1,000                1,000                839                   (161)                  

Total revenues 373,100            373,100            374,715            1,615                

Expenditures
Debt service

Principal retirement 230,000            230,000            230,000            -                    
Interest and fiscal charges 44,590              44,590              44,590              -                    

Total expenditures 274,590            274,590            274,590            -                    

Net change in fund balance 98,510              98,510              100,125            1,615                

Fund balance - beginning of year 382,777            382,777            382,777            -                    

Fund balance - end of year 481,287$          481,287$          482,902$          1,615$              

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Charter Township of Meridian
Other Supplementary Information
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Nonmajor Governmental Fund
Fire Station Debt Service Fund
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Actual
Over (Under)

Original Amended Amended
Budget Budget Actual Budget

Revenues
Charges for services 140,000$          188,000$          231,858$          43,858$            
Investment income 19,500              34,500              41,027              6,527                

Total revenues 159,500            222,500            272,885            50,385              

Expenditures
Current

Public works 65,000              303,500            344,916            41,416              

Net change in fund balance 94,500              (81,000)             (72,031)             8,969                

Fund balance - beginning of year 1,032,593         1,032,593         1,032,593         -                    

Fund balance - end of year 1,127,093$       951,593$          960,562$          8,969$              

For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Charter Township of Meridian
Other Supplementary Information
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Nonmajor Governmental Fund
Township Improvement Revolving Fund
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Actual
Over (Under)

Final
Original Final Actual Budget

Revenues
Taxes 3,619,000$       3,619,000$       3,631,677$       12,677$            
Investment income 15,000              15,000              5,579                (9,421)               

Total revenues 3,634,000         3,634,000         3,637,256         3,256                

Expenditures
Debt service

Principal retirement 3,165,000         3,165,000         3,165,000         -                    
Interest and fiscal charges 402,500            402,500            402,500            -                    

Total expenditures 3,567,500         3,567,500         3,567,500         -                    

Net change in fund balance 66,500              66,500              69,756              3,256                

Fund balance - beginning of year 884,161            884,161            884,161            -                    

Fund balance - end of year 950,661$          950,661$          953,917$          3,256$              

Budgeted Amounts

Charter Township of Meridian
Other Supplementary Information
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Road Debt Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Major Governmental Fund - Debt Service
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Statistical Section 
 



Charter Township of Meridian 
  Statistical Section  
 

 

This part of the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report presents detailed information as a context for understanding what the information in the 
financial statements, note disclosures, and required supplementary information says about the Township’s overall financial health. 
 
The statistical section is organized into the following main categories: 
 
Financial trends – These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how the Township’s financial performance and well-
being have changed over time. 
 
Revenue capacity – These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the Township’s most significant local revenue source, the 
property tax. 
 
Debt capacity – These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the affordability of the Township’s current levels of outstanding 
debt and the Township’s ability to issue additional debt in the future. 
 
Demographic and economic information – These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader understand the 
environment within which the Township’s financial activities take place. 
 
Operating information – These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader understand how the information in the 
Township’s financial report relates to the services the Township provides and the activities it performs. 
 
Sources: Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules is derived from the Annual Comprehensive Financial Reports for the relevant 
year. The Township implemented GASB Statement No. 34 in 2003; schedules presenting government-wide information include information 
beginning in that year. 



2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
Governmental Activities:
Net investment in capital assets 33,781$    34,428$    34,416$    36,166$    37,311$    40,613$    42,957$    44,162$    51,739$    55,088$    
Restricted 5,948        6,553        7,345        8,400        9,757        9,150        10,204      23,050      12,130      13,627      
Unrestricted 8,877        9,018        10,629      (10,661)     (11,611)     (11,910)     (15,183)     (22,274)     (8,430)       (2,954)       

Total net position 48,606$    49,999$    52,390$    33,905$    35,457$    37,853$    37,978$    44,938$    55,439$    65,761$    

Business-type Activities:
Net investment in capital assets 41,380$    40,589$    40,452$    39,764$    39,273$    39,865$    39,887$    39,914$    40,505$    39,141$    
Restricted -            -            -            -            -            -            -            -            -            -            
Unrestricted 7,090        7,839        8,972        7,433        9,077        10,972      12,615      14,977      16,111      18,609      

Total net position 48,470$    48,428$    49,424$    47,197$    48,350$    50,837$    52,502$    54,891$    56,616$    57,750$    

Primary Government:
Net investment in capital assets 75,161$    75,017$    74,868$    75,930$    76,584$    80,478$    82,844$    84,076$    92,244$    94,229$    
Restricted 5,948        6,553        7,345        8,400        9,757        9,150        10,204      23,050      12,130      13,627      
Unrestricted 15,967      16,857      19,601      (3,228)       (2,534)       (938)          (2,568)       (7,297)       7,681        15,655      

Total net position 97,076$    98,427$    101,814$  81,102$    83,807$    88,690$    90,480$    99,829$    112,055$  123,511$  

Charter Township of Meridian
Net Position by Component

Last Ten Fiscal Years

December 31
(in thousands of dollars)
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2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
Expenses:        
General government 4,244$   4,284$   3,941$   4,346$   4,347$   4,785$   4,239$   3,789$   5,350$   5,038$   
Public safety 9,901     10,922   9,799     10,937   12,247   11,454   12,450   13,146   12,450   11,089   
Public works 1,072     1,072     1,277     946        1,230     1,132     1,414     1,070     1,851     2,127     
Health and welfare 63          169        166        162        159        180        143        273        196        233        
Community and economic development -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         129        1,554     
Recreation and culture 2,071     1,684     2,118     2,258     2,484     3,078     2,514     2,700     1,221     2,944     
Interest on long-term debt 183        367        221        168        148        138        128        334        400        360        

Total expenses 17,534   18,498   17,522   18,817   20,615   20,767   20,888   21,312   21,597   23,345   

Program revenue:
Charges for services:

General government 415        391        383        416        414        667        699        680        1,440     1,497     
Public safety 2,352     3,064     2,658     2,574     2,724     2,895     2,685     2,897     2,421     3,078     
Public works 105        113        89          121        82          120        204        417        1,231     1,050     
Recreation and culture 325        307        321        338        346        1,181     1,181     1,203     118        298        

Total charges for services 3,197     3,875     3,451     3,449     3,566     4,863     4,769     5,197     5,210     5,923     

Operating grants and contributions 163        283        175        127        137        172        121        418        1,460     856        
Capital grants and contributions -         -         -         -         -         -         589        -         252        1,536     

Total program revenue 3,360     4,158     3,626     3,576     3,703     5,035     5,479     5,615     6,922     8,315     

Excess of expenses over revenue (14,174)  (14,340)  (13,896)  (15,241)  (16,912)  (15,732)  (15,409)  (15,697)  (14,675)  (15,030)  

General revenue:
Property taxes 11,488   11,464   11,710   13,005   13,464   13,695   16,142   16,766   20,099   20,620   
State-shared revenue 2,891     2,960     3,085     3,087     3,165     3,496     3,579     3,711     3,728     4,333     
Investment income (loss) 98          (46)         212        152        128        238        486        748        720        214        
Franchise fees* 873        822        856        1,021     1,058     -         -         -         -         -         
Miscellaneous income 389        533        424        562        694        723        793        1,432     629        

Total general revenue 15,739   15,733   16,287   17,827   18,509   18,152   21,000   22,657   25,176   25,167   

Transfers -         -         -         -         (45)         (24)         -         -         -         185        
Change in net position 1,565$   1,393$   2,391$   2,586$   1,552$   2,396$   5,591$   6,960$   10,501$ 10,322$ 

*Franchise fees were included in charges for services beginning in 2017 to comply with the State of Michigan's chart of accounts requirements.

Charter Township of Meridian
Changes in Governmental Net Position

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal Year Ended December 31
(in thousands of dollars)
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2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
Operating revenue:
Sale of water 4,055$    4,026$    4,152$    4,104$    5,320$    5,287$    5,391$    5,677$    5,687$    5,686$    
Sewage disposal charge 3,479      3,587      3,800      3,833      4,185      4,580      5,240      5,432      5,896      6,185      
Charges for services 974         1,150      1,061      887         979         1,335      997         935         900         948         
Other 246         433         35           42           26           46           48           63           45           45           

Total operating revenue 8,754      9,196      9,048      8,866      10,510    11,248    11,676    12,107    12,528    12,864    

Operating expense:
Cost of water produced/purchased 2,595      2,518      2,458      2,556      2,505      2,852      3,091      3,186      3,281      3,479      
Cost of sewage treatment 1,430      1,855      1,789      2,301      2,393      1,870      2,651      1,556      2,311      2,149      
Other operation and maintenance costs 2,278      2,541      2,871      2,959      2,685      3,083      752         851         897         1,052      
Billing and administrative costs 1,161      1,076      1,082      1,101      1,160      1,192      2,579      2,619      2,897      2,988      
Depreciation 1,654      1,795      1,650      1,680      1,647      1,686      1,600      1,745      1,926      2,002      

Total operating expenses 9,118      9,785      9,850      10,597    10,390    10,683    10,673    9,957      11,312    11,670    

Operating income (loss) (364)       (589)       (802)       (1,731)    120         565         1,003      2,150      1,216      1,194      

Nonoperating revenue (expense):
Investment income 3             3             4             3             1             1             1             55           23           46           
Gain (loss) from joint venture 179         163         234         (31)         300         296         337         348         424         372         
Grant revenue -         -         569         932         402         514         7             -         -         -         
Gain (loss) on sale of assets -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         (271)       -         
Interest expense (29)         (37)         (12)         (39)         (98)         (126)       (210)       (317)       (509)       (572)       

Total nonoperating revenue (expense) 153         129         795         865         605         685         135         86           (333)       (154)       

Income (loss) – Before capital contributions and transfer (211)       (460)       (7)            (866)       725         1,250      1,138      2,236      883         1,040      

Capital contributions 272         418         1,003      195         383         1,213      526         154         1,300      94           
    

Transfers from other funds -         -         -         -         45           24           -         -         -         -         

Transfers to other funds -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         
     
Change in net position 61$         (42)$       996$       (671)$     1,153$    2,487$    1,664$    2,390$    2,183$    1,134$    

Change in net position – primary government 1,626$    1,351$    3,387$    1,915$    2,705$    4,883$    7,255$    9,350$    12,684$  11,456$  

Charter Township of Meridian
Changes in Business-type Net Position

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Fiscal Year Ended December 31
(in thousands of dollars)
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2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
General Fund                      

Nonspendable 675$       564$       217$       297$       289$       119$       140$       174$       222$       245$       
Assigned -          -          -          -          -          1,111      592         1,812      683         2,694      
Unassigned 5,281      6,280      6,896      7,307      7,137      5,627      7,229      8,508      9,301      10,227    

Total general fund 5,956$    6,844$    7,113$    7,604$    7,426$    6,857$    7,961$    10,494$  10,206$  13,166$  

All Other Governmental Funds
Nonspendable 150$       8$           7$           31$         13$         11$         8$           8$           2$           -$        
Restricted 5,798      9,840      10,501    8,368      9,744      9,139      10,197    23,055    18,437    16,749    
Assigned 1,041      1,162      1,170      1,131      1,059      1,150      956         1,003      1,033      961         
Unassigned (407)        (349)        (1)            -          -          -          -          -          -          -          

Total all other governmental funds 6,582$    10,661$  11,677$  9,530$    10,816$  10,300$  11,161$  24,066$  19,472$  17,710$  

Charter Township of Meridian
Fund Balances - Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years

As of December 31
(in thousands of dollars)
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2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
Revenue
Property taxes 11,488$       11,464$       11,710$       13,005$       13,464$       13,695$       16,142$       16,766$       20,099$       20,620$       
Licenses and permits 618              1,153           841              737              796              2,280           1,946           2,008           1,480           2,210           
Intergovernmental revenue 3,021           3,106           3,229           3,226           3,252           3,555           4,198           3,999           3,943           5,512           
Charges for services 3,588           3,641           3,498           3,597           3,624           3,337           3,656           3,695           3,343           3,619           
Investment income (loss) 98                (46)              212              152              128              236              476              730              713              211              
Other  1,514           1,727           1,640           1,902           2,160           1,062           1,149           1,827           1,282           1,879           

Total revenue 20,327         21,045         21,130         22,619         23,424         24,165         27,567         29,025         30,860         34,051         

Expenditures
Current:

General government 5,391           5,030           4,925           5,010           5,208           5,832           5,257           5,595           6,339           5,841           
Public safety 9,766           10,172         10,263         10,273         11,287         11,042         12,656         12,552         12,407         12,531         
Public works 511              328              539              287              519              823              1,205           424              850              658              
Health and welfare 62                168              166              161              168              163              123              240              180              214              
Community and economic development -              -              -              -              -              -              -              -              130              1,554           
Recreation and culture 2,083           1,771           2,185           2,275           2,711           2,552           2,629           2,700           1,075           2,322           

Capital outlay 1,224           1,574           1,019           5,852           1,732           4,003           2,816           3,114           10,404         5,182           
Debt service:

Principal 332              262              516              659              480              486              491              491              3,515           3,791           
Interest 184              212              232              217              155              145              136              124              593              529              
Debt issuance costs -              62                -              -              -              -              -              117              -              -              

Total expenditures 19,553         19,579         19,845         24,734         22,260         25,046         25,313         25,357         35,493         32,622         

Excess of revenues over (under) expenditures 774              1,466           1,285           (2,115)         1,164           (881)            2,254           3,668           (4,633)         1,429           
    

Other financing sources (uses)
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt -              3,500           -              -              -              -              -              11,100         -              -              
Premium on issuance of debt -              -              -              -              -              -              -              880              -              -              
Transfers in 141              137              467              462              190              451              550              400              350              330              
Transfers out (141)            (137)            (467)            (462)            (247)            (700)            (840)            (610)            (600)            (561)            
Insurance recoveries -              -              -              -              -              43                -              -              -              -              
Sale of capital assets -              -              -              459              -              3                  -              -              -              -              

Total other financing sources (uses) -              3,500           -              459              (57)              (203)            (290)            11,770         (250)            (231)            
    

Net change in fund balance 774$            4,966$         1,285$         (1,656)$       1,107$         (1,084)$       1,964$         15,438$       (4,883)$       1,198$         
    

Debt service as a percentage of noncapital expenditures 2.82% 2.64% 3.97% 4.64% 3.09% 3.00% 2.82% 2.73% 16.40% 15.59%
Capital outlay as a percentage of total expenditures 6.26% 8.04% 5.13% 23.66% 7.78% 15.98% 11.12% 12.28% 29.31% 15.88%

Charter Township of Meridian
Changes in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Year Ended December 31
(in thousands of dollars)
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Tax Year Residential

Commercial, 
Industrial, 

Agricultural, 
and Other Total Value

Tax Rate 
(Mills)

Estimated 
Actual Value 

($000s)

Taxable 
Value as a 
Percent of 

Actual

2012  $    1,159,890  $     395,140  $    1,555,030 6.97%  $    3,198,797 48.61%
2013        1,128,124         399,329        1,527,453 7.17%        3,124,917 48.88%
2014        1,151,524         400,686        1,552,210 7.84%        3,209,695 48.36%
2015        1,182,156         426,509        1,608,665 7.84%        3,447,893 46.66%
2016        1,206,787         433,240        1,640,027 7.82%        3,642,106 45.03%
2017        1,242,176         445,905        1,688,081 9.02%        3,784,714 44.60%
2018        1,290,897         469,595        1,760,492 9.00%        3,943,992 44.64%
2019        1,346,089         473,155        1,819,244 10.50%        4,141,308 43.93%
2020        1,391,098         481,255        1,872,353 10.45%        4,366,300 42.88%
2021        1,427,589         486,918        1,914,507 10.45%        4,494,352 42.60%

Taxes levied in a particular "tax year" become revenue of the subsequent fiscal year.
 

Source:  Charter Township of Meridian Assessor
 

Note:  Under Michigan law, the revenue base is referred to as "taxable value."  This amount represents 
assessed value (50 percent of true cash value), limited for each property by the lower of 5 percent or 
inflation.

Taxable Value by Property Type ($000s)

Charter Township of Meridian
Taxable Value and Actual Value of Taxable Property

Last Ten Fiscal Years
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Tax Year
General 

Operating Debt
Special 
Purpose

Total Direct 
Taxes

Ingham 
County

Lansing 
Community 

College

Ingham 
Intermediate 

School 
District

Okemos 
School - 

Homestead

Okemos 
School - 

Non-
Homestead

Haslett 
School - 

Homestead

Haslett 
School - 

Non-
Homestead

Williamston 
School - 

Homestead

Williamston 
School - 

Non-
Homestead

East 
Lansing 
School - 

Homestead

East 
Lansing 
School - 

Non-
Homestead

Capital 
Regional 
Airport 

Authority

Capital Area 
District 
Library

Capital Area 
Transit 

Authority

2012 4.20          -            2.77          6.97          14.75         3.81           5.99           13.99         31.99         15.11         33.11         14.05         32.05         14.29         32.29         
2013 4.20          0.20          2.77          7.17          14.76         3.81           5.99           13.99         31.99         16.36         34.36         15.05         33.05         15.41         33.41         
2014 4.20          0.20          3.44          7.84          15.26         3.81           5.99           13.99         31.99         16.36         34.36         15.73         33.73         15.38         33.38         
2015 4.20          0.20          3.44          7.84          15.09         3.81           5.99           13.99         31.99         16.36         34.36         15.59         33.59         12.74         30.74         
2016 4.18          0.20          3.44          7.82          15.33         3.81           5.99           13.99         31.99         16.35         34.35         15.58         33.58         12.49         30.49         
2017 4.17          0.20          4.64          9.02          15.34         3.81           5.99           13.99         31.99         16.33         34.33         15.57         33.57         14.28         32.28         
2018 4.17          0.20          4.63          9.00          11.34         3.81           6.00           13.99         31.99         16.33         34.33         15.57         33.57         14.28         32.26         0.70           1.56           3.01           
2019 4.17          0.20          6.13          10.50        11.34         3.81           6.00           13.99         31.99         16.33         34.33         15.58         33.58         13.50         31.50         0.70           1.56           3.01           
2020 4.16          2.14          4.15          10.45        11.91         3.78           6.24           13.99         31.99         16.32         34.32         15.57         33.41         14.00         32.00         0.70           1.56           3.00           
2021 4.16          2.14          4.15          10.45        11.98         3.77           6.23           13.99         31.99         16.30         34.30         15.56         33.40         13.80         31.80         0.70           1.55           2.99           

Source:  Charter Township of Meridian Treasurer

Note:  The Township has multiple overlapping tax districts due to 425 agreements, additional school districts, and TIF plans.  The tax rates shown above relate to the Township's tax for the Ingham, Okemos, Haslett, Williamston, and East Lansing School 
Districts.  Information relating to other overlapping tax districts can be obtained from the Finance Department at Township Hall.

Charter Township of Meridian
Direct and Overlapping Property Tax Rates

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Millage Rates - Direct Township Taxes Overlapping Taxes
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Taxpayer
2021 Taxable 

Value
 Percentage 

of Total 
2012 Taxable 

Value
 Percentage of 

Total 
2012 
Rank

1             Consumers Energy 32,253,824$         1.68% 17,998,888$      1.13% 2         
2             C150 2929 Hannah Lofts, LLC 21,730,600           1.14%
3             East Lansing I, LLC 14,907,458           0.78% 13,416,880        0.85% 4         
4             Meridian Mall, LP 14,780,300           0.77% 28,788,600        1.81% 1         
5             East Lansing Athletic Club, Inc. 11,265,456           0.59%
6             TEG Central, LLC 10,294,561           0.54%
7             Brandywine Creek II, LLC 9,021,180             0.47%
8             ACC OP, LLC 8,431,604             0.44%
9             Okemos Pointe, LLC 7,941,419             0.41%

10           MMG LXIV Nemoke Trails Sub LLC 7,636,636             0.40%
 

Source:  Charter Township of Meridian Assessor

Charter Township of Meridian
Principal Property Taxpayers
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Tax Year

Fiscal Year 
Ended 

December 31
Total
Levy

Current 
Collections Percent Collected

Delinquent 
Collections

Total Tax 
Collections

Percent of Levy 
Collected

2011 2012 10,779,268$        10,476,566$        97.19% 11,671$       10,488,237$        97.30%
2012 2013 10,913,178          10,494,474          96.16% 9,397           10,503,871          96.25%
2013 2014 12,158,875          11,843,345          97.40% 10,490         11,853,835          97.49%
2014 2015 12,602,616          12,309,015          97.67% 14,730         12,323,745          97.79%
2015 2016 12,797,544          12,513,915          97.78% 11,080         12,524,995          97.87%
2016 2017 15,189,137          14,838,327          97.69% 7,355           14,845,682          97.74%
2017 2018 15,745,273          15,479,066          98.31% 21,849         15,500,915          98.45%
2018 2019 19,000,536          18,647,722          98.14% 7,166           18,654,888          98.18%
2019 2020 19,465,284          19,033,079          97.78% 8,130           19,041,209          97.82%
2020 2021 19,971,703          19,649,465          98.39% 3,834           19,653,299          98.41%

 
Source:  Charter Township of Meridian Assessor and Treasurer

Charter Township of Meridian
Property Tax Levies and Collections

Last Ten Fiscal Years
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2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
Governmental Activities
General obligation bonds -$               3,500,000$    3,290,000$    3,080,000$    2,865,000$    2,650,000$    2,430,000$    2,210,000$    1,985,000$    1,755,000$    
Installment purchase agreements 264,000         225,000         184,000         -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Road construction bond -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 11,100,000    8,050,000      4,885,000      
Drain assessments 3,122,280      3,308,821      3,043,384      2,777,947      2,624,463      2,353,428      2,082,394      1,811,360      1,570,952      4,294,544      
Unamortized issuance premiums* -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 880,482         660,361         440,240         

Total 3,386,280      7,033,821      6,517,384      5,857,947      5,489,463      5,003,428      4,512,394      16,001,842    12,266,313    11,374,784    

Business-type Activities
Other governmental obligations 556,050         427,350         349,450         1,773,094      5,024,672      5,370,166      10,771,821    17,333,107    26,784,161    25,665,087    

Total debt of the government 3,942,330$    7,461,171$    6,866,834$    7,631,041$    10,514,135$  10,373,594$  15,284,215$  33,334,949$  39,050,474$  37,039,871$  

Total taxable value ($000s) 1,555,030$    1,527,453$    1,552,210$    1,608,665$    1,640,027$    1,688,081$    1,760,492$    1,819,244$    1,872,353$    1,914,507$    
Debt as a Percentage of Taxable Value 0.25% 0.49% 0.44% 0.47% 0.64% 0.61% 0.87% 1.83% 2.09% 1.93%
Total Population 39,688           39,688           39,688           39,688           39,688           39,688           39,688           39,688           39,688           43,916           
Total Debt per Capita 99$                188$              173$              192$              265$              261$              385$              840$              984$              843$              

Charter Township of Meridian
Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type

Last Ten Fiscal Years
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Fiscal
Year

Tax-limited
General

Obligation
Bonds

(LTGO)

Tax
Supported

Bonds
(UTGO)

Less Pledged 
Debt Service 

Funds

Special 
Assessment 
Obligations

Other General 
Obligation Debt

Net General 
Obligation Debt

Taxable Value 
($000s)

Debt as a 
Percentage of 
Actual Taxable 

Value Population

Net General 
Obligation 
Debt per 
Capita

2012  $             -    $           -    $                -    $    3,122,280  $         820,050 3,942,330$        $      1,555,030 25.35% 39,688                99 
2013                 -     3,500,000                    -         3,308,821             652,350 7,461,171                  1,527,453 48.85% 39,688              188 
2014                 -     3,290,000                    -         3,043,384          1,215,188 7,548,572                  1,552,210 48.63% 39,688              190 
2015                 -     3,080,000                    -         2,777,947          1,773,094 7,631,041                  1,608,665 47.44% 39,688              192 
2016                 -     2,865,000                    -         2,624,463          5,024,672 10,514,135                1,640,027 64.11% 39,688              265 
2017                 -     2,650,000                    -         5,003,428          5,370,166 13,023,594                1,688,081 77.15% 39,688              328 
2018                 -     2,430,000                    -         4,512,394        10,771,820 17,714,214                1,760,492 100.62% 39,688              446 
2019   11,100,000   2,210,000                    -        15,121,360        17,333,107 45,764,467                1,819,244 251.56% 39,688           1,153 
2020     8,050,000   1,985,000                    -        11,605,952        26,784,161 48,425,113                1,872,353 258.63% 39,688           1,220 
2021     4,885,000   1,755,000                    -        10,934,544        25,665,087 43,239,631                1,914,507 225.85% 43,916              985 

Charter Township of Meridian
Ratios of General Bonded Debt Outstanding

Last Ten Fiscal Years
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Governmental Unit
Debt

Outstanding

Estimated
Percent

Applicable

Estimated Share
of Overlapping

Debt

Ingham County $121,272,196 21.59% 26,182,667$       
East Lansing School District 98,598,377      14.32% 14,119,288         
Okemos School District 32,116,460      87.60% 28,134,019         
Williamston School District 41,190,540      7.80% 3,212,862           
Haslett School District 63,962,999      66.96% 42,829,624         
Ingham Intermediate School District 835,000           18.29% 152,722              
Lansing Community College 93,875,000      14.80% 13,893,500         

Total overlapping debt 128,524,682       

Direct Township debt 11,374,784         

Total direct and overlapping debt 139,899,466$     

 

Source:  The overlapping debt is calculated by the Municipal Advisory Council of 
Michigan (MAC).  MAC’s method is to take the outstanding debt for all municipalities in 
its geographic region except for the State of Michigan and the federal government and 
multiply that by the estimated percent applicable, which is based on the relative taxable 
value in each municipality.

Charter Township of Meridian
Direct and Overlapping Governmental Activities Debt

December 31, 2021
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Fiscal
Year

Gross
Revenue

Applicable
Expenses

Net
Revenue Principal Interest Coverage

Special
Assessment
Collections Principal Interest Coverage

2012 -                                -                    -                    -   -               -                                -                    -                    -   -               
2013 -                                -                    -                    -   -               -                                -                    -                    -   -               
2014 -                                -                    -                    -   -               -                                -                    -                    -   -               
2015 -                                -                    -                    -   -               -                                -                    -                    -   -               
2016 -                                -                    -                    -   -               -                                -                    -                    -   -               
2017 -                                -                    -                    -   -               -                                -                    -                    -   -               
2018 -                                -                    -                    -   -               -                                -                    -                    -   -               
2019 -                                -                    -                    -   -               -                                -                    -                    -   -               
2020 -                                -                    -                    -   -               -                                -                    -                    -   -               

Debt Service Debt Service
Special Assessment BondsWater and Sewer Revenue Bonds

Charter Township of Meridian
Pledged Revenue Coverage

Last Ten Fiscal Years
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2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
Calculation of Debt Limit
State equalized valuation 1,599,398,400$  1,562,458,500$  1,604,386,223$  1,723,946,700$  1,821,053,200$  1,892,356,824$  1,971,995,800$  2,070,653,588$  2,183,150,200$  2,247,176,400$  
10% of taxable value 159,939,840       156,245,850       160,438,622       172,394,670       182,105,320       189,235,682       197,199,580       207,065,359       218,315,020       224,717,640       

Calculation of debt subject to limit
Total debt 4,770,392           8,273,557           7,637,481           8,330,658           11,298,335         11,196,846         16,130,928         33,303,774         39,336,765         37,955,863         
Less debt not subject to limit:

Special assessment bonds 3,122,280           3,308,821           3,043,384           2,777,947           2,624,463           2,353,428           2,082,395           1,811,360           1,570,952           4,294,544           
Contractual adjustment 264,000              225,000              241,400              8,200                  -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          
Employee compensated absences 828,062              812,386              770,647              699,617              784,200              823,252              846,714              849,305              946,652              915,992              

Total 4,214,342           4,346,207           4,055,431           3,485,764           3,408,663           3,176,680           2,929,109           2,660,665           2,517,604           5,210,536           

Net debt subject to limit 556,050$            3,927,350$         3,582,050$         4,844,894$         7,889,672$         8,020,166$         13,201,819$       30,643,109$       36,819,161$       32,745,327$       

Legal debt margin 159,383,790$     152,318,500$     156,856,572$     167,549,776$     174,215,648$     181,215,516$     183,997,761$     176,422,250$     181,495,859$     191,972,313$     

Net debt subject to limit as a

percentage debt limit 0.35% 2.51% 2.23% 2.81% 4.33% 4.24% 6.69% 14.80% 16.87% 14.57%

 

Charter Township of Meridian
Legal Debt Margin

Last Ten Fiscal Years
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Calendar Year Population
Personal Income 

(in thousands)
Per Capita 

Personal Income

Township's 
Unemployment

Rate

1970 23,827  $          103,933  $                4,362 5.70%
1980 28,735              308,815                  10,747 6.20%
1990 35,644              594,506                  16,679 3.10%
2000 39,125           1,259,434                  32,190 1.80%
2010 39,688           1,483,180                  37,371 6.00%
2020 43,916           2,034,409                  46,325 3.30%

Sources:  Regional Economic Information System, Bureau of Economic Analysis, U.S. 
Department of Commerce and U.S. Census Bureau, Charter Township of Meridian 
Department of Planning and Community Development

Charter Township of Meridian
Demographic and Economic Statistics
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Calendar 
Year 2020 
Employees

Percentage 
of Total

Calendar 
Year 2000 
Employees

Percentage 
of Total

Calendar 
Year 2000 

Rank

1 State of Michigan 13,880 26.84% N/A N/A N/A
2 Michigan State University 10,253 19.82% N/A N/A N/A
3 Sparrow Health System 9,000 17.40% N/A N/A N/A
4 General Motors 4,274 8.26% N/A N/A N/A
5 McLaren Health 3,000 5.80% N/A N/A N/A
6 Auto Owners 2,720 5.26% N/A N/A N/A
7 Jackson National Life 2,439 4.72% N/A N/A N/A

8 Peckham 2,200 4.25% N/A N/A N/A

9 Dart Container 2,000 3.87% N/A N/A N/A

10 Lansing Community College 1,957 3.78% N/A N/A N/A

 

N/A = Information is not available
2018 switched source to LEAP
Source:  LEAP Largest Employers Lansing Michigan
2021 information not yet available

Charter Township of Meridian
Principal Employers

Employer
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Function/Program 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

General government 38           39           37           37           39           32           33           33           35           31           

Public safety:  

Police 45           45           45           45           45           45           46           46           46           46           

Fire and EMS 35           35           34           34           34           35           36           36           36           36           

Community planning and development 11           11           11           12           12           16           17           18           13           13           

Public works 23           22           22           21           21           20           21           22           21           21           

Parks and recreation 9             9             10           10           11           15           15           13           13           13           
Total 160         160         159         158         161         163         168         168         164         160         

Charter Township of Meridian
Full-time Equivalent Government Employees

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Source:  Charter Township of Meridian recor

 6 - 17



Function/Program 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Election data:

Registered voters 29,664       28,947       29,099       29,070       31,257       30,263       30,954       31,106       33,942       33,139       

Voters (at polls or absentee) 21,640       5,816         16,513       8,791         22,934       5,625         21,344       7,116         25,798       4,496         

Percent voting 73.0% 20.1% 56.7% 30.2% 73.4% 18.6% 69.0% 22.9% 76.0% 13.6%

Police:

Physical arrests 975            864            855            765            700            559            577            563            402            554            

Traffic violations 3,789         2,883         2,618         2,366         2,272         1,752         1,922         2,096         1,517         1,711         

Investigations 305            256            208            234            366            398            263            222            351            279            

Fire:   

Fire runs 600            737            714            623            925            1,181         991            1,217         875            963            

Emergency medical runs 3,842         3,619         3,683         3,884         4,028         3,988         4,226         4,220         4,031         4,627         

Inspections 348            312            275            205            158            173            285            412            86              203            

Water

Number of customers billed 13,000       13,000       13,000       13,000       12,310       12,300       12,250       12,300       12,320       12,564       

Total gallons purchased (000s) 1,405,345  1,435,717  1,376,308  1,135,397  1,212,208  1,304,855  1,306,647  1,287,860  1,349,203  1,252,861  

Average consumption per year 108            110            106            87              98              106            107            105            110            100            

Sewer - Average daily sewage treatment 3,863,859  3,764,964  4,290,875  4,264,226  4,233,669  4,742,521  4,617,594  4,715,567  4,579,664  4,534,271  

N/A = Information is not available

Source:  Charter Township of Meridian records

Charter Township of Meridian
Operating Indicators
Last Ten Fiscal Years
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Function/Program 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Police:

Stations 1                1                1                1                1                1                1                1                1                1                

Patrol units (number of officers and sergeants) 35              36              36              37              35              34              34              38              36              38              

Fire:

Stations 3                3                3                3                3                3                3                3                3                3                

Fire response vehicles 4                4                4                4                4                4                4                4                4                4                

Emergency response vehicles 4                4                4                4                4                5                5                5                5                5                

Pedestrian/Bicycle pathways (miles) 73.30         73.55         73.63         74.50         74.50         76.00         76.00         76.00         77.00         77.51         

Parks and recreation:

Acreage 904            904            904            911            911            911            911            911            931            933            

Mowing acres 213            213            215            219            215            215            215            215            215            215            

Developed parks/playgrounds 17              17              17              17              17              17              17              17              17              17              

Developed fields (soccer, baseball, etc.) 10              10              13              14              14              14              15              15              16              16              

Water  

Mains (miles) 165.61       166.18       167.74       168.08       168.08       171.66       225.66       226.00       227.60       227.74       

Fire hydrants 1,900         1,900         1,900         1,900         1,900         1,900         2,279         2,284         2,299         2,305         

Storage capacity 2,000,000  2,000,000  2,000,000  2,000,000  2,000,000  2,000,000  2,000,000  2,000,000  2,000,000  2,000,000  

Sewer - Miles of sanitary sewers 146.18       146.34       147.18       147.18       147.35       148.87       192.54       192.54       193.97       194.03       

Township vehicles/equipment 132            136            136            136            136            136            136            138            137            140            

Source:  Charter Township of Meridian records
 
Note: In 2018 an asset management study was done resulting in significant increases in fire hydrants, water main miles and sanitary sewer miles.

Charter Township of Meridian
Capital Asset Statistics
Last Ten Fiscal Years
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Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

12. D

To: Board Members 

From: Frank L. Walsh, Township Manager 

Date: June 3, 2022 

Re: American Rescue Plan-Funding-1st Round Appropriation 

As you are aware, Meridian Township is set to receive $4,540,497 in American Rescue Plan (ARP) 

funding. Earlier this year we received $2,270,248, or 50% of our total allotment. The Board has 

held three discussions on appropriating the first round of funds.  

During the April 26 Board meeting, the strong consensus was to allocate the initial 50% of ARP 

funds to local roads and our internal IT infrastructure. Over the past year, due to rising costs, it has 

become crystal clear that we are falling behind with our local road improvements. No one could 

have predicted 18%-22% increases in asphalt prices from 2020-2022. Our $3.7M per year in road 

dollars is not keeping up with inflation. Don’t get me wrong, we are making significant progress 

with local road improvements. We are hopeful that a significant contribution from ARP funds will 

help us to continue to move the needle.  Following up on Trustee Hendrickson’s question, we did 

consult with our paving contractor regarding the additional $1.3 million in local road funding.  

Assistant Manager Opsommer did confirm that by increasing the number of local streets we 

resurface in 2022, we will be able to disburse the additional $1.3 million.  

We also face an IT system that is failing. According to the experts, we need to immediately 

overhaul our switches and firewall. Our system is so antiquated that it is effecting productivity 

across our buildings. We must move forward with our consultant to upgrade our entire system. 

This is not something we want to piecemeal. Our team is counting on us to get this right. 

The recommendation from the M-Team is to appropriate $1,300,000 to local roads and $970,248 

to an IT overhaul. The township has retained Brightline to lead the overhaul.  

The following motion is prepared for Board consideration: 

MOVE TO APPROPRIATE THE FOLLOWING IN AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN FUNDS: 

$1,300,000 TO LOCAL ROADS AND $970,248 FOR IT INFRASTRUCTURE FOR THE 
YEAR 2022. 



Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

12. E

To: Board Members 

From: Frank L. Walsh, Township Manager 

Date: June 3, 2022 

Re: Stimulus Inflationary Payment Program 

At the May 17th Township Board meeting, I proposed our Stimulus Inflationary Payment (SIP) 

program. The program is designed to be a one-time payment to all team members that isn’t 

included in Final Average Compensation. The program will be much broader than the $1,000 

retention payments that were planned for December. The concept is to roll in the December 

payments sooner to help those struggling with the unexpected high cost of living. Instead of the 

$160,000 retention program, we are looking at a $400,000 program that would benefit our team 

by the end of June.    

If the Board approves the program, I’d expect the following payments within the next 30 days. 

The payment scale is as follows: 

 Those earning a base pay up to $49,999 will receive a one-time SIP payment of $3,000

 Those earning a base pay $50,000-$64,999 will receive a one-time SIP payment of $2,700

 Those earning a base pay of $65,000-$79,999 will receive a one-time SIP payment of

$2,400

 Those earning a base pay of $80,000-$99,999 will receive a one-time SIP payment of

$2,200

 Those earning $100,000+ will receive a one-time SIP payment of $2,000

Under this proposal, the Township Manager, Clerk and Treasurer will not benefit from this 

program.  Permanent part-time team members shall receive a pro-rated payment. 

The following motion is prepared for Board consideration: 

MOVE TO APPROVE $400,000 TO BE DISBURSED ACCORDING TO THE 

AFOREMENTIONED SCALE.  THIS IS A ONE-TIME APPROPRIATION AND SHALL NOT BE 

CONSIDERED AN ANNUAL PROGRAM.  NEITHER THE MEMBERS OF THE TOWNSHIP 

BOARD OR THE TOWNSHIP MANAGER SHALL RECEIVE SAID PAYMENT. 



 

 

12.F. 
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To:  Board Members 
 
From:  Dan Opsommer, Assistant Township Manager  

Director of Public Works and Engineering 
 

Date:  June 7, 2022 
 
Re: Electronic Meeting Accommodations Policy and Request Form 
 

The Board discussed this draft policy and request form at the May 17, 2022 Township Board 
Meeting. The draft documents were also shared with all members of our Boards and Commissions 
prior to the May 17 meeting. Staff did make two technical changes to the request form. No issues 
have been raised. We believe the policy is ready for the Board to adopt. A motion has been 
prepared on page 2 of this memo. 
 
On February 4, 2022, Michigan Attorney General Dana Nessel issued Opinion 7318, which provides 
that restrictions for virtual public meetings under the Michigan Open Meetings Act (OMA) are 
preempted to the extent the restrictions prevent a public body from providing reasonable 
accommodations under the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA). 
 
Under this Attorney General Opinion, public bodies can adopt policies to allow for virtual 
participation in public meetings in accordance with the OMA and the ADA. 
 
Manager Walsh, Director Tithof and I have worked with our attorneys to draft an electronic 
meeting accommodations policy and request form in accordance with the Attorney General 
Opinion 7318. The draft policy and request form are attached for the Board’s review. 
 
The purpose of the policy is to provide reasonable accommodations for electronic meeting 
participation for members of the Township’s boards and commissions. 
 
Sections 3 and 3a of the OMA and Michigan Attorney General Opinion 7318 provide that a meeting 
may be held electronically only to the extent necessary to:  

1. Accommodate public body member absent due to military duty; and/or 

2. Accommodate any public body member with an ADA Title II qualifying disability that 
prevents or inhibits their in-person attendance at the meeting.  

In other words, the meeting may only be held fully virtually if all members of the public body have 
a qualifying need for accommodation. If one or more, but not all of the members of the public body, 
have a qualifying need for accommodation, then the meeting must be a hybrid format where the 
members of the public body without a qualifying need for accommodation attend in-person. If a 
member of the public body requires virtual meeting participation, all members of the public will be 
allowed to participate virtually.  
 

https://www.ag.state.mi.us/opinion/datafiles/2020s/op10397.htm
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Memo to Township Board 
June 7, 2022 
Re: Electronic Meeting Accommodations Policy and Request Form 
Page 2 

To receive an accommodation, members of our boards and commissions must submit the request 
form to the Township Human Resource Director. Copies of the form will be available through the 
Township Human Resource Director’s office and shared with all members of our Township’s 
boards and commissions. A request for virtual meeting participation from public body member 
absent due to military duty or an Accommodation Request (Disability) should be submitted not 
less than five business days in advance of the first meeting the person is requesting 
accommodation to attend. 
 
Once an accommodation is granted to a board or commission member, it will remain in effect until 
it is withdrawn by the accommodated person or until the Township can no longer accommodate 
the member’s electronic participation. It is the board or commission member’s responsibility to 
inform the Township if they cease to have a qualifying disability or no longer have military duty 
obligations that authorize their electronic participation.  
 
For any member of the public body attending remotely, the member must make a public 
announcement at the outset of the meeting, to be included in the meeting minutes, that the 
member is in fact attending the meeting remotely. If the member is attending remotely for any 
other purpose other than for military duty, they shall identify their location by stating the county, 
city, township or village and state from which they are attending. 
 
During a meeting held in-part with electronic accommodation, any accommodated members of the 
public body participating remotely will vote by roll call to avoid any questions about how a remote 
member of the public body votes. 
 
Under this policy, a member of the public body may participate remotely in a closed session. 
 
Again, the Board discussed this draft policy and request form at the May 17, 2022 Township Board 
Meeting. The draft documents were also shared with all members of our Boards and Commissions 
prior to the May 17 meeting. No issues have been raised, so we believe the policy is ready for the 
Board to adopt.  
 
The following motion has been prepared for Board consideration:  
 

“MOVE TO APPROVE THE RESOLUTION TO ADOPT THE MERIDIAN CHARTER 
TOWNSHIP ELECTRONIC MEETING ACCOMODATIONS POLICY.” 

 
Attachments: 
 

1. Resolution Adopting the Electronic Meeting Accommodation Policy 
2. Electronic Meeting Accommodation Policy 
3. Electronic Meeting Accommodation Request Form 
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TOWNSHIP BOARD OF THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 

 

RESOLUTION ADOPTING ELECTRONIC MEETING ACCOMMODATIONS POLICY 

 

At a regular meeting of the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham 

County, Michigan, held at the Meridian Municipal Building, 5151 Marsh Road, Okemos, MI 48864, on 

June 7, 2022 at 6:00 PM. 

 

PRESENT: ______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

                      

                     ______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

ABSENT:  ______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

The following resolution was offered by ___________________ and supported by ___________________.  

 

WHEREAS, Meridian Charter Township’s vision is to achieve and maintain a sustainable and 

welcoming community with the highest quality of life for our residents; 

 

WHEREAS, the Open Meetings Act (“OMA”) MCL 15.261 et seq imposes certain requirements 
on public bodies hosting meetings open to the public; 

 

WHEREAS, Michigan Attorney General Opinion 7318, issued February 9, 2022, clarifies that 

in select cases the American with Disabilities Act (“ADA”) preempts the OMA’s in-person attendance 

requirement; 

 

WHEREAS, Meridian Charter Township seeks to adhere to Michigan Attorney General 

Opinion 7318 by allowing individuals with certain qualifying disabilities to participate in public 

meetings; 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Meridian Charter Township Board, as follows: 

 

A. The Township Board expressly adopts the electronic meeting accommodations forms and 

policies attached to this resolution as Exhibit 1 including:  

(1) Charter Township of Meridian Electronic Meeting Accommodations Policy; and  

(2) Charter Township of Meridian Electronic Meeting Accommodation Request Form 

(Disability) Public Meetings Subject to Michigan Open Meetings Act.   

 

B. The Township Board directs that all forms and policies adopted above shall be shared with 

all members serving on the Township’s boards and commissions. 

 

C. All prior resolutions inconsistent herewith are hereby rescinded. 

 

YEAS: __________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

NAYS: __________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
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ABSENT: _______________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Resolution declared adopted. 

 

 

 

_____________________________________________ 

Patricia Herring Jackson, Supervisor 

 

 

STATE OF MICHIGAN  ) 

     )ss.  

COUNTY OF INGHAM  ) 

 

CERTIFICATION 

 

I, the undersigned, the duly qualified and acting Clerk for the Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham 

County, Michigan, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and complete copy of certain 

proceedings taken by the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian at a meeting held on 
June 7, 2022, and further certify that the above resolution was adopted at said meeting.   

 

 

                                                                                     

         _____________________________________________ 

               Deborah Guthrie, Township Clerk 
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CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 
 

ELECTRONIC MEETING ACCOMMODATION POLICY FOR MEMBERS  
OF THE TOWNSHIP’S BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 

 
Rules and procedures adopted by the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian to protect 
public health, safety, and welfare by establishing electronic meeting accommodation procedures for 
members of the Township’s boards and commissions in compliance with the Michigan Open Meetings 
Act and the Americans with Disabilities Act. 

 
THE TOWNSHIP BOARD OF THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN DECLARES:  
 
Section 1. Title. These rules and procedures may be cited as the Charter Township of Meridian 
Electronic Meetings Accommodations Policy.  
 
Section 2. Purpose. It is the policy of the Charter Township of Meridian to establish these reasonable 
rules and procedures in compliance with Sections 3 and 3a of the Michigan Open Meetings Act. 
(“OMA”), the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), and Attorney General Opinion 7318, to provide 
reasonable accommodations for electronic meetings for members of Township’s public bodies. 
 
Section 3. Electronic Meetings Authorization.  
 
A.  Authorization to hold remote electronic meetings. Sections 3 and 3a of the OMA and Michigan 

Attorney General Opinion 7318 provide that a meeting may be held electronically to the extent 
necessary to:  

1. Accommodate public body member absent due to military duty; and/or 

2. Accommodate any public body member with an ADA Title II qualifying disability that 
prevents or inhibits their in-person attendance at the meeting.  

B.  Physical Presence. At a public meeting that accommodates a public body member pursuant to 
Section 3(A), all members of the public may attend the public meeting remotely, as established in 
these rules and procedures. Only those public body members eligible for accommodation under 
Section 3(A) may participate remotely. Any other member of the public body must be physically 
present at the meeting.  

C.   Notice of Needed Accommodation. To receive an accommodation, an eligible public body member 
must submit a Notice of Needed Accommodation (Military Duty) or Accommodation Request 
(Disability) to the Township Human Resources Director. Copies of the Notice of Needed Military 
Duty Accommodation or Disability Accommodation Request will be available through the 
Township Human Resources Director’s office and will be shared with all members of the 
Township’s boards and commissions. A Notice of Needed Military Duty Accommodation for a 
public body member absent due to military duty or a Disability Accommodation Request should 
be submitted not less than five business days in advance of the first meeting the person is 
requesting accommodation to attend.  
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Whether a person’s medical condition is an ADA Title II qualifying disability that entitles them to 
meet remotely is a fact-dependent inquiry and will be analyzed on a case-by-case basis. 
Information submitted to substantiate a request for accommodation under Section 
3(A)(2) will be safeguarded by the Township Human Resource Director as confidential 
medical information to the extent provided by law. The Township Human Resource Director 
will determine whether an individual is entitled to an accommodation under Section 3(A)(2). If a 
Section 3(A)(2) accommodation request is denied by the Township Human Resources Director, 
the requestor may appeal the initial determination to the Township Manager. If a conflict of 
interest prevents the Township Manager from hearing an appeal, the appeal will be heard by the 
Township Supervisor.  

   
Once granted, a Section 3(A) accommodation will remain in effect until it is no longer needed, the 
accommodation is withdrawn by the accommodated person, or until the Township can no longer 
accommodate the member’s electronic participation under the OMA. It is an accommodated 
person’s sole responsibility to inform the Township if they cease to have a qualifying disability 
or no longer have military duty obligations that authorize their electronic participation.  

 
D.  Attendance at Meetings Held Electronically In-Part. Members of a Township public body 

participating electronically in a meeting held pursuant to these accommodation rules and 
procedures are to be considered present and in attendance at the meeting for all purposes.  

 
E.  Participation Requirement. A meeting of a public body held electronically in part must be 

conducted in a manner that permits two-way communication so that members of the public and 
the public body can hear and be heard by other members of the public and the public body, 
whether they are present in person or electronically. Comments by members of the public may 
be limited to a public comment period during the meeting. The public body may use technology 
to facilitate typed public comments that may be read to or shared with members of the public 
body and other participants.  

 
Section 4. Notice Requirements.  
 
A.  Notice Requirements. Notices of any meeting to be held in part electronically shall be posted on 

the Township’s website at least 18 hours before the meeting. The public notice shall contain the 
following information: 

 
1. Why the public body is meeting electronically;  

 
2.  How members of the public may participate in the meeting electronically, including a 

telephone number, internet address, or both;  
 

B.  Agendas. If an agenda exists for a meeting held pursuant to these accommodation rules and 
procedures, the Township shall make the agenda available to the general public through the 
Township’s website at least two (2) hours before the meeting begins.  

 
Section 5. Electronic Meeting Procedures and Rules. Consistent with the authority to establish 
reasonable rules under the OMA and the Township’s obligation to provide accommodation at 
meetings authorized by the OMA, such meetings shall be conducted in accordance with the following 
rules and procedures:  
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A.  Use of Electronic Service. Public body members and the public may participate in electronic 
meetings through a Township provided software or interface using electronic conferencing and 
telephone.  

 
B.  Muting. During the meeting, each participant shall be permitted to mute or unmute themselves 

to the extent it does not create any distractions or disruptions of the meeting. To the extent 
necessary, a meeting host may mute or unmute participants to facilitate effective two-way 
communication.  

 
C.  Public Comment. Members of the public shall speak only when called upon. The public body will 

designate an opportunity for each member of the public to be heard. Members of the public not 
speaking should remain muted unless and until called upon to provide comment or shall not 
otherwise cause disruptions. Public comments shall be limited to three (3) minutes.  

 
D.  Public Announcement. For any member of the public body attending remotely, the member must 

make a public announcement at the outset of the meeting, to be included in the meeting minutes, 
that the member is in fact attending the meeting remotely. If the member is attending remotely 
for any other purpose other than for military duty, they shall identify their location by stating the 
county, city, township or village and state from which they are attending.  

 
E.  Contacting Remote Public Body Members. Members of the public shall be advised of the proposed 

electronic participation of a public body member in the notice required in Section 4 of these rules 
and procedures. The public may contact those remote public body members prior to the meeting 
to provide input on any business that will come before the public body by emailing or calling the 
Township Clerk. The Clerk shall then transmit the input to the remote public body member in 
advance of the meeting for which the member will participate remotely.  

 
F.  Roll Call. During a meeting held in-part with electronic accommodation, any accommodated 

members of the public body participating remotely will vote by roll call to avoid any questions 
about how a remote member of the public body votes.  

 
G.  Right to Record. The right of a person to participate in an electronic meeting includes the right to 

tape-record, videotape, broadcast live on radio, and telecast live on television the proceedings of 
the meeting. The exercise of this right does not depend on the prior approval of the public body. 
However, individuals shall at a minimum provide written or oral notice to the public body prior 
to the start of an electronic meeting of their intent to tape-record, videotape, broadcast, or 
telecast the meeting.  

 
H.  Registration. The public body may only require a person participating in an electronic meeting to 

register or otherwise provide their name or other information to provide an accommodation 
under these rules or as necessary to permit the person to participate in the public comment 
period of the meeting.  

 
I.  Breach of Peace. A person must be permitted to address the public body during an electronic 

meeting under these rules, provided that no specific rules by order of the public body are not 
needed to address specific circumstances or technical issues that arise during the meeting. A 
person must not be excluded from an electronic meeting otherwise open to the public except for 
a breach of the peace committed during the meeting.  
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J.  Closed Session. Members of the general public participating in an electronic meeting may be 
excluded from participation in an electronic closed session of the public body if the closed session 
is convened and held in compliance with the requirements of the OMA applicable to a closed 
session. A member of the public body may only participate remotely in an electronic closed 
session under an accommodation granted under this Policy. 

 
K.  Discussion, Deliberation, and Voting. A public body’s electronic meeting in-part will effectuate as 

fully as possible the purposes of the OMA, which include promoting government accountability 
and fostering openness in government to enhance responsible decision-making. Except as it 
relates to closed sessions, the full discussions and deliberations of the public body, not just the 
voting, must still be done with public access.  

 
L.  Additional Rules. The chair or host of an electronic meeting has the authority to ensure that the 

meeting is conducted in an orderly manner. This includes the ability to institute additional rules 
and procedures reasonably necessary to further the requirements of the OMA.  

 
Section 6. Review of Electronic Meetings Accommodations Policy. The Township Board shall 
review these rules and procedures if any substantive changes are made to the current provisions of 
the OMA. 
 
Section 7. Validity and Severability. If any part of these rules or procedures are declared by any 
court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, that declaration does not affect the validity of the 
remainder of the rules or procedures.  
 
Section 8. Repealer. The former Meridian Electronic and Telephonic Meetings Procedure is hereby 
repealed. While in effect, these rules and procedures supersede all policies (or parts of policies) of 
the Township that conflict with these Rules.  
 
Section 9. Effective Date. These rules and procedures are effective immediately.  
 
Adopted by the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian on June 7, 2022.  
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CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN 
 

ELECTRONIC MEETING ACCOMMODATION REQUEST FORM FOR  
MEMBERS OF THE TOWNSHIP’S BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 

 
The Charter Township of Meridian (“Township”) is a public entity subject to the Michigan Open 
Meetings Act (“OMA”) and is also subject to Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), 
with an obligation to provide reasonable accommodations to qualified individuals with a disability. 
42 USC 12102(1)(A). The ADA duty to accommodate extends to how the Township holds meetings 
subject to the OMA. OAG, 2022, No. 7318 (February 4, 2022). 

This form must be completed in accordance with the Township’s Electronic Meeting 
Accommodation Policy (“Policy”) to show a person is a qualified individual with a disability 
entitled to a reasonable accommodation while attending Township public meetings. 

Approval Process for Accommodation Request 

An Accommodation Request (Disability) should be submitted not less than five business days in 
advance of the first meeting the person is requesting accommodation to attend.  
 
Whether a person’s medical condition is an ADA Title II qualifying disability that entitles them to 
meet remotely is a fact-dependent inquiry and will be analyzed on a case-by-case basis. 
Information submitted to substantiate a request for accommodation under Section 3(A)(2) 
of the Policy will be safeguarded by the Township Human Resource Director as confidential 
medical information to the extent provided by law. The Township Human Resources Director 
will determine whether an individual is entitled to an accommodation under Section 3(A)(2). If a 
Section 3(A)(2) accommodation request is denied, the requestor may appeal the initial 
determination to the Township Manager. If an apparent conflict of interest prevents the Township 
Manager from hearing an appeal, the appeal will be heard by the Township Supervisor.  
 
Once granted, an accommodation will remain in effect until the accommodation is no longer needed, 
the accommodation is withdrawn by the accommodated person, or until the Township can no longer 
accommodate the member’s electronic participation under the Open Meetings Act. It is an 
accommodated person’s sole responsibility to inform the Township if they cease to have a qualifying 
disability that enable their electronic participation 
 
Note: Applicants for accommodation are not entitled to their accommodation of choice, but an 
accommodation that will allow them to fully participate in the electronic meeting. 
 
Completed Disability Accommodation Request Forms shall be submitted to: 
 
Abigail Tithof, Human Resources Director 
Charter Township of Meridian 
5151 Marsh Road  
Okemos, MI 48864 
(517) 853-4210 
tithof@meridian.mi.us 

mailto:tithof@meridian.mi.us
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Applicant’s Request for Accommodation: 
 

NOTE: This application is for use by members of the Township’s boards and commissions.   
 
Is the Applicant a member of a Township board or commission (i.e. a Township public body)? 
 

� Yes 
� No 

 
Name: 
 

Email Address: 

Address: 
 
City: 
 

State: Zip: Telephone No.: 

 
Required Information 
 
Sections 3 and 3a of the OMA and Michigan Attorney General Opinion 7318 provide that a 
meeting may be held electronically to the extent necessary to:  

• Accommodate a public body member absent due to military duty; and/or 

• Accommodate any public body member with an ADA Title II qualifying disability that 
prevents or inhibits their in-person attendance at the meeting.  

1. Do you (the applicant) meet one or both of the requirements listed above? If so, please 
provide documentation, including estimated duration of the qualifying disability. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

In accordance with Sections 3 and 3a of the OMA and Michigan Attorney General Opinion 
7318, the Township will work with board and commission members to ensure everyone 
is able to attend public meetings safely and effectively. 

 
Please print this document, sign, and date below. Send directly to the Township Human Resources 
Director by mail or email using the contact information provided on page one. 
 
 
 
____________________________________________                   _______________________ 
 Applicant’s Signature     Date 
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12. G 

To:  Board Members 

From:  Ken Plaga, Chief of Police 

Date:  June 2, 2022 

Re:  Authorization of Police Candidate Sponsorships 

 

The Police Department has diligently worked toward achieving full strength by aggressively 
recruiting qualified and diverse individuals using various avenues. The Department has identified 
two qualified candidates that we would like to sponsor through the Mid-Michigan Police Academy.   
 
We have committed to Danny Mora. He is originally from Los Angeles, California and received a 
Bachelor’s Degree in Communications from California State University.  He also serves as an Army 
Reservist and an Okemos resident. 
 
In addition, we have committed to Jacob Gonzalez. He is from Okemos and graduated from Okemos 
High School. He obtained his Associate’s Degree from Lansing Community College.  He then attended 
Ferris State University where he obtained his Bachelor’s Degree in Criminal Justice.  His father, Rudy, 
is a Captain with the Meridian Township Fire Department. 
 
The Department is requesting the approval to sponsor both Danny Mora and Jacob Gonzalez through 
the Police Academy.  They will meet all of the qualifications to attend the academy.  They will 
complete all of the mandatory requirements of the Police Department to be employed as a police 
officer with Meridian Township, with the exception of the police academy. The tentative academy 
dates are August 17 – December 9, 2022. The tuition cost of the academy sponsorships is $16,400. 
 
The Department appreciates the past support by Manager Walsh and the Township Board for officer 
candidate sponsorships.   
 
The Department offers the following motion for consideration: 
 

MOVE TO SPONSOR CANDIDATES DANNY MORA AND JACOB GONZALES TO THE MID-
MICHIGAN POLICE ACADEMY FALL SEMESTER 2022 AT LANSING COMMUNITY 
COLLEGE. 
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12. H

To: 

From: 

Date: 

Re: 

Board Members 

Patricia Herring Jackson, Township Supervisor

June 3, 2022 

Resolution in Recognition and Celebration of Juneteenth 

Juneteenth celebrates America’s commitment to liberty and equality in accordance with the 
Constitution of the United States, along with the Emancipation Declaration, issued by President 
Lincoln on September 22, 1862, and later became effective on January 1, 1863 and the 13th 
Amendment to the Constitution which abolished slavery, ratified by Congress on December 6, 
1865. 

A motion is prepared for Board consideration: 

MOVE TO APPROVE THE RESOLUTION IN RECOGNITION AND CELEBRATION OF 

JUNETEENTH. 

Attachment: 

1. Resolution in Recognition and Celebration of Juneteenth



RESOLUTION IN RECOGNITION AND CELEBRATION OF JUNETEENTH 

At a regular meeting of the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham 

County, Michigan, held on the 7th day of June, 2022, at 6:00 p.m. local time. 

PRESENT: ________________________________________________________________________ 

ABSENT: _________________________________________________________________________ 

WHEREAS,  Juneteenth is the oldest celebration of the emancipation of African-American 

slaves, and is so named for the June 19, 1866 adoption of Black Independence Day in Galveston, 

Texas; and, 

WHEREAS, Juneteenth celebrates America’s commitment to liberty and equality in 

accordance with the Constitution of the United States, along with the Emancipation Declaration, 

issued by President Lincoln on September 22, 1862, and later became effective on January 1, 1863 

and the 13th Amendment to the Constitution which abolished slavery, ratified by Congress on 

December 6, 1865; and,   

WHEREAS, the history of African-Americans is a study of resilience for the plight of slavery 

in our history, and today, for the over 45 million people in forced labor and other forms of human 

trafficking; and, 

WHEREAS, the Meridian Township Board encourages the entire community, region, state 

and country to celebrate Juneteenth; and, 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWNSHIP BOARD OF THE CHARTER 

TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN, INGHAM COUNTY, MICHIGAN, that the Meridian Township Board 

recognizes, adopts and proclaims this Resolution to underscore the freedom with dignity of every 

human being. As a governmental body, we oppose and reject any form of oppression and pledge to 

support our residents, churches and organizations working to achieve social justice, genuine 

equality and protect the human rights for all people of Meridian Township. 

ADOPTED: 

YEAS: ____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

NAYS:   ____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Resolution declared 

STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
)SS: 

COUTNY OF INGHAM ) 

I, the undersigned, the duly qualified and acting Clerk of the Township Board of the Charter 

Township of Meridian, Ingham County, Michigan, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true 

and complete copy of a resolution adopted at a regular meeting of the Township Board on the 7th 

day of June 2022. 

_____________________________________ 
Deborah Guthrie 
Meridian Township Clerk 
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12. I

To: 

From: 

Date: 

Re: 

Board Members 

Patricia Herring Jackson, Township Supervisor

June 3, 2022

Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, and Queer (LGBTQ) Pride Month 

Resolution 

Michigan has been at the forefront of advancing civil rights for LGBTQ+ people beginning with the 

nation's first non-discrimination ordinance passed in 1972 in East Lansing and the nation's first 

Civil Rights Commission to independently recognize that discrimination "because of sex" includes 

sexual orientation and gender identity in 2018. 

Michigan celebrates LGBTQ+ individuals during this month, and we also recognize the important 

work that must be done across intersections to create a more equitable state for all identities. 

A motion is prepared for Board consideration: 

MOVE TO APPROVE THE RESOLUTION CELEBRATING LESBIAN, GAY, BISEXUAL, 

TRANSGENDER, AND QUEER (LGBTQ) PRIDE MONTH. 

Attachment: 

1. Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, and Queer (LGBTQ) Pride Month Resolution



RESOLUTION RECOGNIZING JUNE 2022 AS LESBIAN, GAY, BISEXUAL, TRANSGENDER, 

AND QUEER (LGBTQ) PRIDE MONTH IN MERIDIAN TOWNSHIP 

At a regular meeting of the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham 

County, Michigan, held on the 7th day of June, 2022, at 6:00 p.m. local time. 

PRESENT: ________________________________________________________________________ 

ABSENT: _________________________________________________________________________ 

WHEREAS, Michigan is home to an estimated 373,000 residents who identify as lesbian, 

gay, bisexual, transgender, and queer (LGBTQ+); and, 

WHEREAS, Michigan's LGBTQ+ residents contribute to the fabric of our society, hold 

positions in every sector of our economy, and live in every corner of our state; and,   

WHEREAS, Michigan has been at the forefront of advancing civil rights for LGBTQ+ people 

beginning with the nation's first non-discrimination ordinance passed in 1972 in East Lansing and 

the nation's first Civil Rights Commission to independently recognize that discrimination "because 

of sex" includes sexual orientation and gender identity in 2018; and, 

WHEREAS, At a regular meeting of the Township Board on the 16th day of September, 2003 

the Meridian Township Board of Trustees voted unanimously to amend the policy of the Meridian 

Township Police Department to respect and protect the dignity and constitutional rights of ALL 

persons, and to perform its law enforcement functions in a manner that does not violate those 

rights; and, 

WHEREAS, On the 8th day of May, 2013, Officials from East Lansing, Meridian Township, 

Delhi Township and Delta Township launched the One Capitol Region coalition at a press 

conference at the state Capitol announcing plans to push for LGBT nondiscrimination ordinances; 

and, 

WHEREAS, At a regular meeting of the Township Board on the 10th day of July, 2013 the 

Meridian Township Board of Trustees voted unanimously to amend their internal policies to 

prohibit discrimination based on sexual orientation or gender identity; and, 

WHEREAS, At a regular meeting of the Township Board on the 2nd day of October, 2013 the 

Meridian Township Board of Trustees voted unanimously to amend the Meridian Township human 

rights ordinance to prohibit discrimination in housing and public accommodations; and,  

WHEREAS, despite local non-discrimination protections and recent protections extended 

by the Michigan Civil Rights Commission, there exists no state or federal anti-discrimination laws to 

protect LGBTQ+ individuals from being fired, denied housing, or refused service; and,  

WHEREAS, during the COVID-19 pandemic, LGBTQ+ individuals and communities have 

faced unique challenges, including higher rates of self-reported underlying health conditions, 



according to a report released by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, and experiencing 

higher rates of job loss compared to non-LGBTQ+ individuals; and, 

WHEREAS, Michigan's economic vitality depends upon welcoming people of diverse 

backgrounds, ending discrimination, and attracting and retaining top talent from around the world; 

and,  

WHEREAS, Michigan must continue to support the rights of every citizen to experience 

equality and freedom from discrimination, and recognize the continued need for education and 

awareness to end discrimination and prejudice; and, 

WHEREAS, At a regular meeting of the Township Board on the 6th Day of December, 2016, 

the Meridian Township Board of Trustees voted unanimously to stand against hate and 

discrimination and affirm that Michigan should be a welcoming state for all recognizing that, at 

every level of American society, refugees, immigrants, and people of all backgrounds contribute to 

our democracy, condemning any attacks on, harassment of, or intimidation of individuals or places 

of worship that are based on race, ethnicity, immigration or refugee status, religion, sexual 

orientation, gender identity or expression, or other social identities; and, 

WHEREAS, June 2021 is the 52nd anniversary of the Stonewall Uprising in New York City, 

which is recognized as a catalyst for the modern LGBTQ+ Civil Rights Movement with the first stone 

being thrown by Marsha P. Johnson, a trans woman of color; and,   

WHEREAS, Michigan celebrates LGBTQ+ individuals during this month, and we also 

recognize the important work that must be done across intersections to create a more equitable 

state for all identities; AND 

WHERAS, Gretchen Whitmer, governor of Michigan, and Garlin Gilchrist II, lieutenant 

governor of Michigan, do hereby proclaim June 2022 as Pride Month;  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWNSHIP BOARD OF THE CHARTER 

TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN, INGHAM COUNTY, MICHIGAN, That the members of the Meridian 

Township Board encourage everyone to take a stance against discrimination and reject violence 

toward LGBTQ+ individuals; to promote self-affirmation, dignity, and equality; and to continue to 

work toward building a community that promotes diversity, liberty, and justice for all. 

RESOLVED, That copies of this resolution be transmitted to the Governor, the Michigan 

Attorney General, and the Director of the Michigan Department of Civil Rights. 

ADOPTED: 

YEAS: ____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

NAYS:   ____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Resolution declared 

STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
)SS: 

COUTNY OF INGHAM ) 



I, the undersigned, the duly qualified and activng clerk of the Tpownship Board of the 

Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham County, Michigan, DO HEREBY CERTIFY tht the foregoing is 

a true and complete copy of a resolution adopted at a regular meeting of the Township Board on 

the 7th day of June 2022. 

_____________________________________ 
Deborah Guthrie 
Meridian Township Clerk 



 

 

12. J 

To:            Board Members 

From:              Trustee Scott Hendrickson, Trustee Courtney Wisinski and Treasurer Phil 

Deschaine 

 

Date:            May 31, 2022 

Re:        Calling the Michigan Legislature to Action on Gun Violence Prevention Legislation 
 

 

In light of the ongoing and egregious level of gun violence in our state and country, punctuated 

most recently in Michigan by the Oxford High School shooting, our state can and must do better. To 

date, the Michigan Legislature has taken up no meaningful legislation to impose any common 

sense changes to our current state statute in response to this crisis. Trustee Hendrickson, along 

with Trustee Wisinski and Treasurer Phil Deschaine, believe that it is incumbent upon leaders in 

our communities to stand up and demand action from the legislature on this violence in our state. 

This resolution urges the State Legislature and Congress to take up bills that would enact universal 

background checks, red flag laws, and safe storage legislation, and to renew the ban on assault 

weapons immediately and send for signature.  

Nothing can bring back those that we have already lost to unspeakable acts of gun violence, 

however we can make governance-based changes now that will help to prevent gun violence in 

our state for the years to come. The laws being urged by this resolution are a start, and would 
move Michigan in the right direction to make it less likely that these acts of violence will occur 

again. 

It is incumbent on leaders at every level to stand up and demand change to prevent the further 

senseless loss of life. We urge the Board to approve this resolution. 

The following Motion is offered for our consideration: 

MOVE TO APPROVE THE ATTACHED RESOLUTION CALLING THE MICHIGAN 

LEGISLATURE TO ACTION ON GUN VIOLENCE PREVENTION LEGISLATION. 

Attachment: 
1. Resolution to Call for Legislative Action on Gun Violence 
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RESOLUTION TO APPROVE Calling the Michigan Legislature to Action on Gun Violence 
Prevention Legislation 

 
 
 RESOLUTION 
 
 At a regular meeting of the Township Board of the Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham 

County, Michigan, held at the Meridian Municipal Building, in said Township on the 7th day of June, 

2022, at 6:00 p.m. local time. 

PRESENT: ___________________________________________________________ 

ABSENT: ___________________________________________________________ 

  

The following Resolution was offered by _________ and supported by _____________. 

 

 WHEREAS, the tragedy in Uvalde directly led to the deaths of 19 children and 2 adults; and 

WHEREAS, that shooting is the 27th school shooting this year with injuries and deaths and 

is the 288th school shooting in the United States; and  

WHEREAS, the rest of the world combined accounts for a total of 45 for all time; and 

WHEREAS, the United States has been victim to 212 mass shootings this year, which is 

more than 10 mass shootings each week; and  

WHEREAS, mass shootings in the United States have risen dramatically over the last three 

years, with 417 mass shootings in 2019, 611 mass shootings in 2020 and 693 mass shootings in 

2021; and 

WHEREAS, the Meridian Township Board of Trustees voted to establish the first Friday of 

June each year as National Gun Violence Awareness Day in 2020; and 

WHEREAS, the Township Board encouraged and continues to encourage all citizens to 

support their local community’s efforts to prevent the tragic effects of gun violence and to honor 

and value human lives; and 

WHEREAS, there is more that our legislature and Congress can and should do to curtail 

gun violence in our communities and schools through small, yet sensible, restrictions; 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Township Board of the Charter Township of 

Meridian, Ingham County, Michigan, that the Township Board condemns acts of gun violence in 

our community and throughout our state; and, 
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FURTHER RESOLVE, that it is the sense of the Township Board that the State Legislature 
and Congress must do more to protect our residents and students by passing common sense gun 

control reforms to prevent the next acts of gun violence, including preventing acts of gun violence 

in our schools; and, 

FURTHER RESOLVE, that the Township Board urges the State Legislature and Congress to 

enact universal background checks legislation, red flag legislation, renew the ban on assault 

weapons and enact safe storage laws immediately; and,  

FURTHER RESOLVE, that the Township Clerk transmit copies of this resolution to 

Meridian Township’s state and federal legislative delegation, and the Governor of the State of 

Michigan. 

 

ADOPTED:  
YEAS:   ___________________________________________________________________________________________ 
   ___________________________________________________________________________________________ 
NAYS:  ____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
STATE OF MICHIGAN) 
               )  ss: 
COUNTY OF INGHAM) 
 
I, the undersigned, the duly qualified and acting Clerk for the Charter Township of Meridian, 
Ingham County, Michigan, do hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and complete copy of a 
resolution adopted at a regular meeting of the Township Board on the 7th day of June 2022. 
 
 
       ________________________________ 
       Deborah Guthrie 
       Meridian Township Clerk 
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12.K 

To:  Board Members 
 
From:  Timothy R. Schmitt, AICP 

Director of Community Planning and Development 
 
Date:  June 2, 2022 
 
Re: Mixed Use Planned Unit Development 22-014 – Haslett Village Square – 
 Set Public Hearing 
 
The Planning Commission and Staff have been reviewing the proposed redevelopment project for 
1621 and 1655 Haslett Road, commonly known as the Haslett Village Square project. The Planning 
Commission recommended approval of the proposed project at their May 23, 2022 meeting, after 
extensive discussion at both May meetings.  
 
The proposed development would include the demolition of the majority of buildings on the current 
site, with only the 10,500 square foot building that currently houses Solid Rock Baptist Church 
remaining after redevelopment. The project is proposed to include the construction of 290 
residential units and 21,750 square feet of non-residential space in 20 new buildings and the one 
remaining building, which will be retrofitted for a community hub and retail/restaurant space. 
There are amenities throughout the project, meeting the intent and requirements of the Mixed Use 
Planned Unit Development ordinance. Most notably, the applicant is proposing a trailhead for the 
Lake Lansing to MSU trail on the site, which would be dedicated to the Township after construction.  
 
Given the schedule of upcoming Township Board meetings and length of public hearing requirement 
for a project of this nature, Staff is recommending setting the public hearing at this time, for the July 
12, 2022 Township Board meeting. We will then bring this project back at the June 21st meeting, 
with a full project analysis, for more detailed discussion with the Township Board, in advance of the 
public hearing. This will still give the applicant time to respond to any Board member concerns prior 
to the public hearing.  
 
Staff has provided the following recommended motion to set the public hearing and continue to move 
the project forward.   
 

Move to set the public hearing for MUPUD  22-014, 1621 and 1655 Haslett Road, 
Haslett Village Square, for the July 12, 2022 Township Board meeting.  

 
Attachments 
1. Application information from May, 23, 2022 Planning Commission meeting 
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12. L

To: Board Members 

From: Michael R. Hamel, Fire Chief 

Date: June 3, 2022 

Re: EMT and Paramedic Sponsorship 

The state of Michigan has a critical paramedic shortage that is getting worse by the day. The number 
of students in school for paramedic training does not support the current and future needs of 
EMS/prehospital medical care. This shortage has created operational issues not only for fire-based 
EMS but private ambulance companies as well. To attract and retain firefighter/paramedics and 
remain competitive as other agencies face the same hiring obstacles, we must think creatively about 
our recruitment and retention methods with one option being to sponsor firefighters to EMT and 
paramedic training. 

I met Brandon Curling while he was working at Olive Garden. I was thoroughly impressed with his 
demeanor and outstanding customer service. Brandon told me that he was recently discharged 
(honorably) from the Air Force where he worked as an Airman First Class and a firefighter for the 
Department of Defense. He expressed a strong interest in the medical field, so we began discussing 
his career goals and whether he would be a good fit with Meridian Township. Brandon has taken the 
agility test and completed our interview process. 

My request this evening is to obtain your support to approve Brandon to attend EMT school at 
Lansing Community College from June-August 2022 and paramedic training from September 2022-
March 2024. The total cost for Brandon to attend EMT and paramedic training is $25,262. This 
year’s training budget and part-time salary account covers the $8,602 cost, and we are 
respectfully requesting appropriation for the remaining $16,660 over the next two budget years. 

The following motion is proposed for Board consideration: 

MOVE TO APPROVE MERIDIAN TOWNSHIP FIRE DEPARTMENT TO SEND 
BRANDON CURLING TO EMT AND PARAMEDIC TRANING BY UTILIZING $8,602 OF 
THE CURRENT BUDGET AND APPROPRIATING $16,660 OVER THE NEXT TWO 
BUDGET YEARS. 
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13.A 
 

To:  Township Board  
 
From:  Timothy R. Schmitt, AICP 
  Community Planning and Development Director 
 
Date:  June 1, 2022 
 
Re: Text Amendment 2022-10 – Decks in Planned Unit Developments 
 
Text Amendment 2022-10 is an ordinance update initiated by the Planning Staff to amend the 
standards or review for Planned Unit Developments. Specifically, language would be added to allow 
minor changes to decks that would not require a formal public hearing and amendment to the 
overarching PUD for the neighborhood. This will resolve a very specific, yet vexing problem that 
faces certain owners in specific neighborhoods.  
 
Staff has had many instances of property owners located within a PUD wanting to construct a deck 
only to find out that in order to do so they must amend the entire PUD. This is due to the fact that 
early PUDs were approved with the buildable envelope being the outline of the structure, which did 
not include a specific allowance for deck area. Any addition to the buildable envelope under the 
current ordinance requires an amendment to the PUD, due to the change reducing the amount of 
open space within the overall development. PUD. This proposed ordinance would make small deck 
expansions an exception to this standard.  
 
The Planning Commission held a public hearing on the concept at their May 9th meeting and sought 
a few minor clarifications. At the May 23rd Planning Commission meeting, the requested information 
was provided and the Commission voted unanimously to recommend approval of the ordinance. 
Staff memorandums outlining the analysis behind the Planning Commission’s review and minutes 
from their meetings when they discussed the matter are attached for the Board’s review. 
 
Township Board Options 
The Township Board may approve or deny the proposed text amendment. If the Board amends the 
proposal, the request may be referred back to the Planning Commission for further analysis and 
recommendation.  A resolution will be provided at a future meeting. 
 
Attachments 
1. Clean version of Ordinance 2022-10 – PUD Decks 
2. Redlined version of Ordinance 2022-10 – PUD Decks 
3. Planning Commission resolution recommending approval to the Township Board 
4. Staff memorandums dated May 4th and May 19th  
5. Planning Commission minutes dated May 9, 2022 and May 23, 2022 

 



1 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2022-10 1 
 2 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND SECTION 86-439, PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT, OF THE CHARTER 3 
TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN ZONING CODE TO UPDATE THE STANDARDS THEREIN 4 

 5 
THE CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN ORDAINS: 6 
 7 
Section 1. Section 86-439, Planned Unit Development, is hereby amended at subsection (h) to 8 

read as follows:  9 
 10 
(h) Amendments. 11 

(1) [UNCHANGED] 12 
(2) Major amendments. A major amendment shall be evidenced by having a significant impact 13 
on the permit and the conditions of its approval, which shall include, but not be limited to: 14 

a. Building additions located outside a building envelope as shown on the approved 15 
planned unit development site plan, except decks not to exceed 10% of the square 16 
footage of the principal structure. 17 
b. For approved planned unit developments without building envelopes, any addition 18 
that reduces the setback between buildings to a dimension less than the standard 19 
imposed in the approved planned unit development site plan. 20 
c. The addition of land to the planned unit development for the purpose of increasing 21 
the number of residential units. 22 
d. The addition or expansion of a nonresidential use in the planned unit development. 23 
e. Expansion of a use that anticipates a 10% or greater increase in required off-street 24 
parking. 25 
f. Any addition to a legal nonconforming site. 26 

(3) [UNCHANGED] 27 
(4) [UNCHANGED] 28 
(5) [UNCHANGED] 29 
 30 

Section 2. Validity and Severability.  The provisions of this Ordinance are severable and the 31 
invalidity of any phrase, clause or part of this Ordinance shall not affect the validity 32 
or effectiveness of the remainder of the Ordinance. 33 

 34 
Section 3.  Repealer Clause.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict therewith are 35 

hereby repealed only to the extent necessary to give this Ordinance full force and 36 
effect. 37 

 38 
Section 4.  Savings Clause.  This Ordinance does not affect rights and duties matured, penalties 39 

that were incurred, and proceedings that were begun, before its effective date. 40 
 41 
Section 5.  Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall be effective seven (7) days after its publication 42 

or upon such later date as may be required under Section 402 of the Michigan Zoning 43 
Enabling Act (MCL 125.3402) after filing of a notice of intent to file a petition for a 44 
referendum. 45 

 46 
ADOPTED by the Charter Township of Meridian Board at its regular meeting this XXth day of 47 
XXXXXXX, 2022.  48 
 49 
 50 



2 
 

______________________________ 1 
Patrician Herring Jackson, Township Supervisor 2 

 3 
 4 

______________________________ 5 
Deborah Guthrie, Township Clerk 6 
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RESOLUTION TO RECOMMEND APPROVAL              Zoning Amendment #2022-10 
PUD Deck Encroachments  

  
RESOLUTION 

 
At the regular meeting of the Planning Commission of the Charter Township of Meridian, 

Ingham County, Michigan, held at the Meridian Municipal Building, in said Township on the 23rd 
day of May, 2022 at 7:00 p.m., Local Time. 
 
PRESENT: ___________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
ABSENT: ___________________________________________________________________________________________________   

 
 The following resolution was offered by _________________ and supported by ___________________. 
 

WHEREAS, Section 86-439 of the current zoning ordinance requires decks to be built inside 
of the established buildable envelope and not encroach into the approved PUD open space; and  

 
WHEREAS, Staff has received requests in the past of homeowners wanting to construct a 

deck only to find out that in order to do so they must amend the entire PUD in order to reduce the 
amount of open space in the overall PUD and increase the individual building envelope for their 
unti; and 
 

WHEREAS, after analyzing the situation, Staff is recommending allowing a deck to encroach 
into the open space that is 10% of the total square footage of the house, to provide some flexibility 
for homeowners in this very specific circumstance.  
 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CHARTER 
TOWNSHIP OF MERIDIAN hereby recommends approval of Zoning Amendment #2022-10, to 
update the PUD deck encroachments permitted throughout the Township.  
 
ADOPTED: YEAS: ________________________________________________________________________________  
 
  NAYS: ________________________________________________________________________________                           
 
STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
    ) ss 
COUNTY OF INGHAM ) 
 

I, the undersigned, the duly qualified and acting Chair of the Planning Commission of the 
Charter Township of Meridian, Ingham County, Michigan, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is 
a true and complete copy of a resolution adopted at a regular meeting of the Planning Commission 
on the 23rd day of May, 2022. 
 
 

       _____________________________  
       Mark Blumer 
       Planning Commission Chair 



 

 
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

To:  Members of the Planning Commission 
 
From:  Keith Chapman 

Assistant Planner 
 
Date:  May 4, 2022 
 
Re: Text Amendment 2022-10 – PUD Deck Encroachments  
 
Over the past few decades staff has had many instances of property owners located within a Planned 
Unit Development (PUD) wanting to construct a deck only to find out that in order to do so they 
must amend the entire PUD. Our earlier PUDs were approved with the buildable envelope being the 
outline of the structure. This requires any addition to the structure because it is outside of the 
buildable envelope, to amend the PUD for reducing the amount of open space within the overall PUD. 
Modern PUD’s require a larger buildable envelope where there is additional room for building 
additions to be added without needing to amend the PUD.  
 
After review, Staff determined that if we allow a deck that is 10% of the total square footage of the 
house to encroach into the open space then it should eliminate most of our PUD amendment 
requests and substantially reduce the process burden on the homeowner.  
 
The Planning Commission did not raise any concerns with this proposed amendment in their 
previous discussion during the April 11, 2022 meeting. Staff is able to recommend approval of the 
proposed amendment at this time.  
 
After the public hearing on this matter, the Planning Commission will be asked to make a 
recommendation to the Township Board on the proposed ordinance. The Township Board will take 
final action on the ordinance after this recommendation is received. A recommendation to 
recommend approval is attached to this memo. 
 
Attachments 
1. Redlined version of Ordinance 2022-10 –PUD Deck Encroachment 
2. Resolution to recommend approval 
 



 

 
Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 
 

To:  Members of the Planning Commission 
 
From:  Keith Chapman 

Assistant Planner 
 
Date:  May 19, 2022 
 
Re: Text Amendment 2022-10 – PUD Deck Encroachments  
 
The Planning Commission held a public hearing on  Ordinance 2022-10 at their May 9th meeting. 
They raised some concern about porches and patios not being included in this request and about 
the definition of decks. Staff has never received a requests for a porch or patio that would need an 
exception under the proposed ordinance. This is a matter that is typically left up to the homeowners’ 
associations, as porches or patios do not require permits from the Township. The ordinance 
addresses the immediate issue of decks that encroach into the open space. We do agree that further 
definitions may be necessary for our ordinance and we have added this matter to our internal ‘to-
do’ list.  
 
With this said, staff is able to recommend approval of the proposed amendment at this time. A final 
version of the ordinance and resolution to recommend approval to the Township Board are attached 
for the Commission’s final review.  
 
Attachments 
1. Resolution to recommend approval of Ordinance 2022-10 
2. Clean version of Ordinance 2022-10 – PUD Deck Encroachments 
3. Redlined version of Ordinance 2022-10 – PUD Deck Encroachments 
 



Planning Commission Regular Meeting Minutes 
Page 2 

 
Commissioner McConnell noted a correction on the last line of page two, under agenda item 
7A, “Commissioner McConnell stated he would like to see all native trees planted on the 
slope.” This is two separate points. The record should reflect he would like to see native 
plant species as well as additional tress planted on the slope. 
 
VOICE VOTE:  Motion approved unanimously. 
 
6. COMMUNICATIONS-NONE 
  
7. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 

A. PUD Decks – Text Amendment 
 
Chair Blumer opened the public hearing at 7:03 pm. 
 
Director Schmitt outlined the PUD Decks text amendment for Public Hearing. 
 
Commissioner Cordill noted the third whereas in the resolution should read, “not to exceed 
10% of the total square footage of the house.” 
 
Chair Blumer asked if the word Deck is defined. 
 
Director Schmitt replied he believes it is defined under the encroachments section, but will 
confirm. 
 
Commissioner Shrewsbury noted the Ordinance amendment reads, “10% of the square 
footage of the principal structure.” While the resolution reads, “10% of the total square 
footage of the house.” She asked if these should be consistent. 
 
Director Schmitt replied the consistency makes sense. 
 
Chair Blumer stated this should come back after a few changes have been made. 

   
Chair Blumer closed the Public Hearing at 7:09 pm. 

 
8. UNFINISHED BUSINESS  
 

A. Special Use Permit #22-05-011 – 3830 & 3836 Okemos Road – Bickford House 
Expansion 
 
Director Schmitt outlined Special Use Permit #22-05-011 – 3830 & 3836 Okemos Road – 
Bickford House Expansion and explained the previous variance that had been granted on the 
parcel. 
 
Commissioner Richards stated the north parking lot is higher than the building and asked 
how that would be engineered. 
 
Applicants Engineer Greg Petru, 2116 Haslett Rd., Haslett, MI explained they plan on 
removing a lot dirt from the hill and the building will continue at the same elevation. There 
will also be a drop off for storm water retention. 

schmitt
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Planning Commission Regular Meeting Minutes -DRAFT- 
Page 5 

 
Commissioner Richards noted the plans show less than one parking lot per bedroom, and 
would like to see a comparable project to be sure planned parking will be sufficient. 
 
Commissioner Premoe noted the applicant has stated a contingency plan for parking if it’s 
not sufficient. 
 
Commissioner Richards stated he would like to see how many parking spaces could be added 
if the current number isn’t enough. 
 
Mr. Corby stated he could show how many parking spaced could be added. 
 
Commissioner McConnell stated the development is 8 minutes from the Meridian mall by 
CATA bus, and 24 minutes to MSU campus. He further stated CATA operates a shopping bus 
that circulates shopping centers. 
 
Chair Blumer asked what the drive through is for. 
 
Mr. Corby stated the one on the corner could be a pharmacy but wasn’t certain, while the 
other is planned for a coffee shop. 
 
Commissioner Snyder asked where the playground will be located. 
 
Mr. Corby replied the playground is likely to be close to building I. 
 

Vice Chair Trezise moved to approve Mixed-Use Planned Unit Development #22014. Seconded 
by Commissioner Premoe. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS: Commissioners McConnell, Premoe, Shrewsbury, Vice-Chair Trezise, 

_________Commissioner Snyder, Chair Blumer 
 

NAYS: Commissioner Richards 
 
Motion carried: 6-1 

 
B. Text Amendment 2022-10 – PUD Decks 

 
Director Schmitt outlined Text Amendment 2022 -10 –PUD Decks for discussion. 
 

Commissioner Trezise moved to approve Text Amendment 2022-10 – PUD Decks. Seconded 
by Commissioner Snyder. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: YEAS: Commissioners Richards, Shrewsbury, Premoe, McConnell, Snyder, 

_________Vice-Chair Trezise, Chair Blumer 
 

NAYS: Commissioner  
 
Motion carried: 7-0 

 
 

9. OTHER BUSINESS - NONE 

schmitt
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Providing a safe and welcoming, sustainable, prime community. 

To: Board Members 

From: Frank L. Walsh, Township Manager 

Date: June 7, 2022 

Re: Fire Recruitment & Retention Program 

As you are aware, Michigan, and the rest of the country are struggling to retain and foster new 
paramedic candidates. Similarly to the issues we face in law enforcement, the vast number of 
paramedic openings across the state necessitate creative energy to retain and recruit talent. We have 
an extremely heroic and talented group of 34 firefighter-paramedics.  There are many communities 
that would welcome the opportunity to snag our talent away from Meridian Township. To that end, 
I’m proposing that we modify the existing fire department pay scale, in much the same fashion as the 
Board acted with the police department.    

The proposal before you is to eliminate the first level of the current wage scale included in the current 
contract. Thus, the new starting salary would increase from $44,209.33 to $48,579.83.  If approved, 
the starting annual firefighter salary would increase by $4,370.50. In addition, this plan aims to retain 
our current firefighters.  For those 10 firefighters with four years or less seniority, they will see their 
annual pay jump one level. Hence, if I’m at level two on the scale, I would jump to level three.  It would 
take effect with the payroll starting June 18, 2022 and be reflected in the paycheck dated July 1, 2022. 
Firefighters with five years or more retain the additional 1.5% into their 2023 base compounded.   
The estimated cost to put this program in place will be $55,000.00. 

Importantly, this proposal carefully, and as much as possible, aligns the firefighter and law 
enforcement wage structure.   

Yearly Base 
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 

2% 2% 2% 2% plus 
1.5% 2% 2% 

Senior Firefighter $62,111.88 $63,354.12 $64,621.20 $66,902.32 $68,240.37 $69,605.17 
Firefighter- 3 years $54,308.88 $55,395.06 $56,502.96 $58,497.52 $59,667.47 $60,860.82 
Firefighter- 2 years $49,314.96 $50,301.26 $51,307.28 $53,118.43 $54,180.80 $55,264.42 
Firefighter- 1 year $45,101.34 $46,003.37 $46,923.43 $48,579.83 $49,551.43 $50,542.46 
Firefighter- Beginning $41,043.78 $41,864.66 $42,701.95 $44,209.33 $45,093.52 $45,995.39 

Attachment: 
1. Memorandum of Understanding between IAFF and the Township December 22, 2021

13. B
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